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B 51 &

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (¥ EIB* 8175k & E All 5 =)

2004 20051 2006 2007 0 2008
Expressed in RMB millions NAREBEELHE —ZTMFE —TTRF —FTRF —TTLF ZBENF
Restated Restated Restated Restated
BEi BE BEi BE
Year Ended 31 December BZ+-A=+—-HLEE
Revenues X 21,328 27,380 37,557 42,534 41,073
Other operating income Hitn e
and gains REA S = 85 245 424 488 672
Operating expenses EELH (20,117)  (27,562)  (40,695)  (42,894)  (56,828)
Operating profit/(loss) s/ (1) 1,296 63 (2,714) 128 (15,083)
Finance income/(cost), net WA/ () (641) (578) (757) 162 (267)
Profit/(loss) before income tax B ESATFIE,/ (E518) 650 (528) (3,338) 378 (15,256)
Profit/(loss) for the year ARAIEEREA
attributable to equity EIEFE
holders of the Company wmr,/ (&) 385 (418) (3,035) 379  (15,269)
Earning/(loss) per share AREERFAA
attributable to EEEk
equity holders of &7,/ (&1)
the Company (RMB)? (AR#T)O 0.08 (0.09) (0.62) 0.08 (3.14)
At 31 December BW+=BA=+-H
Cash and cash equivalents RekAeEEY 2,114 1,864 1,087 1,655 3,451
Net current liabilities FRBRE (12,472)  (25,548)  (24,588)  (26,098)  (43,458)
Non-current assets ERBDEE 35,918 52,106 51,725 57,949 62,652
Long term borrowings, REEN
including current portion BEREEHMN (10,736)  (12,659)  (14,932)  (14,675)  (15,628)
Obligations under finance leases, BMAMEAE
including current portion BERBH M (8,662)  (10,588)  (11,949)  (16,452)  (20,809)
Total share capital and reserves 8RR AN Iz (& 5,897 5,561 2,534 2,361 (13,097)
0 The figures for the years ended 31 December 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 O HEZDZTNF  ZTTRHF - ZTTRER
have been restated as a result of the changes of accounting policy. Please ZETEFT A=+t HHEEBERSRBE
refer to Note 2(b) of the Financial Statements for more details. MEFE DRSS - B RMERERTE2D)

@ The calculation of earning/(loss) per share is based on the consolidated profit/

(loss) attributable to shareholders and 4,866,950,000 shares in issue.

@ FESEF, (BB RREBEEEENORREGEE
A Al (E518) BrIA B 217 #4,866,950,000
PeEtE -
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Summary of Accounting and Business Data | @:t2i15 ERE K EEHE

(Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Regulations) (#H0Z A R MEI S5 ERHE %)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008 BE-—ZEENF+ZA=1+—HLHF

EFH
RMB million
AREBETT
Net Loss FEE (13,928)
Income from Main Operations FEEBFE (2,245)
Income from Other Operations H A 755 1,011
Income from Investments ®E W= 106
Net Income outside Business EEINK T FRE 861
MAJOR ACCOUNTING DATA & FINANCIAL INDICATORS FTESTHENUBES
(Expressed in RMB Million) (ANREBET)
2007 2008
ZETLF —EENF
Restated
(i E31)
(Note 1)
(PiFaE1)
1. Operation Revenue E PN 43,541.23 41,842.36
2. Net (Loss)/Profit F (BB /58 603.96  (13,927.66)
3. Total Assets HmEE 66,504.48 73,184.01
4. Shareholders’ Equity R 3,222.89  (11,065.15)
5. (Loss)/Earnings per Share (RMB) &% (B18) s (AR T) 0.12 (2.86)
Notes: CEE
1. The major accounting data and financial indicators in 2007 are adjusted and 1. ZETHFEFZEHEENMKEREE=
represented pursuant to the same accounting policies adopted in 2008. TTENFENGHHEDISIELFAEREL -
2. Calculation of major financial indicators: 2. TEMBEZETENT
Earnings/(loss) per share = net profit/(loss)+total number of ordinary shares BRI (B18) =FF8,/ (518) - FEX
at the end of the year TR AR AR 1 4B 2K
Net assets per share = shareholders’ equity at the end of the year=total number ERFEE-FERREEZ - FEREBR

of ordinary shares at the end of the year [EhECE
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Selected Airline Operating Data 3= 22 &8 8 S5 g =

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2008 2007 Change
S BE
—BEN\F :ggti
+=H=t—H +ZA=+— SEIRE
Capacity Emaen
ATK (available tonne-kilometres) A] FHlEA B (ATK)
(millions) (85) 11,642.23 12,085.88 -3.67%
— Domestic routes —BERMAR 5,658.36 5,383.41 511%
— International routes — BIBR A AR 5,294.76 5,971.74 -11.34%
— Regional routes — bR AAR 689.10 730.73 -5.70%
ASK (available seat-kilometres) 7] FEE A E (ASK)
(millions) (55) 75,964.28 77,717.23 -2.26%
— Domestic routes —BERMAR 47,588.37 46,166.30 3.08%
— International routes — BIBR AR 23,813.57 26,476.13 -10.06%
— Regional routes — bR ATAR 4,562.34 5,074.80 -10.10%
AFTK (available freight tonne- Al A EEHBE A 2 (AFTK)
kilometres) (millions) (B&) 4,805.44 5,091.33 -5.62%
— Domestic routes —BERMAR 1,375.41 1,228.42 11.97%
— International routes — EER M AR 3,151.54 3,588.91 -12.19%
— Regional routes — i@ AAR 278.49 274.00 1.64%
Hours flown (thousands) AT/ INEF (F) 755.17 756.00 -0.11%
Traffic ERE
RTK (revenue tonne-kilometres) Y ABEA B (RTK)
(millions) (88) 7,218.99 7,713.92 -6.42%
— Domestic routes — Bl AR 3,780.27 3,777.51 0.07%
— International routes | PR fi 4% 3,056.25 3,524.95 -13.30%
— Regional routes — Hb[= A AR 382.46 411.46 -7.05%
RPK (revenue passenger- ZiB ANANE (RPK)
kilometres) (millions) (848) 53,785.27 57,182.56 -5.94%
— Domestic routes — Bl AR 35,352.44 35,491.96 -0.39%
— International routes — BB M AR 15,374.98 18,385.95 -16.38%

- Regional routes — Hb[= M AR 3,057.86 3,304.65 -7.47%
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Selected Airline Operating Data 3 22 & 78 5 g &
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2008 2007 Change
S Bn=
—BEN\F -t
+=—A=+—H +=ZA=+—~H SEIEE
RFTK (revenue freight tonne-  EE HEBE A E (RFTK)
kilometres) (millions) (B&) 2,420.14 2,614.07 -7.42%
— Domestic routes — Bl AR 621.89 608.66 2.17%
— International routes — BIRR AR 1,687.45 1,887.85 -10.62%
— Regional routes — b R AR 110.80 117.56 -5.75%
Number of passengers carried  &:& ik & A X
(thousands) (F) 37,231.48 39,161.36 -4.93%
— Domestic routes — Bl A AR 30,398.76 31,158.09 -2.44%
— International routes — BIpR AR 4,696.34 5,671.61 -17.20%
— Regional routes — i @ AR 2,136.38 2,331.66 -8.38%
Weight of freight carried (kg)  E#&E= (A T)
(millions) (BE) 889.48 940.12 -5.39%
— Domestic routes —BERMAR 463.44 464.42 -0.21%
— International routes — BB M AR 350.13 395.89 -11.56%
— Regional routes — i [ A AR 75.91 79.82 -4.90%
Load factors HER
Overall load factor (%) IREREE (%) 62.01 63.83 -1.82
— Domestic routes — B A AR 66.81 70.17 -3.36
— International routes — BIRR AR 57.72 59.03 -1.31
— Regional routes — b [R A AR 55.50 56.31 -0.81
Passenger load factor (%) BEEE (%) 70.80 73.58 -2.78
— Domestic routes — B A AR 74.29 76.88 -2.59
— International routes — BIBR AR 64.56 69.44 -4.88
— Regional routes — Hb [ A AR 67.02 65.12 1.90
Freight load factor (%) BHEHEE (%) 50.36 51.34 -0.98
— Domestic routes — B AR 45.21 49.55 -4.34
— International routes — B A AR 53.54 52.60 0.94
— Regional routes — b [R AR 39.79 42.91 -3.12
Break-even load factor (%) BETFEHEEE (%) 90.71 67.74 22.97
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders,

| am pleased to present the report on the operating results
of China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2008. On behalf of all the
staff of the Group, | would like to extend my sincere thanks

to the shareholders for their support of the Group.

2008 was the year when the world economy turned from flourishing
to weakening, from rising to declining. With the increasing severity
of the global financial crisis triggered by the United States subprime
mortgage crisis, the real economy of developed countries showed
signs of massive recession which has spread rapidly to emerging
economies. This has resulted in a rapid decline in demand on the
international air transportation market which has had a greater

impact on the Group’s international business.

In 2008, the overall PRC economy maintained a steady and relatively
rapid growth momentum. However the country experienced a series
of catastrophic natural disasters and unexpected incidents which,
coupled with the increasing impact of the global financial crisis on
the PRC economy, resulted in a rapid decline in demand on the
domestic air transportation market. However the transportation
capacity in the whole airline industry was still growing rapidly, which
led to relatively intense competition in the domestic air transportation

market. These have a greater impact on the Group’s results.

In 2008, in terms of flight take-off and landing statistics, the Group’s
flights accounted for 35.8% and 28.7% of all flights at Honggiao
Airport and Pudong Airport, respectively. The daily average utilization
rate of aircraft was 9.1 hours, representing a decrease of 0.7 hours

compared to the same period in 2007.
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Chairman’s Statement

In terms of passenger traffic, in 2008 the Group introduced the
“Shanghai-Copenhagen” long-distance international route and
several domestic routes including “Beijing-Dalian”, thus further
enhancing the Group’s route network. With the signing of the <&
IR = B & A2 ZE) (Minutes of Conference on Cross-Strait
Charter Flights) and the CBIRM FZ=E #7%) (Cross-Strait Air
Transport Agreement) between 8IS/ = BEZ 7 & (the Association
for Relations Across the Taiwan Straits) and &/ 8K mESS
(the Straits Exchange Foundation) on 13 June 2008 and 4
November 2008 respectively, the Group introduced the “Shanghai,
Nanjing, Wuhan, Kunming, Xi’an-Taipei” charter passenger routes
and the “Shanghai-Taipei” charter cargo route, which served to
facilitate cross-strait connection and exchange. The number of
passengers using the transit service was 694.8 thousand in the
year. The “58 77 & B 17 (Eastern Miles) ” frequent flyer program further
expanded, and at present the number of members of the frequent
flyer program is approximately 4.30 million. The “95808” call center
expanded the coverage of the 95808 network in 108 cities
throughout China. As at 31 December 2008, the call center had

commenced operation in 86 cities across the country.

In terms of freight transport, the Group continued to deepen the
one-stop freight transport management system in order to improve
its sale and transportation co-operation models, increase its freight

management level and improve its freight logistics network.

In terms of services, the Group introduced the activities of the “& %
PR 75 D BB 58
Services)” and the “BiEZ % « I[EH  BHERIEF (Olympic Year of
Safe, Standard and Excellent Service)” to facilitate the Beijing 2008

(Welcome the Olympic Games with Gold Medal

Olympic Games. In addition, the Group continued to launch the series
activities of “3R 75 2= 3 (L. B8 5& 2 Ik (Experience the Air Culture of
China Eastern Airlines)” and further developed the “B 7 22 B X
{L4F (Air Gourmet Culture Year of China Eastern Airlines)”, which

enhanced the brand and corporate image through value-added flight

HEREMERGERART —TT/\FFH O
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Chairman’s Statement

services for the passengers. According to the statistics published by
the Civil Aviation Administration of China, the Group leads the industry
in terms of on-time rate with a rate of 84.60% during the year. The
Group was awarded for the 4th time the “F =i B85 22 (Excellence
Award for Customers’ Satisfaction)” for the category of more than
20 million annual passenger traffic volume from the Civil Aviation
Administration of China’s “Ik%& 5% R M (Passengers’ Rating of Civil
Aviation Award)” activity. As the first partner of the World Expo 2010
Shanghai, the Group was awarded the “EEE R £ 42 (Theme
Practices Star Award)” for 2008 World Expo Star Enterprises by the
Bureau of Shanghai World Expo Coordination in 2008.

In 2008, in the face of a series of domestic catastrophic natural
disasters, the Group made every effort to engage in the rescues.
During the rescue for the “5.12” Wenchuan earthquake in Sichuan
Province, the Group deployed a total of 98 aircraft with 262 special
flights to support the rescue transportation, conveyed 11,800
personnel and casualties, provided 3,445 tonnes of relief supplies
and the Group and its staff donated a total of RMB37,078.7
thousand to the disaster victims, which represented the Group’s

sense of social responsibility and the staff’s valuable dedication.

In respect of technological innovation, the Group has developed,
introduced and adopted a series of advanced technology in 2008,
such as the RNP Precision Navigation, the Extended-range Twin-
engine Operational Performance Standards (ETOPS), the Automatic
Dependent Surveillance — Broadcast (ADS-B) and the Controller
Pilot Data Link Communications (CPDLC). The application of these
new technologies represent the Group’s ability of aggressive
innovation and its core competitiveness. (For details, please refer

to the Company’s 2008 Social Responsibility Report.)

EERWMEE
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Chairman’s Statement

In respect of environmental protection, the Group strived to minimize
pollution through stringent control of and reduction in fuel
consumption and implemented direct operating cost control and
management policies to reduce the fuel consumption per hour.
The policies mainly included the implementation of Cost Index (Cl)
operation, fuel-saving flight control, management of Auxiliary Power
Unit (APU) and promotion of Ground Power Unit (GPU), aircraft
weight-reduction, change of operation mode of loading-balance,
optimization of routes so as to fuel saving. (For details, please refer

to the Company’s 2008 Social Responsibility Report.)

Outlook for 2009

The Group would like to caution readers of this report that the
operations of the Company as an air transport enterprise which
performs public service functions, is linked closely to the
development of the political and economic situations, both
internationally and locally. As such, the operation of the Group and
of the whole sector is, to a substantial extent, subject to the risks
associated with geopoalitics and the incidence of unexpected events.
The 2008 annual results announcement of the Group includes (but
is not limited to) certain forward-looking statements, such as those
on the economies of the world including the PRC, and the aviation
market. Such forward-looking statements are subject to many

uncertainties and risks.

In the Group’s opinion, the global economy is currently facing its
worst period from the onset of the financial crisis. The international
financial crisis has not yet bottomed out and there are still significant
uncertainties in the global economic environment. The results of
rescue plans taken up by the western countries remain uncertain.
The Chinese economy is forecasted to achieve its growth target of
8%, but it is still facing great challenges. In 2009, the international
air transportation market is still difficult with insufficient demand.
The Group is of the view that there will be a negative growth in

demand in the international air transportation market in 2009. The

FEREMERGERAT —TT\FEEH 11
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Chairman’s Statement

domestic air transportation market might resume its growth, but
the transportation capacity is still far beyond its need. The impact
and challenge to Shanghai and its peripheral regions by the financial
crisis are obvious. However, as the World Expo 2010 Shanghai is
drawing near, this creates new opportunities for the Group. In 2009,
the Group’s operating target is to achieve the total traffic volume of
8,170 million tonne-kilometers, passenger traffic volume of 42.80
million, cargo and mail traffic volume of 950 thousand tonnes,

passenger load factor of 73% and freight load factor of 62.3%.

In view of the current operating environment and the Group’s

position, the Group will focus on the following aspects in 2009:

1. Implement five major strategies such as hub networking,
brand management, informatization, alliance cooperation

and sophisticated management:

The Company will establish Shanghai complex hub, Xi’an and
Kunming regional hubs, centralise the resources such as routes
and capacity to the hub markets, increase the market share
of the hub markets and key markets and form a control over
the market; benchmark with world-renowned airlines, refine
the service concept, and create its service brand name;
formulate and improve the IT infrastructure, expedite the
establishment of various IT systems; recruit the Chief
Information Officer from around the world and upgrade
management through technical upgrade; strengthen and
deepen the strategic and business cooperation with other
enterprises comprehensively, introduce strategic investors
when appropriate, expedite the joining of airlines alliance, and
promote organizational and work flow reconstruction, fully
realize the sophisticated management in terms of production,

operation and safety.
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Chairman’s Statement

Cost-effectiveness measures:

The Company will strictly control its transportation capacity
growth and optimize its fleet structure while implementing a
thorough reduction in investments, labor costs and other costs
and expenses, streamline the fixed assets and utilize those
non-performing assets, optimize market and enhance marginal

contribution.

Strengthen market control and marketing capability:

The Company will strengthen its market research and enhance
its market anticipation capability; optimize its transportation
capacity, focus on key routes and profitable routes; promote
the route revenue management system and improve the
accuracy of its marketing strategies; strengthen the
establishment of information system and electronic commerce
platform; spare great efforts to develop the marketing of major
customers and frequent travelers; take the opportunity of World

Expo to boost sales.

Stringent control over capital expenditure:

Given the adverse external environment and internal resources
available, the Company will strictly manage its capital

expenditure and reduce some of its equity investments.

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”),

HEREMERGERAR —TT/\FFH 13
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| would like to express my gratitude to all of the shareholders.

Liu Shaoyong

Chairman

Shanghai, the PRC
15 April 2009
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Review of Operations and Management’s Discussion and Analysis £ [IEE & BB BRI AT

In 2008, the Group operated approximately 6,090 scheduled flights
per week, serving a total of 21 countries including 134 domestic
and foreign cities, as well as 423 passenger routes and 16 cargo
routes. The passenger routes included 332 domestic routes, 75
international routes and 16 Hong Kong and Macao routes, while
the cargo routes included one domestic route, 14 international
routes and one Hong Kong and Macao route. In addition, the Group
also operated five passenger routes and one cargo route in its
frequent charter flights between mainland China and Taiwan. In
2008, the Group added a total of 19 aircraft to its fleet, including
the purchase of one A320 aircraft and the finance lease of seven
A320 aircraft, five A321 aircraft, one A330-200 aircraft, three A330-
300 aircraft, one B737-700 aircraft and one B737-800 aircraft and
surrendered the lease of two aircraft, including one B737-300
aircraft and one B747F aircraft. As at 31 December 2008, the Group
operated a fleet of 240 aircraft, including 214 passenger jets each

with a seating capacity of over 100 seats and 11 jet freighters.
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The following table sets forth details of our operating fleet as of 31 TRIHTEE_TEN\F+_A=1+—
December 2008: BARSE#ERNFAEER -
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REVIEW OF OPERATING RESULTS

The following discussion and analysis should be read together with
our audited financial statements and the accompanying notes
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) that are included elsewhere in this annual report.
The financial data presented in this section are derived from our
audited financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Operational Revenues

Our revenues decreased by 3.43% from RMB42,534 million in 2007
to RMB41,073 million in 2008 (net of the applicable PRC business
tax). Compared to the same period in 2007, the Group’s total traffic
volume decreased by 6.42% to 7,219 million tonne-kilometers
in 2008. Traffic revenues decreased by RMB1,819 million to
RMB38,844 million, representing a 4.47% decrease compared to
the same period in 2007. The decrease was mainly due to the
decline in demand for global air transportation due to the financial
crisis in 2008, and a series of natural disasters and unexpected
incidents, which weakened the demand for domestic travel and
transportation and reduced the incentive for foreign travellers to
visit China.

The Group’s passenger revenues amounted to RMB33,486 million
in 2008, representing a decrease of 4.81% over the same period in
2007, and accounting for 86.21% of the Group’s total traffic
revenues in 2008. The volume of passenger traffic was 53,785
million passenger-kilometers, representing a 5.94% decrease
compared to the same period in 2007.

The Group’s domestic passenger traffic volume (excluding
passenger traffic volume in Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan routes)
was 35,352 million passenger-kilometers, representing a 0.39%
decrease compared to the same period in 2007. Compared to the
same period in 2007, revenues decreased by 1.70% to
RMB21,389 million, accounting for 63.87% of the Group’s
passenger revenues. The decrease was mainly due to a series of
catastrophic natural disasters and unexpected incidents, coupled
with the increasing impact of the global financial crisis on the PRC
economy, which resulted in a rapid decline in demand on the
domestic air transportation market. However, because the 2008
Olympic Games and other large-scale events were held in China,
the number of passengers carried did not decrease significantly
and the passenger-kilometers yield on domestic routes remained
the same as last year. The Group’s domestic passenger traffic
capacity increased by 3.08% compared to the same period in 2007.

ES3 o)

BB P atam B0 W i ag 2 E AN F A €
TR B R B & 5 R R e~ A
BERAHTERERTIE - XEFHHEH
&7 B A5 B 12 BR BB & a1 E Bl s R
B~ EERIEIRE -

LEWA

REENKRAB-_ZETLEFHARK
425 BABTUBLPE_STZENFHARK
410.73187C * WD T73.43% - ZFWAE
HMBREER - —TZ)\F » AEBETHR
BAEET2A9EBMAE L —TTLFR
HPRL6.42% 5 BRI AE AK388.44
B ZZTETLFRBBDTARK
18191870 * B 4.47% » WA EEZRERE
BT )\ ForAaREREIMTER
ERTB  UREEREMNBERLEMZE

BEMZENTERNREFER T KT E
MBI AR EFEA) TBE o

—ETEN\F  REWRABARK334.8618
T Lk ZEFEFREBRL T4.81% - 1h
AEB ST N\FEEHERARHEN
86.21% : BiEE AS37.85FBFANE « it
—ETLFRERA5.94% ©

lmﬁi BB AME) KiBE A353.52

N ﬁ_ggtiﬂﬂm >0.39%
WA%AE%Z&%%% TR LF
EIHAR A1.70% » (hEEARIBS.87% ©
BAONEEZERAREANZENR TEAR
RKEMEEEN  ARZIREREKE
$ KOEMEETE IR  EHEAMZE
BEMERREFARTE  BEAEZT
=\ P B 2R B8 03 i E K ARVE B i {5
SEREAHTRITEE  TEALEK
mthiFY - 2FBRANRER NI _TT+
FRIHIER 73.08% °



Review of Operations and Management's Discussion‘and Analysis | = %[o|gE k518 [E

The passenger traffic volume on the Group’s regional routes (Hong
Kong, Macao and Taiwan routes) was 3,058 million passenger-
kilometers, representing a 7.47% decrease compared to the same
period in 2007. Compared to the same period in 2007, revenues
decreased by 8.36% to RMB1,963 million, accounting for 5.86%
of the Group’s passenger revenues. The decrease was mainly due
to intensified competition and reduced capacity which led to a
decrease in revenue per passenger-kilometer on the Hong Kong
routes, which accounted for the largest proportion among the
regional routes. The passenger traffic capacity on the Group’s
regional routes decreased by 10.10% compared to the same period
in 2007.

The Group’s international passenger traffic volume was 15,375
million passenger-kilometers, representing a 16.38% decrease
compared to the same period in 2007. Compared to the same
period in 2007, revenues decreased by 10.15% to RMB10,134
million, accounting for 30.26% of the Group’s passenger revenues.
The decrease was mainly due to the decline in demand as a result
of the global financial crisis, as a result of which the Group had to
reduce the number of flights on long-distance routes to Europe
and USA as well as the Korean routes, and the decrease in revenue
as a result of fluctuations of exchange rates. The passenger traffic
capacity on international routes decreased by 10.06% compared
to the same period in 2007.

The Group’s cargo and mail traffic volume was 2,420 million tonne-
kilometers, representing a 7.42% decrease compared to the same
period in 2007. Compared to the same period in 2007, the cargo
and mail traffic revenues decreased by 2.32% to RMB5,358 million,
accounting for 13.80% of the Group’s total traffic revenues in 2008.
The signing of the Air Rights Agreement between China and the
United States and the Trade in Services Agreement between China
and six ASEAN countries in July 2007 removed the restrictions on
China’s entry into foreign freight markets, which boosted the growth
in revenues in the first half of the year. However, the import and
export trading demand was largely inhibited due to the global
financial crisis in the second half of the year, leading to a decline in
traffic volume on principle routes, such as the United States and
Europe routes, where the traffic volume decreased by 20% and

11%, respectively, compared to the same period in 2007.
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Operating expenses

Compared to the same period in 2007, the Group’s total operating
costs increased by 32.49% to RMB56,828 million.

Expenditure on aviation fuel was RMB18,488 million, representing
an increase of 22.30% compared to the same period in 2007. This
was mainly due to a substantial increase in average price of aviation
fuel compared to the same period in 2007. However, the Group
utilized more fuel efficient A330 and A321 aircraft and reduced the
flying hours of A340 and other aircraft which required higher fuel
consumption, contributing to the overall decrease in aviation fuel
consumption. The Group’s total aviation fuel consumption in 2008
was approximately 2.41 million tonnes, representing a decrease of
5.49% compared to the same period in 2007. In 2008, the
expenditure on aviation fuel accounted for 32.53% of the Group’s

total operating costs.

Changes in financial derivatives fair value through profit or loss
resulted in a loss of RMB6,401 million, compared to an income of
RMB84 million during the same period in 2007. The difference was
mainly due to sharp fluctuations in international oil prices in 2008,
which plunged rapidly after their historical high in July. In 2008, the
fair value movements of financial derivatives charged to the income
statement accounted for 11.26% of the Group’s total operating
costs, please refer to note 8 of the Financial Statements for more

details.

Takeoff and landing charges were RMB5,280 million, representing
an increase of 2.04% compared to the same period in 2007, mainly
attributable to the increased number of the flights of the aircraft
with higher take-off and landing charges in 2008. Furthermore, the
CRMMBIE W & 2 S B A 22 (RMEE[2007]1595%) (Civil Aviation
Airport Charges Reform Implementation Plan (Min Hang Fa [2007]
No. 159)) issued by the Civil Aviation Administration of China and

the PRC National Development and Reform Commission in 28
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December 2007 came into effect on 1 March 2008. Despite reduced
charges on international routes according to the policy, the
passenger service fee level was substantially increased, leading to
a considerable increase in the aircraft take-off and landing unit

charges.

Depreciation and amortization was RMB4,782 million, representing
an increase of 1.31% compared to the same period in 2007, mainly
due to the expansion of the scale of the Group’s operations and an

increase in the number of aircraft.

Wages, salaries and benefits expenses amounted to RMB4,545
million, representing an increase of 5.04% compared to the same
period in 2007. This was primarily due to the increase in the number
of staff from 40,477 in 2007 year end to 44,153 in 2008 year end,
as the Group continued to expand its core businesses. However,
the Group experienced a substantial decline in operating
performance in 2008 and, accordingly, the payments of staff
performance bonus were reduced compared to the same period
in 2007.

Office, administration and other operating expenses were
RMB3,924 million, representing an increase of 6.28% over the same
period in 2007, primarily due to the increase in overseas crew
expenses, office expenses, travel expenses, value added tax and
custom duty of the operating lease, maintenance expenses and
handling fees of financial institutions under the Group’s business

expansion.

Maintenance costs amounted to RMB3,273 million, representing
an increase of 36.83% over the same period in 2007. This was
mainly due to an increase in aircraft overhaul expenses, a substantial
increase in the number of engines under operating leases sent for
overhaul in 2008 compared to the same period in 2007 and an
increase in repair and maintenance provision relating to the
surrender of aircraft under operating leases which will be expired

and surrendered in 2009.
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Aircraft operating lease expenses were RMB2,735 million,
representing a decrease of 4.07% over the same period in 2007.
This was mainly due to the expiry of operating leases of certain
aircraft in 2007 and appreciation of the Renminbi against the US

dollar.

Impairment losses for assets amounted to RMB2,977 million, mainly
attributable to the Group’s impairment provision for goodwill and
certain aircraft models which are with relatively lower operation
efficiency and which management intend to retire in the near future.

Please refer to note 10 to the Financial Statements for more details.

Selling and marketing expenses were RMB1,563 million,
representing a decrease of 13.43% over the same period of 2007 .
This was mainly due to the decrease in agency business handling
fees and distribution system service fees as a result of the decrease
in the number of passengers carried as well as the decrease in
overseas distribution system fees as a result the depreciation of

the US dollar against the Renminbi.

Food and beverage expenses were RMB1,321 million, representing
an increase of 7.35% compared to the same period in 2007. This
was mainly due to an approximately 14% increase of the 2008
food price index compared to the same period in 2007, which
resulted in price increases imposed by certain catering suppliers,
and an improvement in business and first class catering standards
due to the Group’s initiatives to develop premium international routes
and brand image by formulating different catering packages for
different routes and classes. However, this expenditure was partially
offset by the decrease in the numbers of passengers caused by
the macroeconomic environment. The number of passengers
carried decreased by 4.93% from approximately 39,161.4 thousand
in 2007 to approximately 37,231.5 thousand in 2008.
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The amount of civil aviation infrastructure levies payable to the Civil
Aviation Administration of China amounted to RMB770 million,
representing a decrease of 1.51% compared to the same period in
2007, which was primarily due to a decrease in the Group’s overall
flying mileage and number of international and regional flight take-

off and landing in 2008 compared to the same period in 2007.

Other operating leases rentals amounted to RMB369 million,
representing an increase of 26.09% over the same period in 2007,
which was mainly due to the rentals of the newly leased premises
for passenger traffic and freight transport businesses at the

Shanghai Pudong Airport.

Ground services and other charges were RMB269 million,
representing an increase of 19.78% over the same period in 2007,

mainly due to the expansion of the Company’s logistics business.

Insurance premiums amounted to RMB132 million, representing a
decrease of 7.09% over the same period in 2007, mainly due to
appreciation of Renminbi against US dollars, resulting in the
decrease in the payment of insurance premium in, and reduction in

insurance premium rates.

Other Operating Income and other gains

The Group’s other operating income and other gains primarily
includes government subsidies and income from disposal of aircraft
and relevant assets. Other operating income and other gains
increased from RMB488 million in 2007 to RMB672 million in 2008,
primarily due to income derived from the disposal of aircraft and
relevant assets of RMB267 million in 2008. There is no such income
in 2007.
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Finance Costs

In 2008, the Group’s finance costs were RMB2,328 million, primarily
due to the interest expense of RMB1,945 million on loans from
banks and other financial institutions, representing an increase of
19.40% from that in 2007, and the interest expense of RMB651
million on finance lease obligations, representing a decrease of
11.07% from that in 2007. Finance revenue was RMB2,062 million.

Operating Profit/(Loss)

As aresult of the above, the Group’s loss attributable to shareholders

for the year ended 31 December 2008 was RMB15,269 million.

Liquidity and Capital Structure

As of 31 December 2007 and 2008, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents amounted to RMB1,655 million and RMB3,451 million
respectively. In 2007 and 2008, the net cash generated from the
Group’s operating activities amounted to RMB3,080 million and
RMB2,856 million respectively. In 2007 and 2008, the net cash
used in the Group’s investment activities amounted to RMB1,756
million and RMB925 million respectively. In 2007, the net cash
outflow from the Group’s financing activities was RMB1,640 million,
mainly for the repayment of long-term loans, finance leases and
short-term loans. The net cash outflow from the Group’s financing
activities in 2008 was RMB92 million, mainly from the net impact
of inflow from bank loans and repayment of bank loans, finance

lease and interests.

The Group generally operates with net current liabilities. As at 31
December 2008, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by RMB43.458 billion.
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As of 31 December 2007 and 2008, the total amount of the Group’s
short-term loans were RMB15,189 million and RMB19,474 million,
respectively, and the Group’s long-term loans were RMB14,675
million and RMB15,628 million, respectively. As of 31 December
2007, the Group’s long-term loans payable within two years, from
three to five years and beyond five years were RMB9,232 million,
RMB4,217 million and RMB1,226 million, respectively, as compared
to RMB11,187 million, RMB3,666 million and RMB775 million,

respectively, as of 31 December 2008.

The Group’s lease obligations as of 31 December 2007 and 2008
were RMB16,452 million and RMB20,809 million, respectively. As
of 31 December 2007, the Group’s lease obligations payable within
two years, from three to five years and beyond five years were
RMB4,113 million, RMB4,205 million and RMB8,134 million,
respectively, as compared to RMB3,933 million, RMB6,203 million
and RMB10,673 million, respectively, as of 31 December 2008.

The Group generally finances its purchase of aircraft through leases
and bank loans secured by its assets. As of 31 December 2008,
the total value of the Group’s mortgaged assets amounted to
RMB8,723 million, a decrease of 11.58% from RMB9,865 million
as at the end of 2007.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

We expect our capital expenditures for aircraft and related
equipment, including deposits, through 2015 to be in aggregate
approximately RMB52,534 million, including RMB8,852 million in
2009 and RMB13,174 million in 2010, in each case subject to
contractually stipulated increases or any increase relating to inflation.
Construction of our facilities at the Pudong International Airport
and the purchase of maintenance equipment and other property
and equipment will continue to require additional capital
expenditures in 2009. We plan to finance our other capital
commitments through a combination of funds generated from
operations, existing credit facilities, bank loans, leasing

arrangements and other external financing arrangements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are reflective
of significant judgments and uncertainties and potentially result in
materially different results under different assumptions and

conditions.

Our audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IFRS. Our principal accounting policies are set
forth in Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements.
IFRS requires that we adopt the accounting policies and make
estimates that our Directors believe are most appropriate in the
circumstances for the purposes of giving a true and fair view of our
results and financial position. However, different policies, estimates
and assumptions in critical areas could lead to materially different
results. The critical accounting policies adopted and estimates made
in the preparation of these financial statements are identified as

follows:
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(b)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets have been impaired in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2(n) to the financial
statements. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management and the key assumption

which are disclosed in Note 18(a).

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises passenger, cargo and mail revenues in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(f) to
the financial statements. Unused tickets are recognised in traffic
revenues based on current estimates. Management annually
evaluates the balance in the Sales in advance of carriage
account (“SIAC”) and records any adjustments, which can be

material, in the period the evaluation is completed.

These adjustments result from differences between the
estimates of certain revenue transactions and the timing of
recognising revenue for any unused air tickets and the related
sales price, and are impacted by various factors, including a
complex pricing structure and interline agreements throughout

the industry, which affect the timing of revenue recognition.
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(c)

Frequent flyer programme

The Company operates a frequent flyer programme called
“Eastern Miles” that provides travel awards to programme
members based on accumulated miles. A portion of
passengers revenue attributable to the award of frequent flyer
benefits is deferred and recognised when the miles have been
redeemed or have expired. The deferment of revenue is
estimated based on historical trends of redemptions, which is
then used to project the expected utilisation of these benefits.
Any remaining unutilised benefits are recognised as deferred

revenue.

Depreciation of components related to overhaul costs

Depreciation of components related to airframe and engine
overhaul costs are based on the Group’s historical experience
with similar airframe and engine models and taking into account
anticipated overhauls costs, timeframe between each overhaul,
ratio of actual flying hours and estimated flying hours between
overhauls. Different judgments or estimates could significantly
affect the estimated depreciation charge and materially impact

the results of operations.

Provision for costs of return condition checks for aircraft and

engines under operating leases

Provision for the estimated costs of return condition checks
for aircraft and engines under operating leases is made based
on the estimated costs for such return condition checks and
taking into account anticipated flying hours, flying cycle and
timeframe between each overhaul. These judgments or
estimates are based on historical experience on returning
similar airframe and engine models, actual costs incurred and
aircraft and engines status. Different judgments or estimates
could significantly affect the estimated provision for costs of

return condition checks.
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Retirement benefits

The Group operates and maintains defined retirement benefit
plans which provide retirees with benefits including
transportation subsidies, social activity subsidies as well as
other welfare. The cost of providing the aforementioned
benefits in the defined retirement benefit plan is actuarially
determined and recognised over the employees’ service period
by utilising various actuarial assumptions and using the
projected unit credit method in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2(w) to the financial statements. These
assumptions include, without limitation, the selection of
discount rate, annual rate of increase of per capita benefit
payment and employees’ turnover rate. The discount rate is
based on management’s review of local high quality corporate
bonds. The annual rate of increase of benefit payments is
based on the general local economic conditions. The
employees’ turnover rate is based on historical trends of the
Group. Additional information regarding the retirement benefit

plans is disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

Deferred income tax

In assessing the amount of deferred tax assets that need to
be recognised in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2(k) to the financial statements, the Group considers
future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax
planning strategies. In the event that the Group’s estimates of
projected future taxable income and benefits from available
tax strategies are changed, or changes in current tax
regulations are enacted that would impact the timing or extent
of the Group’s ability to utilise the tax benefits of net operating
loss carry forwards in the future, adjustments to the recorded
amount of net deferred tax assets and taxation expense would

be made.
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Risk Analysis

Business Continuity

The Group’s accumulated losses were approximately
RMB18.082 billion as at 31 December 2008; its current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB43.458 billion; and total liabilities exceeded total assets
by approximately RMB12.64 billion.

Against this background, the Board have taken active steps
to seek additional sources of finance and improve the Group’s
liquidity position. At 31 December 2008, the Group had total
undrawn credit facilities of RMB13.5 billion from certain banks.
Since 31 December 2008, the Company has successfully
obtained additional credit facilities in an aggregate amount of
RMB36 billion from certain banks and financial institutions (see
Note 47 — “Post balance sheet events” to Financial Statements
for details). The Board believes that, based on experience to
date, it is likely that these facilities will be rolled over in future
years if required. In addition, a resolution to issue additional
shares to China Eastern Air Holding Company (“CEA Holding”),
the Company’s shareholder, and CES Global Holding (Hong
Kong) Limited (“CES Global”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
CEA Holding, for a total amount of RMB?7 billion was approved
in the extraordinary general meeting held on 26 February 2009
(see Note 47 — “Post balance sheet events” to Financial

Statements for details).

With the additional credit facilities and approved capital
injection described in the preceding paragraph, and based on
the Group’s history of obtaining finance and its relationships
with its bankers and creditors, the Board considers that the
Group will be able to obtain sufficient financing to enable it to

operate and meet its liabilities as and when they fall due.
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Liquidity Risk

The Group obtains sufficient working capital through business
operations and short-term bank loans. The Group’s primary
cash requirements were related to the acquisition and
upgrading of its aircraft and flight equipment as well as debt
repayment. The Group generally finances its purchase of
aircraft through finance leases and bank loans. Due to the
fickle nature of the industry, the Group obtains its flexible fund-
raising measures through maintaining the committed credit
facilities. For years, the Group has arranged, and believes it
will be able to continue to arrange, sufficient credit facilities
from domestic banks or foreign-invested banks in China to
finance its future capital expenditure and fulfill its daily operating

requirements.

Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk

The Group’s total interest-bearing liabilities as of 31 December
2007 and 2008 were RMB46,316 million and RMB55,910
million respectively (including long-term and short-term loans
and finance leases payable), of which short-term liabilities
accounted for 45.42% and 50.85% respectively, and part of
the long-term interest-bearing liabilities were liabilities with
variable interest rates. Both were affected by the fluctuation in

current market interest rates.

The Group’s interest-bearing liabilities were mainly
denominated in US dollars and Renminbi. As of 31 December
2007 and 2008, the Group’s liabilities denominated in US
dollars accounted for 70.42% and 58.04% of the total liabilities
respectively, while the liabilities denominated in Renminbi
accounted for 27.05% and 41.56% of the total liabilities
respectively. The fluctuations in the US dollar and the Renminbi

interest rates significantly affected the Group’s financing costs.
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Exchange Rate Fluctuation Risk

Since 21 July 2005, the PRC government reformed the
Renminbi exchange rate system and established a floating
exchange rate system in which the exchange rate would be
adjusted and managed based on market supply and demand
with reference to a basket of foreign currencies. The fluctuation
in Renminbi exchange rate is affected by the domestic and
international economy, the political situation and the currency
supply and demand of the currency, and thus the Renminbi
exchange rate in the future may therefore be very different

from the current exchange rate.

The Group operates its business in many countries and
territories. The Group generates its revenue in different
currencies, and its foreign currency liabilities at the end of the
period are much higher than its foreign currency assets. The
Group’s major liability item (purchases and leases of aircraft)
is mainly priced and settled in currencies such as US dollars.
In addition, fluctuations in exchange rates will affect the Group’s
costs incurred from foreign purchases such as aircraft, flight
equipment and aviation fuel, and take-off and landing charges
in foreign airports. As of 31 December 2008, the Group’s total
interest-bearing liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
converted to Renminbi amounted to RMB32,674 million, of
which the US dollar liabilities accounted for 99.32%. Therefore,
in the circumstances with large fluctuation in exchange rate,
the exchange loss arising on the translation of foreign currency
denominated liabilities shall be greater, which shall affect the
profitability and development of the Group. The Group usually
uses hedging contracts for foreign currencies to reduce the
risks in exchange rates for foreign currency revenue from ticket
sales and expenses which are to be paid in foreign currencies.
Foreign currency hedging mainly involves the sales of Japanese
Yen or the purchase of US dollars at fixed exchange rates. As
of 31 December 2008, the foreign currency hedging contracts
held by the Group which are still open amounted to a notional
amount of US$121 million (31 December 2007: US$33 million),
which will be expired between 2009 and 2017.
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The Group recorded a decrease in net exchange gains during
the reporting period. As of 31 December 2007 and 2008, the
Group’s exchange gains were RMB2,023 million and
RMB1,958 million respectively. Due to the large value of existing
net foreign currency liabilities, the Group’s results will be
adversely affected if the Renminbi depreciates against the US
dollar or the rate of appreciation of the Renminbi against the

US dollar decreases in the future.

Fuel Hedging Risk

In order to control fuel costs, the Group entered into fuel
hedging transactions using financial derivative products linked
to the price of underlying assets such as United States WTI
crude oil and Singapore jet fuel. In the face of continuing
increases in fuel prices, the Group reduced the impact of the
fluctuation in aviation fuel prices through various financial
derivative instruments. For the years 2007 and 2008, the
Company hedged 34.20% and 41.58% of its annual fuel

consumption respectively.

The breakdowns of the Group’s fuel cost are as follow:
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The Group engaged in aviation fuel hedging for the purpose
of locking in aviation fuel costs. By selecting appropriate
instruments, etc., the Group locked in costs within a hedged
price range. However, high fluctuations in aviation fuel prices
exceeding the locked-in price ranges has resulted in the Group
incurring actual realised and unrealised settlement losses. For
details of the principal type of aviation fuel hedging contracts
entered into by the Group, please refer to the Company’s

announcement issued in Hong Kong dated 9 January 2009.

If the oil price decreased or increased by 5% compared to the
closing price as at 31 December 2008, the fair value losses as
at 31 December 2008 would increase or decrease by

approximately RMB500 million.

Policy Impact

In 2006, the National Development and Reform Commission
of the PRC (the “NDRC”), the Civil Aviation Administration of
China and the China Air Transport Association jointly launched
the linkage mechanism for aviation fuel prices and
transportation prices by airline companies. According to the
5P (B1£[2008]15685% X (Fa Gai Jia Ge [2008] No. 1568), the
fuel surcharge standards for domestic passenger routes were
adjusted from 1 July 2008. The surcharges were increased
from RMB60 to RMB80 per passenger for routes less than
800 km, and from RMB100 to RMB150 per passenger for
routes which are 800 km or more. Since the second half of
2008, the international crude oil prices had decreased
significantly, leading the NDRC and the Civil Aviation
Administration of China to release an announcement on 14
January 2009 to suspend fuel surcharges for domestic

passenger routes with effect from 15 January 2009.
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On 28 December 2007, the Civil Aviation Administration of
China and the NDRC released the Implementing Scheme for
the RSB E B 77 %) (KM FE[2007]1595%) (Civil
Aviation Airport Charges Reform Implementation Plan (Min
Hang Fa [2007] No. 159)) (the “New Plan”), which was
implemented on 1 March 2008. The New Plan divided airport
charges into three parts: charges related to airline businesses,
charges related to important non-airline items, and other non-
airline charges. The charges related to airline businesses and
important non-airline items shall follow the national guided
prices, in which the standard prices are rarely increased, while
reduction rates can be negotiated between the airport or the
service provider and the users. The New Plan grants the Group

the right to negotiate with the airports on the airport charges.

Human Resources

As of 31 December 2008, the Group had approximately 44,153
employees, a majority of whom worked in the PRC. The
Group’s employee compensation is primarily composed of
basic salary and performance-based bonus. There were no
material labor disputes between the Group and its employees
and the Group did not experience a significant loss of
employees or encounter any major difficulties in recruiting new

employees.
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TAXATION

We are subject to income tax at the rate of 18%. Our effective tax
rate, however, may be higher than the rate of 18% because some
of our subsidiaries were incorporated in jurisdictions where the
applicable income tax rate is 25% rather than 18%. We had carried
forward tax losses of approximately RMB5,380 million and
RMB11,465 million as of 31 December 2007 and 2008, which can
be used to set off against future taxable income between 2009

and 2013, respectively.
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The Board is pleased to present the audited financial report of the

Group for the year ended 31 December 2008.

GROUP ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS

The Company is one of the three largest air carriers in the PRC
based on tonne-kilometres and number of passengers carried in
2008 and is the primary air carrier serving Shanghai, the largest
economic, trading and financial centre of the PRC. The results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 and the financial
position of the Company and the Group as at that date, prepared
in accordance with IFRS and PRC Accounting Regulations, are set

out in the financial statements.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
22 to the financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance
with IFRS.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue from its business
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is as follows:
PRC Accounting

Regulations IFRS
hEAREMNE B R
2sr%A| B EZER
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARETFT
Domestic H A 24,810,917 24,333,387
Region (Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan) e (BRa 2,496,303 2,474,088
International Bl 14,535,141 14,265,082
Total 5t 41,842,361 41,072,557




DIVIDENDS

According to the financial statements prepared in accordance with
PRC Accounting Regulations, the Company incurred a net loss of
RMB13,928 million for the year 2008, and the total accumulated
losses of the Company as at 31 December 2008 amounted to
RMB17,535 million. The Board does not recommend payment of

any dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE
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NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2008, the total number of registered
shareholders of the Company was 190,299, of which 189,464 are
holders of A shares (including unlisted State-owned legal person

shares and listed A shares), and 835 are holders of H shares.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as the directors of the Company (the “Director”) are aware,
each of the following persons, not being a Director, chief executive,
supervisor of the Company or member of the Company’s senior
management, had, as at 31 December 2008, an interest and/or
short position in the Company’s shares or underlying shares (as
the case may be) which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”) under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”), or was
otherwise, as at 31 December 2008, interested in 5% or more of
any class of the then issued share capital of the Company, or was
otherwise, as at 31 December 2008, a substantial shareholder (as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) of the
Company:
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Notes:

Based on the information available to the Directors as at 31 December 2008 (including
such information as was available on the website of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange)

and so far as they are aware and understand, as at 31 December 2008:

1. Such H shares were held by CES Global, in the capacity of beneficial owner,
which in turn is 100% held by CEA Holding.

2. Among the 1,540,017,139 H shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited,
189,078,000 H shares (representing approximately 12.07% of the Company’s
then total issued H shares) were held by China National Aviation Corporation
(Group) Limited in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn was ultimately

100% controlled by China National Aviation Holding Company.

3.  Among the 1,540,017,139 H shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited,
Barclays PLC had, through controlled corporations, an interest in an aggregate
of 90,371,770 H shares (representing approximately 5.77% of the Company’s
then total issued H shares). Barclays PLC was interested in the aforesaid

90,371,770 H shares in the manner as follows:

a. 336,970 H shares (representing approximately 0.02% of the Company’s
then total issued H shares) were held by Barclays Global Investors Ltd
in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn was 100% controlled
by Barclays Global Investors UK Holdings Limited, which in turn was
92.3% controlled by Barclays Bank PLC, which in turn was ultimately
100% controlled by Barclays PLC;

b. 4,790,000 H shares (representing approximately 0.31% of the
Company’s then total issued H shares) were held by Barclays Global
Investors, N.A. in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn was
100% controlled by Barclays California Corporation, which in turn was
100% controlled by Barclays Global Investors Finance Limited, which
in turn was 100% controlled by Barclays Global Investors UK Holdings
Limited, which in turn was 92.3% controlled by Barclays Bank PLC,

which in turn was ultimately 100% controlled by Barclays PLC; and

ilE
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c. 85,244,800 H shares (representing approximately 5.44% of the
Company’s then total issued H shares) were held by Barclays Global
Fund Advisors in the capacity of beneficial owner, which in turn was
100% controlled by Barclays Global Investors, N.A., which in turn was
100% controlled by Barclays California Corporation, which in turn was
100% controlled by Barclays Global Investors Finance Limited, which
in turn was 100% controlled by Barclays Global Investors UK Holdings
Limited, which in turn was 92.3% controlled by Barclays Bank PLC,

which in turn was ultimately 100% controlled by Barclays PLC.

Save as disclosed above, based on the information available to the
Directors and so far as they are aware, as at 31 December 2008,
among the 1,540,017,139 H shares held by HKSCC Nominees
Limited, no other person had any interest or short position in the
Company’s shares or underlying shares (as the case may be) which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO.

c. 85,244 800fKHA (A AR B ERFE BT
HAR 4821 4)5.44%) /2 FABarclays Global
Fund Advisors ABE =B A SRR
ifBarclays Global Investors, N.A. 8l %l
Barclays Global Fund Advisors 100%7&
# * TMBarclays California Corporationgl]
*#|Barclays Global Investors,
N.A.100%# = * MBarclays Global
Investors Finance Limited 81)#% %l|Barclays
California Corporation 100%#25 - M
Barclays Global Investors UK Holdings
Limited 8J3% #Barclays Global Investors
Finance Limited 100%# 2% * ifBarclays
Bank PLCEI3Z#IBarclays Global
Investors UK Holdings Limited 92.3%7%&

 MBarclays PLCEISZKR2EHE
Barclays Bank PLC 100%# % °
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According to the relevant disclosure requirements laid down by BREFEZFEEERLZES ([FEBE
the China Securities Regulatory Commission (‘CSRC”), as at the FHMEBEERE  MEHKR - ARF
end of the reporting period, the 10 largest registered shareholders ERPRBERAMAI10B R BRENAT105
and the 10 largest registered listed stock shareholders on the RERBROBRRERELNAT
register of members and their respective shareholdings are as

follows:

The 10 largest registered shareholders of the Company and their AABAILI0BR R ERRERIER

respective shareholdings

Increase/
(Decrease) Shareholding Charged or
Name of in shareholding at the end Percentage  Type of locked-up  Nature of
shareholders in the year of year (%)  shares shares  shares held
1] ERSRE
RRER FEREH ERRRHE %) RGBER PRAHE ROME
1 CEAHOLDING -96,000,000 2,904,000,000 59.6678 listed (subject to NI A shares (subject
FEE moratorium) to moratorium)
B (RE) & ARBE)
2 HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED -4,467,660 1,540,017,139 31.64  listed Unknown  H shares
BiRE R HR
3  UBSAG 3,747,047 7,347,047 0.15  listed Unknown A shares
2R A AR
4 MORGAN STANLEY & CO. 5,358,221 5,358,221 011  listed Unknown A shares
INTERNATIONAL PLC. =it XA AR
5  HERT-EEER00EH 1,535,923 4,735,902 0.10 listed Unknown A shares
RAREES iR R AR
6 RENESEFREES 7,664,203 3,164,833 0.07 listed Unknown A shares
2R A AR
7 PEYLIMCHENG 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.04  listed Unknown  H shares
B R HR
8 WU SHUKLING OLIVIA 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.04 listed Unknown  H shares
BiRE R HR
9 ARSENTON NOMINEES LIMITED 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.03 listed Unknown  H shares
ERE A HR
10 BETERAAF 1,430,008 1,430,008 003 listed Unknown A shares
By A AR
Description of any related party or concert party relationship among A1 1075 A% 3R B BS B (R s — BT ED A AR AR -
the 10 largest shareholders: The Company is not aware of any AR AR s R 2 R 7E B B R =X
related party or concert party relationship among the above —EITEIRAIR ©

shareholders.
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The 10 largest registered listed stock shareholders of the

Company and their respective shareholdings

Name of shareholders

BRREME

AtETERBRRREFRER

Shareholding of

listed stocks at Nature of

the end of year shares held
FREHR

REBROBE B

1. HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED

BEPREHE (REA)BRATF]

UBS AG

MORGAN STANLEY & CO. INTERNATIONAL PLC.
FERIT - R EBRVEHEFREES
RBNESEFRERES

PEY LIM CHENG

WU SHUK LING OLIVIA

ARSENTON NOMINEES LIMITED

. BEMARARAF

0. PEIRIT—BRI1BEHEFRELS

= © © N o g &~ O DN

1,540,017,139 H shares A%

7,347,047 A shares fix
5,358,221 A shares I%
4,735,902 A shares I%
3,164,833 A shares %
2,000,000 H shares A%
2,000,000 H shares %
1,500,000 H shares &
1,430,098 A shares I%
1,160,683 A shares I%

Description of any related party or concert party relationship among
the 10 largest listed stock shareholders: The Company is not aware
of any related party or concert party relationship among the above

listed stock shareholders.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

There has been no change in the Company’s controlling shareholder

in the year.

CEA Holding is the parent company of the Company and its
registered capital amounts to RMB2,558,441,000. Mr. Liu
Shaoyong is the legal representative of CEA Holding. CEA Holding’s
scope of business includes the management of all State-owned
assets and State-owned equity of its group and its investment
enterprises which are formed by State investment. As at 31
December 2008, no share of the Company held by CEA Holding
was pledged.

A0 A AR B B R« AR
AR &AL 2t 7 S8 B B SR T 17 FE R B R 1R
H—BITENRAR ©
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AR TR RERER N HET -

RMEBERAARINEAR - ZMELRE
ANE#2 558,441,0007C * SEEREKAB
2IBBRE  KEHE : KEKERARK
HEEGEPHERKERLKN2 RS
BEMBRERE #B#E-_ZTN\F+_A
=+—B  ZAREERRFRNRKRELRE
BRI -



FEESMERGBERAT —TZT/\FFH 43

I

Report of Directors| EEE @ HlE =

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Save as otherwise disclosed, during the year ended 31 December
2008, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities (“securities”
having the meaning ascribed thereto under paragraph 1 of Appendix
16 to the Listing Rules), without taking into account any issue of

new securities.

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE
COMPANY AND THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES REQUIRED TO BE FOLLOWED BY U.S.
COMPANIES UNDER THE NEW YORK STOCK
EXCHANGE’S LISTING STANDARDS

As a company incorporated in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange, the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the New
York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”), the Company is subject to not
only applicable PRC laws and regulations, including the PRC
Company Law, the PRC Securities Law, the Corporate Governance
Standards for Listed Companies and Guidance Opinions regarding
the Establishment of the Independent Director System in Listed
Companies (the “Independent Director Guidance”), but also Hong
Kong laws and regulations, including the Listing Rules, the
Companies Ordinance and the SFO, as well as applicable U.S.
Federal securities laws and regulations, including the U.S. Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002. Based on its Listing Rules, the NYSE imposes a series of
corporate governance standards for companies listed on the NYSE.
However, the NYSE permits foreign private issuers to follow their
respective “home country” practices and grants waivers for
compliance with certain corporate governance standards. One of
the conditions for such waiver is for the foreign private issuer to
disclose in its annual report how the corporate governance practices
in its “home country” differ from those required of U.S. companies

under the NYSE listing standards.

BA - HESEODES
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In accordance with the requirements of Section 303A.11 of the
NYSE Listed Company Manual, the following is a summary of the
significant differences between the Company’s corporate
governance practices and those required to be followed by U.S.

companies under the NYSE’s listing standards.

Section 303A.01 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides
that listed companies must have a majority of independent Directors.
As a company listed in the PRC, the Company is subject to the
requirement under the Independent Director Guidance that at least
one-third of the Board be independent as determined thereunder.
As a company listed in Hong Kong, the Company is also subject to
the requirement under the Listing Rules that at least three members
of the Board shall be independent, and at least one of whom must
have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company currently has five
independent Directors out of a total of ten Directors. The standards
for establishing independence set forth under either the Independent
Director Guidance or the Listing Rules differ from those set forth in
the NYSE Listed Company Manual.

Section 303A.03 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that
listed companies must schedule regular executive sessions in which
non-management directors meet without management participation.
The Company is not required, under either the applicable PRC law

or the applicable Hong Kong law, to hold such executive sessions.

Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that
listed companies must have a nominating/corporate governance
committee composed entirely of independent directors. Currently,
the Company does not have a nominating/corporate governance
committee. The Company can choose to have one but is not required
to have such a committee under either the applicable PRC law or
Hong Kong law. Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company
Manual also provides that the nominating/corporate governance

committee of a listed company must have a written charter that
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addresses the committee’s purpose and responsibilities, which
include, among others, the development and recommendation of
corporate governance guidelines to the listed company’s board of
directors. The Board is directly responsible for developing the

Company’s corporate governance guidelines.

Section 303A.05 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that
listed companies must have a compensation committee composed
entirely of independent directors. Under the Listing Rules, a majority
of the members of the remuneration committee must be
independent non-executive directors. The remuneration and
appraisal committee of the Company is composed of two

independent non-executive Directors and one Director.

Section 303A.10 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides
that listed companies must adopt and disclose a code of business
conduct and ethics for directors, officers and employees. As
required under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Company has
adopted a code of ethics that is applicable to the Company’s
Directors, Supervisors, President, Chief Financial Officer and other

senior managers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the articles of association of the Company and the PRC
laws, no pre-emptive rights exist which require the Company to

offer new shares to existing shareholders on a pro rata basis.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report, the Directors believe that
the Company has at all times during the year ended 31 December
2008 maintained the relevant applicable minimum percentage of listed

securities as prescribed by Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS EE -EERENEBAEERER

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
AREABE-TE/\F+-A=t+—BF
FBFERBRERABMS - BWAK

Names, relevant information of and shares held by the Directors,

the Supervisors and members of senior management of the

Company as at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

Number of listed

SEST 4P N

A shares of the Capacity in Effective date and

Company held - which the expiry date of

Name Position Age personal interest A shares were held appointment

FREAQR
RBAR

i BH% R PRE — B AR AR &5 L B 1
Li Fenghua Chairman 59 6,600 (Note 1) Beneficial Owner  June 2007-March 2009
Feg EER 6,600 (;T#1) EaAA 2007.6-2009.3
Li Jun Vice Chairman 56 0 - June 2007-June 2010
B AEER 2007.6-2010.6
Luo Chaogeng  Director 59 6,600 (Note 1) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
BHR E% 6,600 (;T#1) EaAA 2007.6-2010.6
Cao Jianxiong  Director, President 50 7,656 (Note 2) Beneficial Owner  June 2007- March 2009
-2 BE KR 7,656 (;H#2) EREAA 2007.6-2009.3
Luo Zhuping Director, Company Secretary 56 11,616 (Note 3) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
BOY BEE ARNE 11,616 (;1123) EaAA 2007.6-2010.6
HuHonggao  Independent Non-executive Director 55 0 - June 2007-June 2010
S BUFRTES 2007.6-2010.6
Peter Lok Independent Non-executive Director 72 0 - June 2007-June 2010
%25 BUFHTES 2007.6-2010.6
Wu Baiwang Independent Non-executive Director 66 0 - June 2007-June 2010
RAH BUFRTES 2007.6-2010.6
Zhou Ruijin Independent Non-executive Director 70 0 - June 2007-June 2010
Eihe BUFHTES 2007.6-2010.6
Xie Rong Independent Non-executive Director 57 0 - June 2007-June 2010
Gl BUFRTES 2007.6-2010.6
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A shares of the Capacity in Effective date and

Company held - which the expiry date of

Name Position Age personal interest A shares were held appointment

FEAAR
REAR
HE B £k RE — {8 AR AR S5 LA
Liu Jiangbo Chairman of the Supervisory 59 0 - June 2007-June 2010
2K Committee 2007.6-2010.6
EEETF

Xu Zhao Supervisor 40 0 — June 2007-June 2010
" B EZ 2007.6-2010.6
Wang Taoying Supervisor 56 0 - June 2007- March 2009
Tk EE 2007.6-2009.3
Yang Jie Supervisor 39 6,600 (Note 1) Beneficial Owner June 2007- March 2009
B R EE 6,600 (;H11) ERBEAA 2007.6-2009.3
Liu Jiashun Supervisor 52 3,960 (Note 4) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
2I%R Bz 3,960 (7T #24) EnEAA 2007.6-2010.6
Ma Xulun President 45 0 - December 2008-June 2010
5%Em Vg E 2008.12-2010.6
Zhang Jianzhong  Vice President 54 0 - June 2007-June 2010
R RS 2007.6-2010.6
Li Yangmin Vice President 46 3,960 (Note 4) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
FER Bl 3,960 (;1#84) ExfAA 2007.6-2010.6
Fan Ru Vice President 60 3,696 (Note 5) Beneficial Owner June 2007-June 2010
8 F B8 e 3,696 (71 #25) EREAA 2007.6-2010.6
Luo Weide Chief Financial Officer 59 3,960 (Note 4) Beneficial Owner June 2007- March 2009
BB B e 3,960 (:F124) ERBEAA 2007.6-2009.3
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Note 1: representing approximately 0.0002% of the Company’s total issued listed

A shares as at 31 December 2008

Note 2: representing approximately 0.000232% of the Company’s total issued
listed A shares as at 31 December 2008

Note 3: representing approximately 0.000352% of the Company’s total issued
listed A shares as at 31 December 2008

Note 4: representing approximately 0.00012% of the Company’s total issued
listed A shares as at 31 December 2008

Note 5: representing approximately 0.000112% of the Company’s total issued
listed A shares as at 31 December 2008

As at the date of this report, brief biographical details in respect of
each of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management officers

of the Company are as follows:

Mr. Liu Shaoyong is currently the Chairman of the Company and
Deputy Party Secretary and General Manager of CEA Holding. Since
Mr. Liu joined the civil aviation industry in 1978, he has been
appointed the Deputy General Manager of China General Aviation
Corporation, Deputy Director of Shanxi Provincial Civil Aviation
Administration, General Manager of the Shanxi Branch of the
Company, and Chief of the Flying Model Division of the Civil Aviation
Administration of China (the “CAAC”). Mr. Liu served as General
Manager of the Company from December 2000 to October 2002,
Vice Minister of the CAAC from October 2002 to August 2004,
General Manager of China Southern Air Holding Company from
August 2004 to December 2008, Chairman of directors of China
Southern Airlines Co., Ltd (stock code: 1055) from November 2004
to December 2008. Since December 2008, Mr. Liu has been
appointed Deputy Party Secretary and the General Manager of CEA
Holding, and has just become the Chairman of the Company since
3 February 2009. Mr. Liu graduated from the China Civil Aviation
Flight College and achieved an EMBA degree of Tsinghua University
in 2005. Mr. Liu holds the title of First Class Pilot. He is currently
the Director General of China Air Transport Association, the Director
of International Air Transport Association and the Director of

Association for Relations Across the Taiwan Straits.
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Mr. Li Fenghua was the Chairman of the Company during the
reporting period, the president and deputy party secretary of CEA
Holding during the reporting period. Mr. Li joined the civil aviation
industry in 1968 and was deputy head, and subsequently became
head, of the 26th Fleet of the CAAC from 1987 to 1992. From
1992 to 1996, Mr. Li served as vice president, and then became
president, of the Hubei Branch of China Southern Airlines (Group).
Since 1996, he became vice president of China Southern Airlines
Company Limited and vice president of China Southern Airlines
(Group). In 2000, Mr. Li became party secretary and vice president
of China Southern Airlines Company Limited. From October 2002
to September 2004, he served as the president of the Company
and vice president of CEA Holding. From September 2004 to
December 2008, he served as the president and deputy party
secretary of CEA Holding. The resignation of Mr. Li Fenghua as
director and chairman of the fifth session of the Board due to
reallocation of appointment was passed by way of resolution in the
17th meeting of the fifth session of the Board held on 12 December
2008 and the first 2009 extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 3 February 2009. Mr. Li graduated from the China
Civil Aviation Senior Aviation School and holds the title of First Class
Pilot.

Mr. Li Jun is currently the Vice Chairman of the Company and the
party secretary of CEA Holding. He was the Chairman (acting) of the
Board from 12 December 2008 to 3 February 2009. Mr. Li joined the
civil aviation industry in 1972. Since 1977, Mr. Li served as officer in
the Political Department and office secretary of CAAC. Mr. Li served
as person-in-charge of Policy Research Department in the Civil
Aviation Bureau in 1984, deputy director of Policy Research
Department in the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1986, deputy manager of
Planning Department in CAAC in 1989, manager of Planning
Department in CAAC in 1994, director of the General Office in CAAC
in 1996, manager of Personnel Education Department in CAAC in
2000, and deputy head and party committee member of CAAC in
2001. Since 2006, Mr. Li has served as party secretary of CEA
holding. Mr. Li graduated from the Party School of the Central
Committee of the C.P.C. and holds a bachelor degree of Economic

Management and is a qualified Economist.
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Mr. Ma Xulun is currently the Director, the General Manager and BAREERRAES BK1E EZR
the Deputy Party Secretary of the Company, the Deputy Party £ EMEBEARER - BAAR—
Secretary of CEA Holding. Mr. Ma joined the civil aviation industry ANEFEMARME - EATFEMERE
since 1997. He has been appointed Deputy General Manager of RARRIRKE - FERMBRIE AR
China Commodities Storing and Transportation Corporation, Deputy A&k - FEBEMEAREBE - —TF
Director General of Finance Department of the CAAC, Vice President “FRMEE ERHBEPEBEBRMERT
of Air China International Corporation Limited. In 2002, after the ERagE, —ETTENFENAE_ET+
restructuring of civil aviation industry he was appointed the Vice F—AEFBEBEEMEROBRAE 35
President of the general affairs of Air China International Corporation RE% : 753) F - EZRIERL - =TT
Limited. Later on, Mr. Ma served as President and Deputy Party F+-_AZ_ZEZNF+_AEFRBEMRE
Secretary of Air China International Corporation Limited (stock code: SEARIEHKE - :%gﬁtif AREZ
753) from September 2004 to January 2007. Mr. Ma became a ZENF+ - AEFEMESRE AT S
Party member of China National Aviation Holding Company from - —ZEENE+HA ﬁ_ﬁg$ Al
December 2004 to December 2008, and Deputy General Manager B EBLZFER AMEEEAFER

of China National Aviation Holding Company from January 2007 to TEENF_AZHBEARRIEET -5
December 2008. Since December 2008, Mr. Ma started working EEBERILAFLRE ERREK
as General Manager and Deputy Party Secretary of the Company 2. BEELTBEMNFMESEHEER -

and Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding. Since 3 February 2009,
Mr. Ma has become a Director of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated
from Shanxi University of Finance and Economics and Huazhong
University of Science and Technology. Mr. Ma holds a master degree

and is a qualified accountant.
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Mr. Luo Chaogeng is currently a Director. Mr. Luo joined the civil
aviation industry in 1970. Mr. Luo was a flight mechanic of the
instructing team of the Lanzhou Civil Aviation Administration Bureau
from August 1970 to August 1972. From August 1972 to March
1989, he was the flight mechanic and vice instructor of the 8th
Civil Aviation Flight Team. From March 1989 to August 1994, he
was the deputy commissar, commissar and party secretary of the
Xi'an Flight Team of China Northwest Airlines. From August 1994
to October 1996, he was the party secretary of the aircraft
maintenance plant of China Northwest Airlines. From October 1996
to March 1997, he was the party secretary and deputy general
manager of the aircraft maintenance base of China Northwest
Airlines. From March 1997 to December 2000, he was the deputy
director of the Civil Aviation Administration Bureau of China
Northwest Airlines. From December 2000 to November 2001, Mr.
Luo was the general manager of Yunnan Airlines and the director
and deputy party secretary of Civil Aviation Administration Bureau
of Yunnan. From November 2001 to September 2002, he was the
general manager and deputy party secretary of Yunnan Airlines.
From September 2002 to present, he has been the party
constitution member and vice president of CEA Holding. From
September 2002 to September 2004, he has also served
concurrently as the general manager of Yunnan Airlines of CEA
Holding. From September 2004 to the present, he has been the
party constitution member and vice president of CEA Holding, and
from September 2004 to October 2006 was President and deputy
party secretary of China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited. Mr.
Luo serves as a non-executive directors of TravelSky Technology
Limited (Stock code: 696) from 3 March 2009. From September
1998 to June 2001, Mr. Luo attended the postgraduate course in
economics and management for incumbent leading cadres of
Shaanxi Province at the Central Party School. Mr. Luo has first

class competency in flight mechanics.
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Mr. Cao Jianxiong was a Director and President during the reporting
period. Mr. Cao joined the civil aviation industry in 1982. From 1992,
he served as president of Shanghai Eastern Airlines Development
Company and in 1994 he became president of Eastern Airlines
Futures Brokerage Company. In early 1996 he served as assistant
president of the Company. From 1997, he served as vice president
and chief financial officer of the Company. Since December 1999,
he served as vice president of CEA Group. From October 2002 to
December 2008, he served as vice president of CEA Holding, and
he also was the party secretary of China Eastern Air Northwest
Company from December 2002 to September 2004. From October
2006 to December 2008, he served as president of the Company.
The resignation of Mr. Cao Jianxiong as director of the fifth session
of Board and president due to reallocation of duties was passed
by way of resolution in the 17th meeting of the fifth session of Board
held on 12 December 2008. The resignation of Mr. Cao Jianxiong
as director of the fifth session of the Board due to reallocation of
appointment was passed by way of resolution in the first 2009
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 February
2009. Mr. Cao graduated from the Civil Aviation Management
Institute with a major in labour economics. Mr. Cao also received a
master degree in global economics from Eastern China Normal
University’s Department of International Finance. Mr. Cao holds the

title of Senior Economist.
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Mr. Luo Zhuping is currently a Director and the Company Secretary.
Mr. Luo joined CEA in 1988. He was deputy chief and then chief of
the enterprise management department of China Eastern Airlines
from 1992 to 1997. He was deputy head of the share system office
from 1993 to 1996. In 1997, he became the secretary of the board
of China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited and, from 1997 to
2000, also served as the head of the secretariat of the board of the
Company. He became a Director of the Company in June 2004.
Mr. Luo graduated from the Faculty of Philosophy and the Faculty
of Law of Anhui University in 1979 and 1985, respectively. In 1994,
Mr. Luo received a Master degree from the Economics Department
of Eastern China Normal University, majoring in global economics.
In 1998, he participated in the training programme for senior
managers of large state-owned enterprises organised in the U.S.A.

by the State Economic and Trade Commission and Morgan Stanley.

Mr. Hu Honggao was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in 1996. He is currently the deputy dean
of the School of Law, the director and professor of the Civil and
Commercial Law Research Centre, and a tutor to doctoral students
majoring in civil and commercial law at Fudan University. He is also
a senior lawyer at the Shanghai Shen Yang Law Office. Mr. Hu is a
managing director of China Commercial Law Research Society, a
managing director of China Economic Law Research Society (-7
Bl ARG HHIESE), a member of the Legislative
Consultation Committee of the Shanghai Municipal Government, a
member of the Legislative Profession Consultation Committee of
the Shanghai Standing Committee of the People’s Congress (%
MARBZELEBERALZEZE), vice chairman of the Shanghai
Economic Law Research Society and an arbitrator of the Shanghai
Arbitration Committee. Mr. Hu also services as the independent
non-executive director of China Shipping Development Company
Limited (Stock code: 1138).
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Mr. Peter Lok was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in 1998. Mr. Lok went to the College of
Air Traffic Control in England for further studies after joining the
Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department in December 1956. He studied
air transport, air accident investigation and administration and
management of civil aviation in England from 1968 to 1973. In 1982,
he became assistant director of the Hong Kong Civil Aviation
Department. From 1985, during his time in office at the air services
division of the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department, he participated
in negotiations with various countries regarding air traffic rights. He
became deputy director in 1988, and subsequently became director
in 1990 of the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department. Mr. Lok retired
in 1996 and has served as a consultant at the Flights Standards
Department of the CAAC. Mr. Lok is the first Chinese director of
the Hong Kong Civil Aviation Department and was at one time an

instructor at the College of Air Traffic Control of Hong Kong.

Mr. Wu Baiwang was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in 1998. Mr. Wu joined the civil aviation
industry in 1959 and was deputy fleet leader and subsequently
became fleet leader of the 12th Fleet of the CAAC from 1976 to
1984. From 1984 to 1992, Mr. Wu was deputy head and
subsequently became head of the CAAC Jilin Bureau. From 1992
to 1995, Mr. Wu was the head and party secretary of the CAAC
North-eastern Bureau. From September 1995 to 1998, he became
president of China General Aviation Corporation. He was the party
secretary and vice president of Guangzhou Baiyun International
Airport Group Company and the chairman of the board of directors
of Guangzhou Baiyun International Airport Company Limited from
1998 to September 2003. Mr. Wu graduated from Chinese Civil
Aviation School in 1965 and holds the title of First Class Pilot.
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Mr. Zhou Ruijin was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
director of the Company in 2000. Mr. Zhou was deputy editor-in-
chief and the East China regional director of the People’s Daily.
From 1988 to 1993 Mr. Zhou was the party secretary and deputy
editor-in-chief of the Liberation Daily. From April 1993 to 1996 he
was deputy editor-in-chief of the People’s Daily and from 1996 to
2000 he was deputy editor-in-chief and the East China regional
director of the People’s Daily. After retired, he became vice chairman
of the China Productivity Council and chairman of the Shanghai
Productivity Council. Mr. Zhou graduated from the journalism

department of Fudan University in 1962.

Mr. Xie Rong was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in 2003. Mr. Xie is the deputy head of
Shanghai National Accounting Institute and a certified accountant in
the PRC. He taught at the faculty of accounting of Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics from December 1985 to March 1997,
and had been an assistant professor, a professor, a doctorate-tutor
and the deputy dean of the faculty. Mr. Xie was a partner of KPMG
Huazhen from December 1997 to October 2002, and has, since
October 2002, been the deputy head of Shanghai National
Accounting Institute. Mr. Xie also serves as the independent non-
executive director of China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited (Stock
code: 998), China Shipping Development Company Limited (Stock
code: 1138) and Tianjin Capital Environmental Protection Group
Company Limited (Stock code: 1065). Mr. Xie graduated from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and has a doctorate

degree in Economics.
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Ms. Liu Jiangbo is currently the chairman of the supervisory
committee of the Company (the “Supervisory Committee”), and a
party member, vice president, and the head of disciplinary inspection
group of CEA Holding. Ms. Liu Jiangbo joined the civil aviation
industry in 1979. Since then, Ms. Liu had been an officer in the
Beijing Administrative Bureau of Civil Aviation of China and the
deputy secretary of the committee of C.P.C. of the transportation
business division. Ms. Liu served as secretary of the committee of
the Communist Youth League of the National Civil Aviation in 1985,
deputy director of the personnel department of the Traffic Control
Bureau of the Aviation of China in 1987, supervisor to the Civil
Aviation Administration of China appointed by the Supervisory
Bureau of China in 1990, deputy director of the transportation
division of CAAC in 1994, secretary of the committee of C.P.C.
and vice president of Yunnan Airlines Corporation Limited in 2000,
and the party member, vice president and head of the disciplinary
examination committee of CEA Holding in 2002. Ms. Liu graduated
from the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences,
majoring in business management of industrial economics, having

the qualification of post-graduate and senior political work instructor.

Mr. Xu Zhao is currently a Supervisor of the Company, and the
chief accountant of CEA Holding. Mr. Xu joined the civil aviation
industry in 2007. Mr. Xu served as engineer and accountant in
Dongfeng Motor Group Company Limited in 1991 and 1997
respectively, Mr. Xu joined Shanghai Yanhua High Technology
Limited Company as a manager in finance department in 2000,
and joined Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automobile Co. Limited as a chief
financial officer in 2002. Since January 2007, Mr. Xu has served as
the chief accountant in CEA Holding. Mr. Xu graduated from
Chongxing University, majoring in moulding, and The Chinese
University of Hong Kong, majoring in accounting, and holds a master
degree. Mr. Xu is qualified as an engineer and an accountant, and

is a certified public accountant in the PRC.
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Ms. Wang Taoying was a Supervisor, assistant to the president,
and the general manager of the auditing department of the
Company during the reporting period. Ms. Wang joined the civil
aviation industry in 1972, was the deputy director of the supervisory
and auditing department and the deputy manager of the disciplinary
committee office of China Eastern Airlines Company from March
1993 to August 1995. Ms. Wang was the head of the auditing
department of China Eastern Airlines Company from August 1995
to March 1997, the supervisor in the first session of the Supervisory
Committee from January 1995 to March 1998, the cabin service
manager of the Company from March 1997 to April 1999, and the
deputy general manager of security department in Pudong,
Shanghai of the Company taking charge of the servicing safety in
the production procedure from April 1999 to August 2000. Ms.
Wang also acted as chief officer of the auditing department of the
Company from August 2000 to August 2004. From August 2004
to August 20086, she served as the general manager of the auditing
department of the Company and has been the assistant to the
president of the Company and the general manager of the auditing
department from August 2006 to February 2009. She has no longer
served as a Supervisor of the Company since March 2009. Ms.
Wang graduated from the Shanghai Second Polytechnic University,
majoring in sociopolitics, and holds a Master of Business

Administration degree from the Open University of Macau.
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Ms. Yang Jie was a Supervisor of the Company during the reporting
period. Ms. Yang joined the civil aviation industry in 1992. From
1996 to 1998 she was the electronic technology supervisor of the
technology office and Communist Youth League secretary of the
overhaul department at the aircraft maintenance base of the
Company. From 1998 to September 2000 she was Communist
Youth League deputy secretary of the aircraft maintenance base of
the Company. She was the deputy secretary of the Company’s
Communist Youth League from September 2000 to July 2002, and
the secretary of the Company’s Communist Youth League from
August 2002 to January 2003. Since January 2003, she was the
secretary of the Communist Youth League of CEA Holding, as well
as the secretary of the Communist Youth League of the Company.
She has no longer served as a Supervisor of the Company since
March 2009. Ms. Yang graduated with a major in aviation electronics
from the China Civil Aviation Academy and a major in Business
Administration from Sunny Management Academy (JE B & 1% &%
T &) at Donghua University from which she received a master

degree in Business Administration. She is also a qualified engineer.

Mr. Yan Taisheng is currently a Supervisor and the Vice Chairman
of the Labour Union of the Company. Mr. Yan joined the civil aviation
industry in 1973, and has served in the Command Centre and the
General Office of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration Bureau.
From 1990 to 1993, he served as the Chief of the Secretarial Section
in the General Office of China Eastern Airlines Company. He served
as the Manager of Shanghai Civil Aviation Dong Da Industry
Company (E/ERMEBEARNEZE2AH) from 1993 to 1998 and was
the Deputy Director of General Office of the Labour Union of the
Company from 1998 to 2002. From 2002 to 2005, he served as
the Director of General Office of Labour Union of the Company. He
has been the Vice Chairman of the Labour Union and the Director
of the General Office of the Labour Union of the Company since
2005. He has been a supervisor of the Company since March 2009.

Mr. Yan graduated from East China Normal University.
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Mr. Feng Jinxiong is currently a Supervisor and general manager of
Audit Department of the Company. Mr. Feng joined the civil aviation
industry in 1982, and has served in the Planning Department of
Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration Bureau as well as the Planning
Department of China Eastern Airlines Company. He served as the
Deputy Director of the Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines
Company from 1992 to 1997, the Director of the Planning
Department of the Company from 1997 to 1998, the Director of
the Finance Department of China Eastern Air Holding Company
from 1998 to 2000. He was the Deputy Chief Accountant of China
Eastern Air Holding Company from 2000 to 2001, the Manager of
the Human Resources Department of the Company from 2001 to
20083, the Party Committee Secretary and Vice President of China
Eastern Air Jin Rong Company (8fi&Z A F]) from 2003 to 2005,
the Party Committee Secretary and Deputy General Manager of
the Shanghai Security Department of the Company from 2005 to
2007, as well as the President and the Deputy Party Committee
Secretary of the China Eastern Airlines Wuhan Co., Ltd. from 2007
to 2009. Since February 2009, he has been the General Manager
of the Audit Department of the Company. He has been a supervisor
of the Company since March 2009. Mr. Feng graduated from the
Civil Aviation University of China and the Graduate School of the

Chinese Academy of Sciences, holding a master’s degree.

Mr. Liu Jiashun has been a Supervisor of the Company since 2000.
From 1993 to 1999 Mr. Liu was party secretary, deputy president
and secretary of the disciplinary committee of China Aviation Fuel
Hainan Company, as well as chairman of the board and president
of Hainan Nanyang Air Transport Co., Ltd. From 1997 to 1999 he
was also the chief director in charge of fuel supply engineering at
Haikou’s Meilan Airport and served as a director of Meilan Airport
Co., Ltd. and the vice chairman of the board and president of =85
B X AR AR From 1999 to 2007 he was deputy party secretary,
and subsequently the secretary of the disciplinary committee of
China Aviation Fuel East China Company and he has been the
general manager of /& HM-AHA R AF] since 2006. Mr. Liu
received post-graduate education and is qualified as a senior

political work instructor.
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Mr. Zhang Jianzhong is a Vice President of the Company. Mr. Zhang
joined the civil aviation industry in 1982. From April 1982 to
December 1987, he was an assistant of the CAAC Shanghai
Planning Bureau. From December 1987 to April 1990, he was the
deputy director of the planning department of Shanghai Honggiao
International Airport. From April 1990 to January 1996, he was the
director of the planning department of China Eastern Airlines. From
January 1996 to April 1999, he was the manager of the sales and
marketing department of the Company. From April 1999 to April
2003, he was the assistant to the president of the Company. From
September 2000 to December 2001, he served concurrently as
the director of the office of strategic study of the Company. From
December 2001 to May 2003, he served concurrently as the general
manager of the computer information centre of the Company. From
April 2003 to June 2004, he was the chief economist of the
Company. From May 2003 to June 2004, he served concurrently
as the general manager of the sales and marketing department of
the Company. From June 2004 to the present, he has been a vice
president of the Company. Mr. Zhang graduated from the Faculty
of Mechanical Engineering of Zhejiang University and also the
Economics and Management of Fudan University from which he

obtained a master degree.

Mr. Li Yangmin is a Vice President of the Company. Mr. Li joined the
civil aviation industry in 1985. From July 1985 to October 1996, he
was the deputy head of the aircraft maintenance workshop (FR# 4
1EMREE M) , head of technology office and secretary of the workshop
branch of Northwest Company (FaibfizE /2 a]) . From October 1996
to June 2002, he was the deputy general manager of the aircraft
maintenance base and the manager of air route department (F1 4%
#6) of Northwest Company (FF3LfnZE 2 F]). From June 2002 to
March 2004, he was the general manager of the aircraft maintenance
base of China Eastern Air Northwest Company. From March 2004
to October 2005, he was the vice president and a member of the
standing committee to the party committee of China Eastern Air
Northwest Company. Since October 2005, he has been a vice
president of the Company. Mr. Li is a university graduate from China

Civil Aviation Academy. He is a qualified senior engineer.
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Mr. Fan Ru is the Company’s Vice President. Mr. Fan started his civil
aviation career in 1966. He was a deputy fleet leader of China Eastern
Airlines’ Shanghai Fleet since 1988 and was the head of aviation
technology management office of China Eastern Airlines since 1995.
He was appointed as the deputy chief pilot and the head of aviation
technology management office of the Company since 1997. He was
the chief pilot of the Company from 1999 to November 2006, and
was appointed as the vice president of the Company since November
2006. Mr. Fan graduated from Advanced Aviation School for
professional flying. He has received tertiary education and has

obtained first class technical qualifications for pilots.

Mr. Luo Weide was the Company’s Chief Financial Officer during
the reporting period. In 1976 Mr. Luo began his military service at
the Air Force in Liuan Airport. From 1979 to 1991 he successively
served as department head and deputy head of the Putuo branch
of the Shanghai Municipal Tax Bureau. From 1991 to 1993 he
concurrently served as head of the finance bureau and the state
asset bureau of Putuo District, Shanghai. From 1993 to 1998 he
successively served as deputy chief accountant, chief accountant
and executive deputy president of Shanghai Jingiao (Group) Co.,
Ltd. From 1998 to 2000, he was vice president of Shanghai Pudong
Development (Group) Co., Ltd. and chairman of the board and
president of Pudong Finance Company. From 2000 to March 2009,
he was the chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Luo graduated
from the Sino-European International Business School in 1999 with
a Master’s degree in business administration. He holds the titles of

Senior Accountant and Senior Economist.
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Mr. Wu Yongliang is currently the Chief Financial Officer of the RKRFEERBRNARIBRENBEE - BT
Company. Mr. Wu joined the civil aviation industry in 1984. He was E%—H/\@ﬁbﬂ)\ﬁﬁﬁ = NNA=EF
the deputy director of the Finance Department of China Eastern —NNEFAEFEREIMERGMEE
Airlines Company from 1993 to 1997, the deputy director and E%'JEE C— ANEFE-ANNFERR
subsequently the director of the Finance Department of the AVBREER B —QWNAN\EZFT
Company from 1997 to 1998, the director of Planning and Finance STZFERRRGFEMBREER  —TF
Department of the Company from 1998 to 2000, the head of the TEE T -FERMEE T BB
Finance Department of CEA Holding from 2000 to 2001, the deputy Rk 22— FE_TTNF=-AEEREM
chief accountant and the head of the Finance Department of CEA SEFBemEREHSE  —EFN
Holding from 2001 to March 2009. From April 2009 onwards, he FNAREARAFINBLREE - RAELRZ
services as the chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Wu RABERMABLEE R THEEMEAX
graduated from the Economic Management Department of Civil ETHEEEE  BEBETHRELEZEMN
Aviation University of China, specializing in planning and finance. SRTRDETE o

He also graduated from Fudan University, specializing in business
administration. Mr. Wu has the qualification of post-graduate and

holds the title of Accountant.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has issued a BIE EMMRANEIASE - BUIERNITES
confirmation in respect of the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the ERE E TR RIESASIKFTH GBI E
Listing Rules concerning his independence pursuant to Rule 3.15 HIHRE H AR - NARRAEE I
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent WITERHEBRLE -

non-executive Directors to be independent.
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CHANGES IN THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD AND

MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Date of Appointment/

EZENEEBAS2BER

Name Termination Approval Organization Position

®E REBH, BERD REBWRIE B

Termination

BE

Li Fenghua 12 December 2008 the 17th meeting of the fifth session of the Board Chairman

&S “ZT)\F+ZA+=H FREEFEFITREE K

Li Fenghua 3 February 2009 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 Director

e “ZETNE_A=H —ETNFERERREAE 5%

Cao Jianxiong 12 December 2008 the 17th meeting of the fifth session of the Board President

EE ZTT\F+ZA+=H FEREEFEFITREE s

Cao Jianxiong 3 February 2009 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 Director

R —ZETNFE A=A “ETNFERBRRREAE 5%

Wang Taoying 26 March 2009 the 2009 first group meetings of the Employee

Tk “ETHFZA=FH 5th meetings of the 4th session employee’s representative

representatives conference supervisor
FHEEHLABRE _ZTTNEF BIES
F-RERMEGE
Yang Jie 26 March 2009 the 2009 first group meetings of the Employee
BR “EENF=A=FH 5th meetings of the 4th session employee’s representative
representatives conference supervisor
EMEEARBRE_TTNE BIES
F-RERBFEESE
Luo Weide 31 March 2009 the 23rd meeting of the 5th session of the Board Chief
EER “TTNF=A=+—H FELEEFELFELRL; Financial Officer

IS HaEs
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Date of Appointment/

Name Termination Approval Organization Position

] BEES BMEEH REHE B

Appointment

BE

Liu Shaoyong 3 February 2009 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 Director

e —“ZTNFE_A=H —EENFE-RBERERRAE =

Liu Shaoyong 3 February 2009 the 20th meeting fifth session of the Board Chairman

R E —ETNF_A=H FHEEFEF0NEH BER

Ma Xulun 12 December 2008 the 17th meeting of the fifth session of the Board President

BAMRm —TTN\F+ZA+=H FREEFEFEITNE: S

Ma Xulun 3 February 2009 the first extraordinary general meeting in 2009 Director

SRR —ETNF_A=H —ETNFE-RBRRREAE 5=

Yan Taisheng 26 March 2009 the 2009 first group meetings of the Employee

2R ZETNFE=A=+H 5th meetings of the 4th session employee’s representative

representatives conference supervisor
%Eﬁﬁﬂm%ﬁa_q TNF BIE=S
RAERME S
Feng Jinxiong 26 March 2009 the 2009 first group meetings of the Employee
Yo “EENF=ZA=+"H 5th meetings of the 4th session employee’s representative
representatives conference supervisor
FNEFLABRKE_TTNF BIES
F-ERBES:
Wu Yongliang 31 March 2009 the 23rd meeting of the 5th session of the Board Chief
RKR “EENF=A=+—H FLEEFEEBREE Financial Officer

IR
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE, SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2008, none of the
Directors, chief executive, Supervisors or members of the
Company'’s senior management and their respective associates
had any other interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and/or debentures (as the case may be) of the Company
and/or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the
provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any
interest or short position which any of such Directors, chief
executive, Supervisors or members of the Company’s senior
management and their respective associates were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO) and as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, or which was otherwise required to be notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (which shall be deemed to apply to the Supervisors to the

same extent as it applied to the Directors).

In 2008 and as at 31 December 2008, none of the Directors, chief
executive, Supervisors, senior management of the Company and/
or any of their spouses or children under the age of eighteen were
granted any right, and the Company had not made any arrangement
enabling any of them, to subscribe for share capital or debt securities

of the Company.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

No Director or Supervisor has entered into any service contract
with the Company which is not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN
CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or Supervisors had a material interest directly
or indirectly in any contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year (the term
‘contract of significance’ having the meaning ascribed thereto in

paragraph 15 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules).

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

Details of the remuneration of Directors and Supervisors are set
out in note 9 to the financial statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had 44,153 employees, a
majority of whom worked in the PRC. Employee compensation is

primarily composed of basic salary and performance-based bonus.

MEDICAL INSURANCE

The majority of the Group’s PRC employees participate in the
medical insurance schemes organised by the municipal
governments, under which the Group and its employees are
required to contribute to the scheme approximately 12% and 2%,
respectively, of the employee’s basic salaries. For those employees
who participate in these schemes, the Group has no other obligation
for the payment of medical expense beyond the annual
contributions. For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group’s
medical insurance contributions charged to the income statement
amounted to RMB93 million (2007: RMB77 million).
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and
the Group as at 31 December 2008 are set out in note 32 to the

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

INTEREST CAPITALIZED

Interest capitalized by the Group as calculated in accordance with
IFRS for the year ended 31 December 2008 was RMB342 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Company and
the Group during the year are summarized in note 19 to the financial

statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2008 and profit appropriation by
the Company are set out in note 40 to the financial statements

prepared in accordance with IFRS.

STATUTORY COMMON WELFARE FUND

Details in relation to the statutory common welfare fund, such as
the nature and application of and movements in the fund, and the
basis of its calculation, including the percentage used for calculating
the amounts, are set out in note 40 to the financial statements

prepared in accordance with IFRS.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations for charitable purposes

amounting to RMB37 million.
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EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Company’s employee retirement scheme and post
retirement benefits are set out in note 36 to the financial statements

prepared in accordance with IFRS.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

As at 31 December 2008, the cost of aircraft and related materials
from the Group’s largest and five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 9% and 28%, respectively, of the total purchases of
the Group. The sales to the Group’s five largest customers

accounted for 10% of the Group’s total sales in 2008.

None of the Directors, Supervisors or any of their respective
associates nor any shareholders who, to the knowledge of the
Directors, hold 5% or more of the Company’s share capital has

any interest in any of the above mentioned suppliers and customers.
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GENERAL MEETINGS AND BOARD MEETINGS
GENERAL MEETINGS

The first 2008 Extraordinary General Meeting and Class Meeting of
the Company was held on 8 January 2008 at the Meeting Centre,
Shanghai Home You Hotel, 2550 Honggiao Road, Shanghai to
consider the resolutions proposed by the Board. The resolution on
the Company’s additional H share placement to SIA and Temasek
was considered and not passed. The resolution on the Company’s
additional H share placement to CEA Holding was considered and
not passed. The resolution on the amendments to the Articles of
Association was considered and passed, which, conditional upon the
approval of the first and second resolutions, shall not come into force
despite shareholders’ approval by voting. The resolution on connected
transaction in respect of Company’s additional H share placement to
CEA Holding was considered and not passed. The resolutions that
Mr. Stephen Lee Ching Yen and Mr. Chew Choon Seng be appointed
as non-executive Directors of the Company’s fifth session of the Board
were considered and passed, which, conditional upon the approval of
the first and second resolutions, shall not come into force despite
shareholders’ approval by voting. The resolution on purchasing liability
insurance for Directors and senior management of the Company was

considered and passed.

The 2007 Annual General Meeting of the Company was held on 30
June 2008 at the Meeting Centre, Shanghai Home You Hotel, 2550
Hongaiao Road, Shanghai to consider the resolutions proposed by
the Board, and the following were considered and passed: the report
of the Board for 2007, the report of the Supervisory Committee of
the Company for 2007, the audited financial report of the Company
for 2007, the profit distribution proposal of the Company for 2007,
the resolution on appointment of the Company’s PRC domestic
auditors and its international auditors for 2008, the resolution on the
Company’s connected transactions for financial services in the normal
course of business, the resolution on the Company’s connected
transactions for catering services in the normal course of business,
the resolution on the issue of short-term debenture by the Company,
and the resolution on granting a general mandate to issue shares of

the Company.
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BOARD MEETINGS

During 2008, the Board held seventeen meetings and passed,

among others, the following resolutions:

(1) On 1 February 2008, the Board convened its first regular
meeting for 2008, during which the following were considered
and passed: the financial budget report of the Company for
2008, the investment plan of the Company for 2008, the report
of the President, the 2008 financial risk management
authorization to be executed by the Chairman on behalf of the
Company, authorizing the approval personnel and dealers in
respect of financial risk management, and authorizing the
Chairman to engage intermediaries (including legal and financial
advisors) to evaluate the CNAC proposal and related matters

subject to the progress of CEA-SIA plan and specific needs.

(2) On 14 April 2008, the Board convened its second regular
meeting for 2008, during which the following were considered
and passed: the financial report and profit distribution proposal
of the Company for 2007, the Company’s draft results
announcement for 2007, and the resolution on adjusting the
Company’s balance sheet items and corresponding amounts

as at the beginning of 2007.
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On 28 April 2008, the Board convened its third regular meeting
for 2008, during which the following were considered and
passed: the 2008 first quarterly financial report of the Company,
the 2008 first quarterly report of the Company, the “Property
Leasing Renewal Agreement” to be entered into between the
Company and CEA Holding, the “Financial Services Renewal
Agreement” to be entered into between the Company and
Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited, the “Import and
Export Agency Renewal Agreement” to be entered into
between the Company and Eastern Aviation Import & Export
Company, the “Maintenance Services Renewal Agreement”
to be entered into between the Company and Shanghai
Eastern Aviation Equipment Manufacturing Corporation, the
“Catering Services Agreement” to be entered into between
the Company and Eastern Air Catering Investment Co. Ltd.,
the “Sales Agency Services Renewal Agreement” to be entered
into between the Company and four other companies including
Shanghai DongMei Aviation Tourism Co., Ltd., and the
“Advertising Services Renewal Agreement” to be entered into
between the Company and Shanghai Eastern Aviation
Advertising Company Limited, and the Chairman of the
Company be authorized to release the notice for the 2007

annual general meeting of the Company before 15 May 2008.

On 26 August 2008, the Board convened its fourth regular
meeting for 2008, during which the following were considered
and passed: the interim financial report of the Company for
2008, the interim report and summary of the Company for
2008, the “Administrative Measures to Prevent Fund
Appropriation by Controlling Shareholders and Related
Parties”, and the internal control self-appraisal report for the
first half of 2008.
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On 28 October 2008, the Board convened its fifth regular
meeting for 2008, during which the following were considered
and passed: the 2008 third quarterly financial report of the
Company, the 2008 third quarterly report of the Company, the
resolution on connected transactions for automobile repairing
services in the normal course of business, and the final reform
report on specific corporate governance activities of the

Company.

On 25 February 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened
its eighth meeting, during which the resolution that it would
not give further consideration to the CNAC proposal was

considered and passed.

On 14 April 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened its
ninth (1) meeting, and approved the Company’s refinancing
by certain of its self-owned aircraft (including A340-300 and
A300-600R models) and authorized the President for specific

implementation.

On 13 May 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened its
ninth (2) meeting, during which the resolution to be proposed
to the shareholders’ general meeting regarding the granting
of general mandate to the Board to issue shares of the

Company.

On 11 June 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened its
tenth meeting, and approved the introduction of 16 Airbus
AB30 series aircraft and authorized the President for specific

implementation.
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On 30 June 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened its
eleventh meeting, during which the following were approved:
the establishment of a wholly-owned business flight services
company by the Company as, tentatively, 37 & H B H# AR 7%
AR A 7] (Eastern Guixiang Charter Flight Services Co., Ltd.)
with a registered capital of RMB50 million; and that the
depreciation period of three AS00-600R freighters remodeled
from passenger aircrafts be adjusted to five year commencing
from the completion date of remodeling based on their

performance and stability.

On 15 July 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened its
twelfth meeting, during which the “Status report on the reform
of specific corporate governance activities of China Eastern
Airlines Corporation Limited” was considered and passed, and
relevant disclosure to the public on the website of Shanghai
Stock Exchange upon the request of the regulatory authorities

was approved.

On 30 July 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened its
thirteenth meeting, during which the “Self-inspection report in
respect of fund appropriation by the controlling shareholder
and related parties of China Eastern Airlines Corporation

Limited” was considered and passed.

On 28 August 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened
its fourteenth meeting, during which the sale and leaseback
of 11 aircraft to be delivered prior to July 2009 was conditionally
agreed, and the restructuring of the Shanghai Security
Department of the Company into a wholly-owned company
as, tentatively, S M E AR 7 A R 2 &) (CEA Ground Services
Co., Ltd.) was approved.

On 2 December 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened
its fifteenth meeting, and approved the establishment of the

Company'’s Taiwan office.
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15) On 10 December 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened

its sixteenth meeting, during which the following resolutions
were considered and passed: the “China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited satisfies the conditions for non-public
issuance of A shares of the Company to specific placees”,
the “Proposal for the non-public issuance of A shares of the
Company to specific placees by China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited”, the “Proposal for the specific issuance
of H shares of the Company to specific placees by China
Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited”, the “Plan for the non-
public issuance of A shares of the Company by China Eastern
Airlines Corporation Limited”, the “Authorization to the Board
at the shareholders’ meeting to proceed with the matters
relating to the non-public issuance of A shares of the Company
and the specific issuance of H shares of the Company”, the
“Feasibility report on the use of the proceeds from the non-
public issuance of A shares of the China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited”, the “Waiver by the shareholders of China
Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited at the shareholders’
meeting in relation to the requirement of a general offer by
China Eastern Air Holding Company”, the “Regulation on the
management of the proceeds of China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited”, the “Proposal relating to the convening
of the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting and class meetings
of the shareholders of A shares and H shares of the Company”,
and the “Publication or provision of corporate communication
on the Company’s website to the shareholders of H shares of

the Company”.
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On 12 December 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened
its seventeenth meeting, and approved the followings: the
resignation of Mr. Li Fenghua as the Director and Chairman of
the fifth session of the Board due to reallocation of
appointment; at the recommendation of CEA Holding, the
nomination of Mr. Liu Shaoyong as the candidate for Director
of the fifth session of the Board; the resignation of Mr. Cao
Jianxiong as the Director of the fifth session of the Board and
President of the Company due to reallocation of appointment;
and, at the recommendation of CEA Holding, the appointment
of Mr. Ma Xulun as the President of the Company and the
nomination as the candidate for Director of the fifth session of
the Board.

On 29 December 2008, the fifth session of the Board convened
its eighteenth meeting, during which the following
were considered and passed: the revised “Proposal for the
non-public issuance of A shares to specific placees by the
Company”, the revised “Proposal for the specific issuance of
H shares to specific placees by the Company”, the
“Amendments to the relevant clauses of the articles of
association of the Company in connection with the non-public
issuance of A shares and specific issuance of H shares of the
Company”, the revised “Plan for the non-public issuance of A
shares by the Company”, and the revised “Feasibility report
on the use of the proceeds from the non-public issuance of A

shares of the Company”.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its connected persons or
their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) are
governed by and have to comply with the requirements for

disclosure under the Listing Rules.

(i) On9 November 2007, CEA Holding entered into a CEA Holding
subscription agreement with the Company to subscribe in cash
for 1,100,418,000 new H shares in the Company at the
subscription price of HK$3.80 per share with the aggregate
subscription price of HK$4,181,588,400. As CEA Holding
holds approximately 59.67% of the issued share capital of the
Company, this transaction entered into between the Company
and CEA Holding constituted connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules. As of 9 August 2008, the
transaction contemplated under the CEA Holding subscription
agreement between CEA Holding and the Company cannot
proceed to completion. Details are set out in the
announcements of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated
2 September 2007, 9 November 2007, 8 January 2008, 21
January 2008, 26 February 2008 and 9 August 2008 and its
circular dated 23 November 2007.
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On 10 December 2008, CEA Holding entered into an A share
subscription agreement (the “Original A Share Subscription
Agreement”) with the Company to subscribe for new A shares
to be issued by the Company. Simultaneously with the entering
into of the Original A Share Subscription Agreement, CES
Global entered into an H share subscription agreement with
the Company (the “Original H Share Subscription Agreement”)
to subscribe for new H shares to be issued by the Company.
Subsequently, the parties made adjustments to certain terms
of the Original A Share Subscription Agreement and the Original
H Share Subscription Agreement; and on 29 December 2008,
(@) CEA Holding entered into a revised A share subscription
agreement with the Company to subscribe in cash for
1,437,375,000 new A shares in the Company at the
subscription price of RMB3.87 per share with a total
subscription price of RMB5,562,641,250; and (b) CES Global
entered into a revised H share subscription agreement with
the Company to subscribe in cash for 1,437,375,000 new H
shares in the Company at the subscription price of HK$1.00
per share with a total subscription price of RMB1,437,375,000,
respectively. The Original A Share Subscription Agreement and
the Original H Share Subscription Agreement were cancelled
accordingly. As CEA Holding holds approximately 59.67% of
the issued share capital of the Company, the transaction
entered into between the Company and CEA Holding
constituted a connected transaction of the Company under
the Listing Rules. As CES Global is an indirectly wholly owned
subsidiary of CEA Holding, the transaction entered into
between the Company and CES Global constituted a
connected transaction of the Company. For information about
the principal terms of these transactions, please refer to the
announcements of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated
10 December 2008, 24 December 2008, 29 December 2008
and 26 February 2009 and its circulars dated 8 January 2009
and 10 February 2009.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

To regulate the continuing business relationships between the Group
and CEA Holding and certain of its associates, and in compliance
with the applicable requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules, the Company has entered into various agreements with

BFERERS
BRBASEEERMEBRNFEXKHE
R WiBSF FMARAE14AZIE TAYE A
ﬁi ARRHEREFMEEBNETKE
NEIEMBFEBERZHILEHF L ZEW

certain members of the CEA Holding Group in respect of the renewal FEoREWRNT
of certain existing continuing connected transactions. These
agreements are as follows:

Agreements

ik

Counterparties and connected person relationship

AR REEALHER

Property Leasing Renewal
Agreement

NEEEEH G

Financial Services Renewal
Agreement

MRREER G

Import and Export Agency
Renewal Agreement

EHORBERGE

Maintenance Services Renewal
Agreement

TERBER G

Catering Services Agreement

mEEERKHS

Sales Agency Services Renewal
Agreements

HEHERBERBLL S

Advertising Services Renewal
Agreement

RERELHGE

Automobile Repairing Service
Agreement

RELERBHE

CEA Holding
RHEE

EMEEYKEREMLAT (Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited) (the
“Finance Company”), which is interested as to approximately 46.25% by, and thus an associate of,

CEA Holding
REERBEREER aﬁmw all)  EA46.25%ERmRMEEES - R TAE
BEARMEERKERER,

Bz L O AR AF] (Eastern Aviation Import & Export Company) (the “Import & Export Company’),
which is interested as to 55% by, and thus an associate of, CEA Holding

RAMEERNBRAR ((RAUELADE]) - Hoo%EmmRNEEES - Kyt FAEBEA

HERAMERIEREAF Shanghai Eastern Aviation Equipment Manufacturing Corporation) (the
“Maintenance Company”), which is a wholly-owned subsidiary; and thus an associate, of CEA Holding

EERNMERBRERR (RARXELR]) - DRAKENZERBEAR - ARTAEBEA

BEHMERRIZERRAA (Eastern Air Catering Investment Co. Ltd.) (the “Holding Catering
Company”), which is interested as to 55% by, and thus an associate of, CEA Holding

RIBERMREBRAA (BERAAR]) - Ho5%ERmRMEEHES - Rt TAEBEA

A number of subsidiaries or associates of CEA Holding (collectively, the “Sales Companies”)

RNEESEMBLATRBEA (R RERELR)

HERAMEERAR D (Shanghal Eastern Aviation Advertising Company Limited) (the “Advertising
Company”), which is interested as to 55% by, and thus an associate of, CEA Holding

EERIRZERERAT ((RMERAR)]) - Hos%EamRMEEHE - Rl TAEBEA

On or about the end of August 2007, £/ER A MZEE AR 27 (CEA Development Co.) (‘CEA
Development”) has become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of CEA Holding, a contiolling shareholder
of the Company and hence a connected person of the Company

RIZBLE\ARGAR - DERIMEERERAT ((RMEXRA]) EXARL AR
RRMEENF2ENBELR AMARRANEEAL
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Details of the continuing connected transactions are set out as

follows:

(1) YFHEEAL L %

(1) Property Leasing Renewal Agreement

On 12 May, 2005, the Company entered into a property leasing
agreement with CEA Holding, 1 BIEE 5 M z= it 2 & (China

Eastern Air Northwest Company) (“CEA Northwest”) and &
Bl S H M ZEEF A A) (China Eastern Air Yunnan Company)
(“CEA Yunnan”), pursuant to which the Company will lease

from CEA Holding, for use by the Group in its daily airlines and

other business operations (“Existing Property Leasing

Agreement”):

(i

a maximum of altogether 33 land properties owned by
CEA Holding through, and registered in the name of, CEA
Northwest, covering an aggregate site area of
approximately 692,539 square metres located primarily
in Xi'an, Xianyang and Yongdeng, together with a total of
225 building properties and related construction,
infrastructure and facilities occupying an aggregate floor

area of approximately 269,148 square metres; and

a maximum of altogether 7 land properties owned by CEA
Holding through, and registered in the name of, CEA
Yunnan, covering an aggregate site area of approximately
420,768 square metres primarily located in Kunming,
together with a total of 81 building properties and related
construction, infrastructure and facilities occupying an
aggregate floor area of approximately 457,722 square

metres.
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On 29 April 2008, the Company entered into an agreement
relating to the renewal of the Existing Property Leasing
Agreement in substantially the same terms for a further term
of 3 years, commencing from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2011,
except that in relation to the group (i) properties above where
previously there will be a total of 81 building properties and
related construction, infrastructure and facilities, it will instead,
be a total of 77 building properties and related construction,
infrastructure and facilities occupying an aggregate floor area
of approximately 452,949 square metres. The group (i)
properties above will continue to be leased by the Group
without substantial changes. To streamline administrative
matters, CEA Holding is the only counterparty to the Property

Leasing Renewal Agreement.

Financial Services Renewal Agreement

The Finance Company is a non-bank finance company
approved and regulated by the relevant PRC regulatory
authorities including the People’s Bank of China and the China

Banking Regulatory Commission.

On 12 May 2005, the Company entered into a financial services
agreement with the Finance Company, pursuant to which the
Finance Company will from time to time provide the Group
with a range of financial services including (i) deposit services,
(i) loan and financing services and (i) other financial services
such as the provision of trust loans, financial guarantees, credit
facilities and credit references (the scope of “other financial
services” under the Financial Services Renewal Agreement is
not limited and different services may be provided to the Group
as and when they are needed) (“Existing Financial Services

Agreement”).

On 29 April 2008, the Company entered into an agreement
relating to the renewal of the Existing Financial Services
Agreement in substantially the same terms for a further term

of 3 years.
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Pursuant to the Financial Services Renewal Agreement, the
Finance Company shall deposit all moneys deposited by the
Group under the agreement with commercial bank(s) in China,
including, for example, Industrial and Commercial Bank of
China, China Construction Bank, Bank of Agriculture and Bank
of Communications. The Finance Company has also
undertaken under the Financial Services Renewal Agreement
that all outstanding loans it provides to members of the CEA
Holding Group will not at any time and from time to time exceed
the aggregate amount of its equity capital, surplus reserves

and deposits received from other parties.

Import and Export Agency Agreement

The Import & Export Company is a company approved by the
PRC Ministry of Commerce and is licensed to engage in the
business of import and export of aircraft and related aviation

equipment and materials in the PRC.

On 12 May 2005, the Company entered into an import and
export agency agreement with the Import & Export Company,
pursuant to which the Import & Export Company will from time
to time as its agent provide the Group with agency services
for the import and export of aircraft and related raw materials,
accessories, machinery and equipment required in the daily
airlines operations and civil aviation business of the Group

(“Existing Import and Export Agency Agreement”).

On 29 April 2008, the Company entered into an agreement
relating to the renewal of the Existing Import and Export Agency
Agreement in substantially the same terms for a further term

of 3 years, commencing from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2011.
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Maintenance Services Renewal Agreement

The Maintenance Company is a company located in Shanghai,
which is principally engaged in the businesses of providing
maintenance, repair and overhaul services in respect of aircraft
and aviation equipment, and the manufacturing and sale of

related equipment and materials.

On 12 May 2005, the Company entered into a maintenance
services agreement with the Maintenance Company, pursuant
to which the Maintenance Company will from time to time
provide the Group with comprehensive services in relation to
maintenance, repair and overhaul of aircraft and aviation
equipment, and procurement of related equipment and
materials required in the daily operations of the Group (“Existing

Maintenance Services Agreement”).

On 29 April 2008, the Company entered into an agreement
relating to the renewal of the Existing Maintenance Services
Agreement in substantially the same terms for a further term

of 3 years, commencing from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2011.

Catering Services Agreement

The Holding Catering Company is the holding company whose
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of providing
catering and related services for airline companies, and have
established operating centres at various airports located in
Anhui, Jiangxi, Jinan, Kunming, Ningbo, Qingdao, Shanghai,

Gansu, Wuhan, Xi’an and Yantai.

(4)
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On 12 May 2005, the Company entered into several catering
services agreements with the Catering Companies respectively
pursuant to which the Catering Companies will from time to
time provide the Group with in-flight catering services (including
the supply of in-flight meals and beverages, cutlery and
tableware) and related storage and complementary services
required in the daily airline operations and civil aviation business
of the Group (“Catering Services”). The Catering Companies
provides their services in accordance with the specifications
and schedules as from time to time specified by the relevant
member(s) of the Group to accommodate its operation needs

(collectively the “Existing Catering Services Agreements”).

On 29 April 2008, the Company entered into an agreement
with the Holding Catering Company, pursuant to which the
subsidiaries of the Holding Catering Company shall provide
the Catering Services in substantially the same terms as set

out in the Existing Catering Services Agreements.

Sales Agency Services Renewal Agreements

The Sales Companies are companies principally engaged in
the business of providing agency services in relation to sale of
domestic and international air tickets and complementary
services such as tourism services (including hotel reservation
and sale of souvenirs and other hospitality products). The Sales
Companies have established local operating centres in

Shanghai, Xi’an, Kunming and other cities and areas in China.

On 12 May 2005, the Company entered into several sales
agency services agreements with the Sales Companies,
pursuant to which the Sales Companies will from time to time
provide the Group as its agents with services for sale of air
tickets and the provision of complementary services required
in the daily airline operations and civil aviation business of the

Group (collectively “Existing Sales Agency Agreements”).

(6)

HEEEMERBERARN —TT\£F% 83

ZHES

ilE)

ﬁé:;%ﬁﬂiﬂﬁ +=H  AAFH

FIERMBEMARGLE THERE
AR5 e TJ%?&H%%E F RFURMA T

5 ANB [ AN S B R A A R AR AR 7S (B2
EEEREELRRN RANER) -
AERAEEHERITEERRME
BHAHENAREE R EEERS (TH
ZRERBE]) - RRRAFRER
SENBRK B AR TR IETE R
RESHERIEHRY - WEAEZER
Z (i PRAMEEERG hE])

RZZEZNFOA-+TAA AR
R R mAR DRI 'TszlitTﬂ%
& BERRAARHH B AR R RE
Pz BCE IRFS - IR EBRIRE M
ZERCE RS AR -

1 32 3 B 1L 2 IR 75 A B e

BEREAFNEEXHBIRHEA
0 BB A AR Y 2R K i B AR A% O AR

R - PIIBEIERTE - HEL M
HAh i fs B an B 1B AR TS © HERAIE
REELE A% BERREMPE
AR RA B EET L
R-ZEZTRFHAA+T A ARFHE

BERIBQBFI LA THREHERRE
R whas - UL - BERIERF
AR AR A S D A EBERHE
BEHERS - ARRERHAEERE
L EERRMEBTAFENEER
B (il A REHERIERE %
&) o



84 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Annual Report 2008

Report of Directors E=S @i =

(7

®)

i)
M

On 29 April 2008, the Company entered into various renewal
agreements relating to the renewal of the respective Existing
Sales Agreements in substantially the same terms for a term of
further 3 years, commencing from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2011.

Advertising Services Renewal Agreement

The Advertising Company is a company principally engaged
in the businesses of multi-media advertising operations,
including advertising design and production, and organising

promotional functions and campaigns.

On 12 May 2005, the Company entered into an advertising
services agreement with the Advertising Company, pursuant
to which the Advertising Company will from time to time provide
the Group with multi-media advertising services to promote
its business and to organise promotional functions and
campaigns to enhance its reputation in the civil aviation industry

(“Existing Advertising Services Agreement”).

On 29 April 2008, the Company entered into a renewal
agreement relating to the renewal of the Existing Advertising
Services Agreement in substantially the same terms for a term
of further 3 years, commencing from 1 July 2008 to 30 June
2011.

Automobile Repairing Service Agreement

CEA Development is a company principally engaged in the
business of providing various repairing and maintenance
services, including but not limited to, ground equipments, metal
materials, construction materials, chemical materials,

telecommunication equipment and electronic appliances.

On 28 October 2008, the Company and CEA Development
entered into an automobile repairing service agreement,
pursuant to which, CEA Development will from time to time
provide maintenance and repair service to the Company’s
automobiles that are used in ground services and daily
operations for a term commencing from 1 January 2008 to 31
December 2010.
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The following table sets out the annual caps for the continuing
connected transactions between the Group and members of CEA
Holding for 2008:

Transactions

HEREMERGERAT —TZ)\FF# 85

2%

RS

TERAEAAEERRMERE TRER
AR ERERZIT TN _ZT \FEH
B HRE

Annual cap

for connected
transactions
conducted in 2008

—RRN\EFE
x5 RERSRE
(RMB’000)
(AR®T )
1. Property leasing YHEHEE 60,000
2. Financial services B 15 AR
deposit and other financial services 15 38 N A B 75 AR 7S 2,500,000
3. Import/export agency services ORI ARTE 42,700*
4. Maintenance services HERRTS 16,000
5. Catering services MR Z RS 469,900
6. Sales agency services MR SHE IR AR TS 14,920
7. Advertising services EE R 21,000
8. Automobile repairing services B MRS 31,000

* The annual cap in 2008 for this continuing connected transaction has been
exceeded. Details of which are set out in the announcement of Company issued
in Hong Kong on 15 April 2009.

Details of the Group’s continuing connected transactions with the
Company’s connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules)
during the year ended 31 December 2008 are set out in note 44 to
the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The Company’s independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
such continuing connected transactions during the year 2008 and
confirmed that:

(@) the transactions have been entered into by the Group in the
ordinary and usual course of its business;

(b) the transactions have been entered into either (i) on normal
commercial terms (by reference to transactions of a similar
nature made by similar entities within China) or (i) (where there
is no available comparison) on terms that are fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the Company are
concerned; and
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(c) thetransactions have been entered into either (i) in accordance
with the terms of the agreement governing each such
connected transaction or (i) (where there is no such agreement)

on terms no less favorable than terms available to third parties.

In respect of each continuing connected transaction disclosed in
note 44 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS, the Company confirms that it has complied with the relevant

requirements under the Listing Rules.

Details of the other related party transactions entered by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2008 are set out in note 44 to
the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. These
transactions do not constitute connected transactions under the

Listing Rules.
In relation to future deliveries of aircraft, as at 31 December 2008,

the following are details of aircrafts on order which are scheduled

to be delivered:

Type of aircraft

Number of aircraft
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Year to be delivered

by Bt REBE NEFH
A320 10 2009
B737-700 7 2009
B737-800 3 2009
A320 14 2010
B737-700 4 2010
B737-800 2 2010
B787 4 2010

As at the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any
aircraft which is subject to options exercisable during a period of

not less than 12 months from 31 December 2008.
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STAFF QUARTERS

Details of the Group’s staff quarters are set out in note 37 to the

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS.

MATERIAL LITIGATION

In 2005, the family members of certain victims in the aircraft accident
(the aircraft was then owned and operated by China Eastern Air
Yunnan Company), which occurred in Baotou on 21 November
2004, sued the Company in a U.S. court for compensation. On 5
July 2007, pursuant to several conditions with which the Company
has complied, the Superior Court of the State of California ordered
the action stayed on the grounds of forum non-conveniens for the
purpose of permitting proceedings in the PRC. On 20 February
2008, the plaintiff filed a motion with the Superior Court of the State
of California to lift the stay, but the motion was rejected by the
court on 6 May 2008. The plaintiff filed a second motion to lift the
stay on 10 July 2008. On 27 August 2008, the Superior Court of
the State of California rejected the motion of the plaintiff again.
After the case entered the procedures on appeal in the California
Court of Appeal, the Court of Appeal of California issued an option
on 26 February 2009, dismissing the appeal of the plaintiff and
affirming the original order. On 16 March 2009, the Chinese counsel
of the plaintiff sued the Company on behalf of the family members
of victims in the Beijing No. 2 Intermediate People’s Court. The
case is under the filing procedure and no official summons from
the court has been received by the Company. The management of
the Group believe that a negative outcome of the case will not
have an adverse effect on the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company. The Group intends to provide updates
to the shareholders regarding the progress of the litigation. As at
31 December 2008, the Group was not involved in any other

litigation, arbitration or claim of material importance.
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

0)

(i)

)

(iv)

On 28 August 2007, China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd (FF Bl & &
#Ze B PR A 7)) (“China Cargo”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into the sale and purchase
agreements and the lease agreements with, inter alia, GE
Commercial Aviation Services Limited, regarding the sale and
leasing-back of six MD11F aircraft. Details are set out in the
announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated
19 March 2009.

On 30 January 2008, the Company entered into an aircraft
purchase agreement in Shanghai with Boeing Company to
purchase 30 Boeing B737NG series aircraft (with engines).
Details are set out in the announcement of the Company issued
in Hong Kong dated 30 January 2008 and its circular dated
10 April 2008.

On 27 June 2008, the Company entered into the sale and
purchase agreements and the lease agreements with ICBC
Financial Leasing Co., Ltd. (TR & @A EAR A R)), regarding
the sale and leasing-back of three Airbus A340 series aircraft.
Details are set out in the announcement of the Company issued
in Hong Kong dated 4 July 2008 and its circular dated 25 July
2008.

On 15 January 2009, CEA Holding (as the principal), Eastern
Air Group Finance Company Limited (SRfn £ BB AR & (T
X)) (the “Finance Company”) (as the trustee) and the
Company (as the borrower) entered into an entrusted loan
agreement in Shanghai, pursuant to which, the Company shall
obtain a short-term loan from CEA Holding through the Finance
Company. Details are set out in the overseas regulatory
announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated
15 January 2009.

EXRER

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)
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(v)  On the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 26 February 2009, the shareholders of the Company
approved certain amendments to the articles of association
of the Company. Details are set out in the circular of the
Company issued in Hong Kong dated 8 January 2009 and
the announcement of the results of such extraordinary general
meeting of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 26
February 2009.

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS’ OPINION

Independent Directors of the Company have performed auditing
work and issued an independent opinion on the guarantees the
Company has provided, as required by the relevant requirements
of the CSRC. The Company has strictly observed relevant laws
and regulations as well as its articles of association while it has
also imposed strict control on the guarantees provided. As at 31
December 2008, none of the Company and its subsidiaries included
in the consolidated financial statements has provided any guarantee
to the Company’s controlling shareholder and other related parties,

other non-legal person entity units and individuals.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong
and PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company
(registered accountants in the PRC) were the Company’s

international and domestic auditors in 2008, respectively.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Shaoyong

Chairman

Shanghai, the PRC
15 April 2009
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has established a formal and appropriate corporate
governance structure. The Company has also placed emphasis on
the corporate governance principle of having transparency,

accountability and safeguarding the interests of all shareholders.

The Directors believe that sound corporate governance is essential
to the development of the Company’s operations. The Board
regularly reviews our corporate governance practices to ensure
that the Company operates in accordance with the laws, regulations
and requirements of the listing jurisdictions, and that the Company

continuously implements corporate governance of a high quality.

The Company’s corporate governance practices include but are

not limited to the following:

Articles of association, rules of meeting of general meetings, rules
of meeting of the Board, rules of meeting of the Supervisory
Committee, working regulations of independent directors,
management regulations of the connected transactions,
constitutional documents of the audit committee, constitutional
documents of the planning and development committee, and
constitutional documents of the remuneration and appraisal

committee.

As at 31 December 2008 (the “Reporting Period”) and as at the
date of the announcement of this annual report, the Board has
reviewed the relevant provisions and corporate governance
practices under the codes of corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company, and took the view that the Company’s
corporate governance practices during the financial year ended 31
December 2008 met the requirements under the code provisions
in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules (the “Code”). In certain aspects, the code of
corporate governance adopted by the Company is more stringent
than the provisions set out in the Code. The following sets out

aspects which are more stringent than the Code.
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Major aspects which are more stringent than provisions set out in
the Code:

— all members of the audit committee are independent non-

executive directors.

— 17 meetings of the Board were held during the financial year
of 2008.

— other than the audit committee and the remuneration and
appraisal committee, the Company has also established a
governance committee, which is known as the planning and

development committee.

BOARD

The Company is managed by the Board. The Board is responsible
for the leadership and control of the Company. The Directors are
jointly responsible for implementing businesses of the Company

by directing and supervising the affairs of the Company.

DIRECTORS

At present, the Board consists of 10 Directors, including five
independent non-executive Directors. During the first extraordinary
general meeting in 2009 held on 3 February 2009, the shareholders
of the Company approved the appointment of Mr. Liu Shaoyong
and Mr. Ma Xulun as directors of the fifth session of the Board,
while Mr. Li Fenghua and Mr. Cao Jianxiong were no longer the

directors of the Company.

All Directors shall retire in the third annual general meeting following

their appointment, but are eligible for re-election.

Names, personal particulars and effective date of appointment of

the Directors are set out in page 46 to page 64 of this report.
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Independent non-executive Directors of the Company shall possess
extensive skills and experience. They shall be able to play their
roles of supervising the checks and balances to the fullest extent
to protect the interests of shareholders and the Company as a
whole. The Board considers that they shall be able to exercise
independent judgment effectively, which complies with guidelines

on their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received the annual confirmation letters from each of the

independent non-executive Directors on their independence.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are
appointed for a term of 3 years. The formal appointment letters
and the articles of association of the Company have set out the

terms and conditions of their appointment.

The Company has provided liability insurance for Directors and

senior management in August 2008.

Other than working relationships, Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company do not have any financial, business

or family connection with one another.

POWERS OF THE BOARD

On a periodic basis, the Board reviews the relevant performance
against proposed budgets and business objectives of each
operating unit. It also exercises a number of powers retained by

the Board, including the following:

— responsibility for convening general meetings and reporting

to shareholders on its work;

—  implementing resolutions passed in general meetings;

— deciding on the operating plan and investment proposals of

the Company;
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- formulating the annual preliminary and final budget proposals;

- formulating the Company’s profit distribution proposal and the

proposal to offset losses;

- formulating the Company’s proposals to increase or reduce

the registered capital and proposals to issue debt securities;

— drawing up proposals for the Company’s merger, demerger

and dissolution;

— deciding on the Company’s internal management structure;

— employing or dismissing the Company’s President and
secretary to the Board; appointment or dismissal of the Vice
President and chief financial officer of the Company on the
nomination of the President, and the determination of their

remuneration;

—  formulating the management systems of the Company;

- formulating proposals to amend the articles of association of

the Company;

— discharging any other powers and functions granted in general

meetings.

The Board is also responsible for the completeness of financial
information of the Company and is responsible for maintaining an
effective internal control system and for risk management, as well
as preparing the financial statements. Setting the business
objectives and overseeing the daily operations are the
responsibilities of the chief executive officer. The Company’s articles
of association specify the duties and functions of the Board and
management. The Board periodically reviews the duties and
functions of the chief executive officer and the powers delegated

to him to ensure that such arrangements are appropriate.
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In order to ensure the balance of powers and authorization, the
roles of the Chairman and the chief executive officer have been
clearly defined. The Chairman of the Company is Mr. Liu Shaoyong,
and the chief executive officer is Mr. Ma Xulun, a Director. There
are also other senior officers who are responsible for the daily

management within their scope of duties.

MEETING OF THE BOARD

The Chairman leads the Board to ensure that the Board performs
its various duties effectively and he is responsible for drawing up
the agenda of the meeting of the Board and considering other
matters other Directors propose to be included in the agenda. The
agenda together with documents of the Board should be, as far as
practicable, circulated at least 3 days prior to the meeting of the
Board or its committees. The Chairman is also obliged to ensure
that all the Directors are suitably briefed on matters to be raised in
the meeting of the Board. The Chairman ensures that the Directors
receive information that is accurate, timely and clear. Through on-
the-job training of Directors and continued participation in meetings
of the Board and of committees of the Board and interviews with
key persons in headquarters and other departments, the Directors
are encouraged to update their knowledge of technology and their

understanding of the Group.

The Company has established a special unit to work for the Board.
All the Directors can access the service of the company secretary.
The company secretary periodically updates the Directors of the
latest information on governance and regulation. The Directors may
seek independent professional advice through the Chairman for
the purpose of performing their duties, with the cost to the
Company. Both the audit committee and the remuneration and

appraisal committee may also seek professional advice.
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The company secretary is responsible for the records of the board
meetings. These minutes of meetings together with other
documents for the board meetings shall be made available to all
the Directors. Board meetings are meant to enable the Directors to

have open and frank discussions.

In order to ensure sound corporate governance, the Board has
established 3 committees: an audit committee, remuneration and
appraisal committee, and planning and development committee
with their terms of reference drawn up in accordance with the
principles set out in the Code. The company secretary drafts the
minutes of meetings for these committees, and the committees

report to the Directors.

The Board has held 17 meetings during the Reporting Period. The
following tables show the attendance rate of each Director at
shareholders’ general meetings, board meetings and meetings of

these specialized committees:
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Board Meetings General Meetings
Attendance/ Attendance/
No. of meetings No. of meetings
Exg REKXE
Directors HERE, HERE,
BE SRRH BRRE
Li Fenghua Ty 17/17 2/2
Li Jun FE 15/17 1/2
Luo Chaogeng EHE 12/17 2/2
Cao Jianxiong B 12/17 2/2
Luo Zhuping L 17/17 2/2
Independent non-executive Director B IERITES
Hu Honggao S 17/17 1/2
Independent non-executive Director B IEMITES
Peter Lok S 15/17 0/2
Independent non-executive Director BN IETES
Wu Baiwang RSB 17/17 2/2
Independent non-executive Director B IERITES
Zhou Ruijin Aing 14/17 2/2
Independent non-executive Director B IEITES
Xie Rong FIES 16/17 2/2
Audit Committee: e eI
Members Attendance/No. of meetings
=8 HERE, ERRE
Xie Rong Gl 4/4
Hu Honggao RS 3/4
Zhou Ruijin Ame 2/4
Planning and Development Committee: REEREZEEE :
Members Attendance/No. of meetings
£8 HERE,ERRH
Wu Baiwang REH 2/2
Luo Chaogeng EHRE 2/2
Luo Zhuping LT 2/2




Corporate Governance

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

All the Directors shall declare to the Board upon their first
appointment their capacities as Directors and any other positions
held in other institutions, the declaration of which shall be renewed
once a year. When the Board discusses any motion or transaction
and considers any Director has any conflict of interest, the Director
shall declare his interest and abstain from voting, and will excuse
himself as appropriate. The Company shall, pursuant to the
guidelines, request from Directors their confirmation if they or their
associates are connected with any transactions entered into by
the Company or its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.
Material transactions which have been confirmed as having been
entered into with any connected person have been disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements prepared in accordance with

IFRS of this annual report.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code of Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as the securities transactions code for Directors. Each
of the Directors and Supervisors of the Company has been issued

with a copy of the Model Code upon their appointment.

All the Directors and Supervisors of the Company have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code in 2008.

The Company has also adopted the related provisions set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, and has established its Code of
Conduct for Securities Transactions by Employees of the Company
according to its own situation and with reference to the Model Code
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The aforesaid Code
of Conduct shall apply to the conduct of dealings in the securities
of the Company by the Supervisors and senior management of the

Company.
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In addition, pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules for
Shares of the Shanghai Stock Exchange, the shares of the Company
transferred by each of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company every year are not allowed to exceed
25% of the total number of shares held by each of them, and they
are not allowed to purchase the shares of the Company within 6
months after they have sold their shares. They are also not allowed
to sell the shares of the Company within 6 months after they have
bought the shares of the Company. Additionally, within 6 months
after they have left their appointment, they are not allowed to transfer

their shares of the Company held by them.

All the employees who may have unpublished price-sensitive
information related to the Group are also required to comply with
the Model Code. During the Reporting Period, the Company is not

aware of any breach of laws and regulations.

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation

of the financial statements of the Group.

The responsibility statement made by the Company’s auditors in
respect of the financial statements is set out on page 110 to page

111 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL
Internal control system

The Board shall be responsible for the overall internal control system
of the Company/Group and periodically reviews the effectiveness
of the internal control system through the audit committee. The
internal control system is essential to risk management which, in
turn, is important in ensuring that operational objectives can be
achieved. Internal control procedures are designed to prevent assets
from unauthorized use or disposal, to ensure the maintenance of

appropriate accounting records and to provide reliable financial

= BEBELEBBSZZMRELTR
ADBRTE - ARIESE EFMSREEA
EEFEERNARRRN MSEBBERE
AR ARG @EH25% WEETHZ
BANEARANEETEARRED - BEA
ZENEARARATNEBITEHANRFRND
FZHOMEBEERANEAR - W N GEEFR
RAENARBRRG

AR ERE A BEAEEENAEEN
ARRAREGERER - TANE (REST
A) o RARNARERARALREFERIEMREZ
BT

EERUBBRRAAENER

SRR EARREANEREYBRERAES
ST -

ARRZBEN I SRR AEZ B RE L
BRANENAFRFEII0EIA -

R AR EE 1=
R BRE I I

2EHANF/ EENATETSIE S
- WEBAEZEZE ST Rl
ﬁ"*ﬁ o AN )R B B 1R Il E ¥

#@F%&E‘WE% ifn [ B & 1R ¥
'J BEEEETEE o AL

ERRF R AREEEUN REEEFR

HRIBEE - BREE NGRS UR

5+ 30 B TR A SE 0 B IS & B R EB

ﬂﬂH’r

i i
= B xa ER

]]5{ un}* Hm

\
’

iy

iR =

He
u



Corporate Governance| P&

information either for internal use or for dissemination externally.
However, the control procedures aim at reasonably (but not
absolutely) assuring that there will not be material misrepresentation,
loss or unlawful conduct. The internal control system is prepared
in accordance with the relevant laws, supplementary regulations

and constitutional documents.

The Company reviews the effectiveness of its internal control
annually, which includes control over finance, operations,
compliance with laws and regulations as well as the monitoring of
risk management. The results of the review have been reported to

the audit committee and the Board.

The Board confirms that the Company has systems and procedures
in place to identify, manage and report material risks in the course
of achieving its strategic objectives. The Board continue to monitor

risks with the support of the committees and senior management.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company’s internal audit department is responsible for
conducting an independent audit of whether or not the internal
control system is sufficient and effective. The auditing plan is
prepared using a risk based approach and is discussed and finalized
by the audit committee. Other than the pre-determined scope of
work, the department is also required to conduct other specific

audits.

The Group’s internal audit department reports to the chief executive
officer; it may also report directly to the chairman of the audit
committee. All internal audit reports are delivered to the Chairman
of the Board, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, the
management of the audited department and related departments.
The outcome of each audit, in summary, will also be discussed
with the audit committee. The Board and audit committee of the
Company actively monitor the number and seriousness of any
weaknesses or issues identified by the internal audit department,
and the relevant corrective measures taken by the relevant

department.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management involves identifying and managing business risk
effectively, including safety and security, law, environment and

goodwill risk.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Board has not established a designated risk management
committee, but the internal audit department has undertaken related
risk management duties and reports to the audit committee
periodically. It is responsible for coordinating the implementation of

appropriate procedures to manage operational risks including:

—  establishing risk trends and risk management strategy of the

Group and reviewing the risk profile of the Group;

— identifying, assessing and managing material risks the various

operating units of the Group are exposed to;

— examining and assessing the suitability of the Group’s risk

management procedures, systems and internal controls;

— examining and monitoring the compliance of the Group’s risk
management procedures, systems and internal controls,
including whether the Group meets legal and regulatory

requirements during the operation.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee is responsible for reviewing financial reports,
reviewing internal control and corporate governance, and is
responsible for making recommmendations to the Board. The audit
committee comprises Mr. Xie Rong, Mr. Hu Honggao and Mr. Zhou
Ruijin, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Xie Rong, the chairman, possesses professional qualifications in

accounting.
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Constitutional documents of the audit committee are posted on

the website of the Company.

The audit committee held four meetings in 2008. In each meeting,
senior management and external as well as internal auditors were
invited to attend. Based on the reports of the external and internal
auditors, the audit committee conducted audits on accounting
principles and practices, and internal controls adopted by the Group
with a view to compliance with the Listing Rules. The committee
also conducted reviews of audits, internal control, risk management
and financial statements. The Group’s interim results for 2008 and
the final results for 2007 had been discussed in the audit
committee’s meetings before they were submitted to the Board for

approval.

Attendance of members of the audit committee is as follows:

EZZESE_TT/)/\FHEMAE4X
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Attendance/
Directors No. of meetings Attendance
4= BB EBRE e =
Xie Rong FIES 4/4 100%
Hu Honggao RS 3/4 75%
Zhou Ruijin Bine 2/4 50%
The audit committee has also conducted other compliance work Rt 2o BREEE MR _ZET)\FHE

to comply with US reporting requirements in 2008, including review
of the Company’s compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; and
specifically to consider the work undertaken by the management,
including managements’ assessment, to ensure the Company’s
compliance with the internal control regulation (Section 404) of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

In the Reporting Period, the remuneration of the external auditors
is estimated to be RMB18.00 million for the regular annual fee for
audit of the Group’s 2008 financial statements prepared under IFRS
and PRC Accounting Regulations and the other relevant documents
applicable for the purpose of 20-F filing. Audit fees are determined

by the audit committee and approved by the Board.

The audit committee obtained an overall understanding of the non-
audit services and its scope and the related fees, and was satisfied
that the non-audit services (in respect of the nature of service and
the total cost for non-audit services to the regular annual audit fee)
had not affected the independence of the accounting firm. The

non-audit services primarily comprise tax compliance services.

The partner appointed by the external auditor to take responsibility
for the audit has been responsible for the service since 2006.
Pursuant to applicable U.S. securities laws, the partner responsible
for the audit of the Company may not undertake the service for

more than 5 consecutive years.

REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

The remuneration and appraisal committee comprises three
members, namely Mr. Zhou Ruijin, Mr. Luo Chaogeng and Mr. Wu
Baiwang. Mr. Zhou Ruijin, an independent Director, is the chairman
of the committee. After each internal meeting, the remuneration
and appraisal committee reported to the Board. Constitutional
documents of the remuneration and appraisal committee are posted

on the Company’s website.

The remuneration and appraisal committee did not hold any meeting
in 2008.

Under the guidance of the remuneration and appraisal committee,
the Company has provided liability insurance for the Directors,

Supervisors and senior management of the Company in August 2008.

SNEEEETED

EARHERA - SNEFETA L TEE AA
R¥18.008 &8t - BIEREFBEHEAEHE
ZRBER SRS ERMP S ERR
B2 T N\FEMBHREREB20-FF
BREFENETER BAEBRFLEZZ
BERERREREESHE -

EVLZBESEKBE THIIFETREHE
MERER - Xim B IrEa IR (EIRTS
HEEMBEHRNEFETERNIFERET
RIS ERARMNS) BT EDGTE
BRTRBALNE © FEFETIRB EEBERD
FRRSS

SNEEETEIB IR IRB EARRIEANE
BAB ZETNFRETZES - RIZE
AMEBEEFEN - AEARRETNE
BATREBETIIBTIFBSF -

FMREEREES

ARFHMHEEZZBEmBERELE
FARSEEMR AL STAE =AM - /H\EM%
VEEARSEERZTEEER - BRZ
BEeaMeRk HREESMS - HH
HEZZEENERENARAMIL

HNEEZZ B R —TT \FREETT

A_%éz o

EFMEEZZEENEET - ARERN
“ETN\FN\ATKTRRESE EERK
BREEABEERBORRKREER -



Corporate Governance

REMUNERATION POLICY OF DIRECTORS

The policy regarding the remuneration packages of Directors are
aimed primarily at linking the remuneration of Directors of the
Company to their performance which helps to encourage their
performance and their remaining in office. Pursuant to the policy,

Directors are not allowed to approve their own remuneration.

The remuneration of Directors of the Company mainly comprises

basic salary and bonus.

BASIC SALARY

Directors review and approve the basic salary of each Director every
year pursuant to the remuneration policy of the Company. In 2008,
pursuant to the service contracts entered into between the
Company and each of the Directors, Directors are entitled to receive

a fixed basic salary.

BONUS

Bonuses are calculated based on the measurable performance and
contribution of the operating units for which the Directors are

responsible.

REMUNERATION POLICY OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Allowances (before tax) received by the 5 independent non-

executive Directors in 2008 were as follows:

Hu Honggao RMB120,000
Peter Lok HK$120,000
Wu Baiwang RMB120,000
Zhou Ruijin RMB120,000
Xie Rong RMB120,000
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has not established a nomination committee at
present and the Board is directly responsible for nominating
Directors. Pursuant to the articles of association, candidates for
Director shall be nominated by the Board or shareholders, and
nominations shall be submitted to the general meeting as motions

for consideration.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company undertakes that the disclosure it makes is fair and
the reports it provides are comprehensive and transparent. The
ultimate responsibility of the Chairman of the Board is to ensure
effective communication with investors and to ensure that the Board
is aware of the views of major shareholders. Accordingly, the
Chairman is required to meet major shareholders in this regard and
the routine communication of the Board with the major shareholders

is conducted through the company secretary.

The Company has drawn up and implemented an Information
Disclosure and Management System and has further improved the
information disclosure system in order to ensure the accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of information disclosed to public;
the Company has also established an information disclosure office
for which the company secretary is responsible. The information
disclosure office is mainly responsible for the collection, collation
and compilation of basic information for disclosure, and is also
responsible for drawing up the rules and systems for information
disclosure and related internal control and procedures. It is
responsible for monitoring the correct implementation of the various

control measures.
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The Company has also implemented an Investor Relationship
Management System, which specifies the basic principles and the
institutional structure of the investor relationship management, as
well as the duties and responsibilities of investor relationship work,
so as to further foster corporate integrity and discipline, and to
realize standardized operation, with the ultimate aim of maximizing
the corporate value and shareholders’ interests, and ensuring that

benefits of investors are protected.

The Company has released information in relation to its quarterly
results. In the latest annual general meeting held on 30 June 2008
in Shanghai, the meeting was open to all the shareholders and the

media. A total of 26 shareholders attended in person or by proxy.

In the annual general meeting, each matter was proposed as an

individual resolution and voted by poll.

Investors and the public may access our website and download
coverage on such briefings. The website also sets out details of
each of the Group’s operations. Announcements, notices or other
documents issued by the Company may also be downloaded from

the website of the Company.

In 2008, the company secretary and manager of the capital
investment market department held 2 specialized meetings with
securities analysts, and also held 1 press conference with media in
the PRC.

Based on publicly available information and to the best knowledge
of the Directors of the Company, at least 25% of the total issued
share capital of the Company is held by the public. As at 31
December 2008, there were a total of 190,299 shareholders on

the Company’s register of members.
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For any enquiries of the Board, shareholders may use the
shareholders’ hotline 8621-62686268, e-mail at ir@ce-air.com to
contact the company secretary, or they may put forward their
questions in the annual general meeting or extraordinary general
meetings. In respect of the procedures for shareholders to convene
annual general meeting or extraordinary general meetings, they may
make enquiries of the company secretary through the aforesaid

channels.

On behalf of the Board

Liu Shaoyong
Chairman

Shanghai, the PRC
15 April 2009
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Report of the Supervisory Committee | B @ 5=

Dear Shareholders,

In 2008, the members of the Supervisory Committee, basing
themselves on the powers bestowed upon them by the Company
Law and the Articles of Association of the Company and their sense
of responsibility toward all the shareholders, actively carried out
their tasks, faithfully performed their supervisory duties and
protected the legitimate rights and interests of the Company and

of all the shareholders.

I. Meetings Convened by the Supervisory Committee:

1. On 14 April 2008, the Supervisory Committee held a meeting,
during which it adopted the Report of the Supervisory
Committee for the year 2007, and resolved that it would be
put forward to the 2007 Annual General Meeting of the
Company for consideration; and at the same time, the
Committee reviewed the financial report of the Company for
the year 2007 and expressed a written audit opinion that the
financial report of the Company for the year 2007 truly reflected
the financial position and operating results of the Company
which was objective and fair, and resolved that it would be
put forward to the 2007 Annual General Meeting of the
Company for consideration; and it agreed with the profit

distribution proposal in 2007 passed by the Board of Directors;

2. On 26 August 2008, the Supervisory Committee held a
meeting, during which it reviewed the 2008 interim report of
the Company and resolved that the 2008 interim report of the
Company truly reflected the financial position and operating
results of the Company in the first half of 2008 which was

objective and fair;

3. On 28 October 2008, the Supervisory Committee held a
meeting, during which it reviewed the full text and summary of
the Company'’s report for the third quarter of 2008 and

expressed a written audit opinion.
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Independent Opinion of the Supervisory Committee:

Legality of the Operation of the Company

In 2008, the Supervisory Committee monitored the procedures
of convening the general meetings and Board meetings of the
Company and their resolutions, execution of the resolutions
passed in the general meetings by the Board, and execution
of the resolutions passed in the Board meetings by the
management. It is of the view that the Company has strictly
complied with the Company Law, the Securities Law, the
Listing Rules, the Articles of Association of the Company and
other regulations in drawing operational decisions, monitored
its operations based on law, continuously optimized the internal
control system and further enhanced its corporate governance
standards. The directors and the senior management of the
Company were able to protect the general interests of the
shareholders and the Company and carry out their duties with
dedication. The Supervisory Committee did not discover any
of their actions that in any way violated laws, regulations, or
the articles of association of the Company or were prejudicial

to the interests of the Company.

Financial Position of the Company

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company
and PricewaterhouseCoopers audited the financial report of
the Company for the year 2008 prepared in accordance with
the PRC Accounting Regulations and IFRS respectively and
issued standardized audited report with unqualified opinions.
The Supervisory Committee reviewed the financial report for
the year 2008 and resolved that it objectively, truly and fairly
reflected the financial position, operating results and the cash
flow of the Company. The Supervisory Committee has carefully
reviewed financial information such as the profit distribution
proposal to be submitted to the 2008 Annual General Meeting
for consideration, and found no problems with these

submissions.
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Report of the Supervisory Committee | B @ 5=

3. Purchases or Sales of Assets in the Company

During the reporting period, there were no purchases or sales
of assets in the Company.

4. Connected Transactions of the Company

The Supervisory Committee conducted examinations to all the
connected transactions of the Company in the current year,
and believed that all the contracts, agreements and other
relevant documents related to the connected transactions of
the Company in the current year had complied with the legal
procedures and the terms of the transactions were fair and
reasonable to the Company and shareholders as a whole. The
connected transactions were dealt with under stringent
principles of fairness, impartiality and transparency. The
Supervisory Committee did not discover any acts of insider
trading or breach of good faith by the Board of Directors in
making decisions, signing of agreements and information

disclosure.

In the new year, the Supervisory Committee will, as in the past,
conscientiously exercise the powers bestowed upon it by the
Articles of Association of the Company and perform corresponding
obligations, further strengthen its supervision of the Company’s
financial affairs and ensure compliant business practices. It will
continue to explore monitoring and control mechanisms which are
of benefit in protecting investors and promoting the Company’s

development.

The Supervisory Committee is extremely grateful for the continuous
support for its work offered by all the shareholders, Board of
Directors, staff and workers.

On behalf of the Supervisory Committee

Liu Jiangbo
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee

Shanghai, the PRC
15 April 2009
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Independent International Auditor's Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EASTERN
AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of China Eastern Airlines
Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 112 to 264, which comprise the
consolidated and Company balance sheets as at 31 December
2008, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant

accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the
true and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting

estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those
Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether

the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
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Independent International Auditor's Report | &3/ B X

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31
December 2008, and of the Group’s financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

OTHER MATTERS

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only
for you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 15 April 2009
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. = \ /
Consolidated Income Statement 4r& B3k
(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 2L)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #ZE_—FZEN\F+—-A=1+—HIFFEF
2008 2007
ST T VIV * -
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Tk ARBET T ARBFIT
(Restated)
(Note 2(0))
(B &)
Revenues ON 5 41,072,557 42,533,893
Other operating income Hi& s 6 405,163 487,562
Other gains Hib s 6 267,084 -
Operating expenses EELH
Aircraft fuel TR PR (18,488,242) | | (15,117,147)
(Loss)/gain on fair value movements ﬁilﬂ@fﬁ EE
of financial derivatives & HH)Em 8 (6,400,992) 83,965
Take-off and landing charges R EpE B (5,279,590) (5,174,183)
Depreciation and amortisation BEEBEITE - #iH (4,781,562) (4,719,735)
Wages, salaries and benefits IE - #FHakEd 9 (4,545,312) (4,327,397)
Aircraft maintenance RSB (3,272,981) (2,392,039)
Impairment losses BEERBEERX 10 (2,976,678) (227,456)
Food and beverages MEZRHE (1,321,268) (1,230,754)
Aircraft operating lease rentals M E MR ERES (2,734,802) (2,850,873)
Other operating lease rentals Bz MHERE (369,236) (292,844)
Selling and marketing expenses SHE MTIZER (1,562,945) (1,805,342)
Civil aviation infrastructure levies EMmERLGEESRES (769,849) (781,613)
Ground services and other charges HoTE AR 7S S HA & (268,873) (224,466)
Office, administrative and other expenses W ERREMER (4,055,679) (3,833,938)
Total operating expenses EHET B (56,828,009)  (42,893,822)
Operating (loss)/profit g (51| BR 11 (15,083,205) 127,633
Finance income IS A 12 2,061,625 2,140,457
Finance costs % ER 13 (2,328,147) (1,978,550)
Share of results of associates BB E N REE 23 69,668 58,312
Share of results of jointly controlled entities ORI HIERESE 24 24,050 30,086
(Loss)/profit before income tax BiAT (B518) %A (15,256,009) 377,938
Income tax AL 14 (73,916) (23,763)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B18),mF (15,329,925) 354,175
Attributable to: PG
Equity holders of the Company RArlEREEA (15,268,532) 378,568
Minority interests DERR R (61,393) (24,393)
(15,329,925) 354,175
(Loss)/earnings per share FRAEQAER
attributable to the equity holders of BEAELRER
the Company during the year (B518) &7
— basic and diluted — AR REE 17 RMB (3.14) RMB 0.08

The notes on pages 121 to 264 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet | 425 B EBER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (BB A1 745 & E R4z 22)
As at 31 December 2008 R=FZE/\F+=H=1+—H

2008 2007
—BB\FE -—TTLHE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i AR¥T T AREETTT
(Restated)
(Note 2(b))
(B &)
Non-current assets FREBEE
Intangible assets mpEE 18 164,851 1,244,706
Property, plant and equipment VI - SR ERE 19 52,678,473 47,269,754
Lease prepayments FEMEER 20 996,521 967,497
Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft FRATET R 21 6,413,554 6,695,573
Investments in associates KEREE N 23 980,319 601,119
Investments in jointly controlled entities SE R LRI E 52 24 362,332 336,966
Available-for-sale financial assets ﬂf?ﬁﬁ’ﬁi BEE 31,268 53,236
Other long-term assets HEMRHAEE 25 941,556 660,751
Deferred tax assets BEBIEEE 35 81,947 113,211
Derivative assets PTEBE 38 988 6,077
62,651,809 57,948,890
Current assets REBEE
Flight equipment spare parts R EZ 871,364 1,124,936
Trade receivables JE W AR RK 26 1,146,522 2,096,007
Amounts due from related companies FEYE B~ =) 5IA 44 208,289 65,455
Prepayments, deposits and AR - TR R
other receivables H b FE UK 27 4,126,219 2,555,649
Cash and cash equivalents BeFReEEY 28 3,451,010 1,655,244
Derivative assets TTHEEE 38 123,010 89,470
Non-current assets held for sale FLEIERBDEE 41 473,667 2,205,450
10,400,081 9,792,211
Current liabilities REBEE
Sales in advance of carriage TBEER 1,013,878 1,211,209
Trade payables and notes payable JETBR A FEAST 2 AR 29 5,144,858 3,137,880
Amounts due to related companies e B Fa R~ RI3RIE 44 413,126 671,593
Other payables and accrued expenses HM @SR ERTERER 30 12,147,175 9,591,245
Current portion of obligations under BEHERENRE
finance leases i 31 1,916,989 2,545,223
Current portion of borrowings EEGCoVE IR YA 32 26,513,320 18,494,521
Income tax payable e~ R 1A 39,002 90,867
Current portion of provision for aircraft R AIEE AEET
overhaul expenses mENE S 33 213,830 -
Derivative liabilities PTHEARE 38 6,456,075 20,238
Liabilities directly associated with HGHEFRBEE
non-current assets held for sale BEERAENEAE 41 - 127,239
53,858,253 35,890,015
Net current liabilities FREBAE (43,458,172)  (26,097,804)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 19,193,637 31,851,086
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Consolidated Balance Sheet #Z&8&BEBER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 2L)
As at 31 December 2008 R =—ZFF/\F+_HA=+—H

2008 2007
—BENF ZETLF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
R ARETT ARBFT
(Restated)
(Note 2(b))
(BE)
(FF’2(0))
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Obligations under finance leases mEMHERRE 31 18,891,910 13,906,987
Borrowings L0 32 8,588,052 11,369,307
Provision for aircraft overhaul expenses R RIEERER 33 1,320,188 956,910
Other long-term liabilities EMRHGE 34 1,320,759 1,242,697
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEBE 35 57,589 50,369
Post-retirement benefit obligations RINEETZEE 36(b) 1,469,124 1,370,702
Derivative liabilities THEBE 38 185,524 21,558
31,833,146 28,918,530
Net (liabilities)/assets R(BB) BE (12,639,509) 2,932,556
Equity R
Capital and reserves attributable to RArE=EE AEG
the equity holders of the Company BN R
Share capital AR 39 4,866,950 4,866,950
Reserves [ 40  [(17,964,351) (2,506,379)
(13,097,401) 2,360,571
Minority interests DERR R 457,892 571,985
Total equity gL (12,639,509) 2,932,556
Liu Shaoyong Ma Xulun
2EE A
Director Director
EE EF

The notes on pages 121 to 264 are an integral part of these financial

statements. 9 o
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Company’s Balance Sheet| ARIEEBER

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (BB A1 745 & E R4z 22)
As at 31 December 2008 R=FZE/\F+=H=1+—H

2008 2007
—2BNF  —EELHF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
TR AR®T R AR®ET T
(Restated)
(Note 2(b))
(B&EM)
(FE2()
Non-current assets FIREBEE
Intangible assets mpEE 18 164,579 939,674
Property, plant and equipment VI - AR ERE 19 44,512,840 38,580,747
Lease prepayments FEHER 20 420,272 425,136
Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft TRAETETZR 21 6,413,554 6,695,573
Investments in subsidiaries PE=UNI VNG 22 2,523,715 2,473,716
Investments in associates &;ﬁﬁ’\ﬂﬁ%/ﬁ 23 762,058 377,872
Investments in jointly controlled entities S AR HEE GBS 24 301,802 301,802
Available-for-sale financial assets A EeREE 15,520 37,487
Other long-term assets HEMWREEE 25 765,351 498,849
Derivative assets TEEE 38 988 6,077
55,880,679 50,336,933
Current assets REBEE
Flight equipment spare parts R EZ 707,587 864,204
Trade receivables JEWBR X 26 750,495 1,375,156
Amounts due from related companies & U B RaEE A A 44 1,518,341 1,618,332
Prepayments, deposits and AN EE Y
other receivables H Ath FE YLK 27 3,706,776 2,150,609
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 28 2,361,941 1,040,897
Derivative assets TTHEEE 38 123,010 89,470
Non-current assets held for sale FHEERBEE 41 473,667 764,120
9,641,817 7,902,788
Current liabilities REAE
Sales in advance of carriage FEEERK 1,013,878 1,211,209
Trade payables and notes payable JET R R R R IE 29 4,747,230 2,662,716
Amounts due to related companies e B FaH 1~ RIFRIE 44 695,803 777,422
Other payables and accrued expenses HEMEASRERTERER 30 10,486,958 8,304,694
Current portion of obligations MEHEEEN
under finance leases mENER 31 1,715,062 2,316,781
Current portion of borrowings EECONEIE ¥ 32 24,063,433 15,943,774
Current portion of provision for aircraft RIS B REEN
overhaul expenses mENER D 33 139,710 -
Derivative liabilities PTHEARE 38 6,456,075 20,238
Liabilities directly associated with HEFREFRBEE
non-current assets held for sale EEEENAE 41 - 127,239
49,318,149 31,364,073
Net current liabilities FREBAE (39,676,332)  (23,461,285)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABERE 16,204,347 26,875,648




q Eastern Airlines Corp

2008 2007
—EENF ZETLF
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
e ARET T ARBFT
(Restated)
(Note 2(b))
(BE)
(FE2(b)
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Obligations under finance leases mEHEaRE 31 16,814,109 11,455,722
Borrowings B 32 7,045,080 9,650,583
Provision for aircraft overhaul expenses il ZNCE SR 33 1,028,980 737,371
Other long-term liabilities HEmEEEE 34 1,235,953 1,159,773
Post-retirement benefit obligations RIRIE BT 4 36(b) 1,286,878 1,195,070
Derivative liabilities PTHEAE 38 185,524 21,558
27,596,524 24,220,077
Net (liabilities)/assets F (BB EE (11,392,177) 2,655,571
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable to RArlE=TE ARG
the equity holders of the Company BR R
Share capital %N 39 4,866,950 4,866,950
Reserves f#t 40  (16,259,127) (2,211,379)
Total equity mrER (11,392,177) 2,655,571

Liu Shaoyong Ma Xulun
2EE FAR
Director Director

EBEFE EFE

FE121HEE264H AU MR ERES
statements. 3 o

The notes on pages 121 to 264 are an integral part of these financial
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement | 428 IR &R E xR

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (BB A1 745 & E R4z 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 - EZEN\F+-HA=+—HIFFE

2008 2007
—EENFE —ETLF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARBT T ARBTIT
Cash flows from operating activities EETBHNRENRE
Cash generated from operations BEEANES 42(a) 2,942 466 3,142,834
Income tax paid BT (86,931) (62,549)
Net cash inflow from operating activities &EEFBELNFRER 2,855,535 3,080,285
Cash flows from investing activities ?ﬁﬁxﬁiﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁ%uwg
Additions of property, plant and equipment BAME - W REE (1,289,350) (1,592,310)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - sk
plant and equipment RIBFTIS K 1,856,358 70,681
Acquisition of land use rights AL Hb(E AR (53,117) -
Advanced payments on FRME - R
acquisition of aircraft RITRBEHTER R (3,603,824) (3,737,079
Refunds of advanced payments upon FRAE T AT RF U 131 A
deliveries of aircraft FRAE TR IR 2,422,252 3,064,580
Repayment of other payables EEH A

(BA-MZXE

(instalment payment for acquisition

of an airline business) %897 HART 500 (30,000) (30,000)
Interest received EHFE 90,635 96,849
Dividend received B R 29,679 22,367
Capital injections in a jointly controlled entity A F RIS H| F L+ 4 - (92,416)
Capital injections in associates b NS s O (384,186) -
Proceeds from disposal of HEHE QAR

interest in an associate FrisiRe 3,698 -
Proceeds on disposal of available-for-sale HEMRFIEEER

financial assets TREE 32,972 -
Proceeds from disposal of interest in HEHBA AR

a subsidiary i5iRe - 441,002

Net cash outflow from investing activities REZBELENFRER (924,883) (1,756,326)
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #ZE_—FZEN\F+—-A=1+—HIFFEF

/\\/T\/\fﬁf/i\; %%

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTR  ARETR
Cash flows from financing activities MEITHNRESRE
Proceeds from draw down of FHARTTE R
short-term bank loans PR1S3K 25,403,301 18,464,695
Repayments of short-term bank loans EREHRITER (19,986,723) | | (16,020,304)
Proceeds from draw down of REJIRITERR
long-term bank loans ITIESE 4,748,071 3,383,349
Repayments of long-term bank loans BERIETER (3,922,593) (2,985,480)
Principal repayments of finance Eﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬂfﬁﬁm
lease obligations & (2,593,656) (2,974,718)
Payments of restricted AETERIAH
bank deposit PR I B 17 3K (1,365,116) -
Interest paid ERFIE (2,741,980) (2,240,721)
Refunds of deposits pledged for W e R EAp EHE
finance leases upon maturities R 419,604 779,646
Dividends paid to minority shareholders EENENSIESEE (&
of subsidiaries A AR A (52,700) (46,400)
Net cash outflow from METBELEFERS
financing activities pifast (91,792) (1,639,933)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRESEEYE
cash equivalents i, ) 1,838,860 (315,974)
Cash and cash equivalents at —A—HNRER
1 January ReEEY 1,655,244 1,087,486
Exchange adjustments PE g EE (43,094) (16,268)
Cash and cash equivalents at +TZA=t+—HHERER
31 December ReZEY 3,451,010 1,655,244

The notes on pages 121 to 264 are an integral part of these financial

statements.

121822648 AU B REANEE

,T/'\ °

B




HEEEMERGERAD — T N5E% 119

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity | 435 Em S 85K

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 R & E Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 - EZEN\F+_-HA=+—HI-FE

Attributable to equity
holders of the Company
FARGEAEERE
Share Other  Accumulated Minority
capital  reserves losses  Subtotal interests  Total equity

Bx B ZRER Eff HEBRER L 5
RMBOOO  RWBO00  RWBO0D  RWBOO0  RMBOOO  RWB'00
ARRTT  ARETR  ARETR ARBTR ARRTR  ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2007 “ERCE-R-HES

as previously presented Eifial 48066950 1282877 (3,334,930 2,814,897 061,746 3,476,643
Effect of early adoption of }EEWWWW#& #EZEe

IFRIC 13 (Note 2()) AE13THFE GHE20)) - - (362606  (362,606) - (362,608)
Effect of change of accounting policy on property, ’«HJJ% BEREERE 2SR

plant and equipment (Note 2(o)i) HREFMTE R - (490,688) 76430 (414258 (12981)  (427,239)
Balance at 1 January 2007 as restated “ETCE-R-HER Bk 4866950 792189 (3,621,106 2038033 648765 2,686,798
Cash flow hedges, net of tax REREES NRHE - (18197) - (18197) - (18,197)
Fair value movements of available for sale BiBENAMENIH

investments held by associates (Note 23) HERENL AL BEZY (HE2) - 22,167 - 22,167 - 22,167
Net income recognised directly in equity EREARERNFRA - (56,090 - (56,030) - [56,030)
Profit/oss) for the year EERH/ (BB) - - 378568 A7BAG8  (24393) 354,175
Total recognised income and expense for 2007 “E T EERDMEMA - (56030 378568 322538 (24393 298,145
Dividend paid to minorty interests in subsidiaries B D& - - - - (46400)  (46,400)
Disposal of a subsidiary HERBLF - - - - (5,987) (5,987)
Adjustment to statutory and discretionary AT RAE

feserves £ - (428808 428808 - - -

- (L8808 428,808 - R (52.380)

Balance at 31 December 2007 “ERCETCACT-RER 4866950 307351  (2813730) 2360571 571985 2,932,556
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o

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 2L)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z2 _—ZEZENF+_A=1—HIFE

Attributable to equity
holders of the Company
NGNS
Share Other  Accumulated Minority
capital  reserves losses  Subtotal interests  Total equity
e 4 ZEER Ef HERRER ) 3
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2008, “2E)\f-F-BER
as previously presented Eiftl 4,866,950 798,039 (2,637,226) 3,027,763 584,966 3,612,729
Effect of early adoption of RARRERHERERRZES -
IFRIC 13 (Note 2(b)(i)) RELIRNTE GR)) - - (35115 (345,115) - (345115)
Effect of change of accounting policy on % BERREEETESH
property, plant and equipment (Note 2(0)(i) ~ BREENEE (18 2(b)(ii) - (490688) 168611  (322077)  (12981)  (335,058)
Balance at 1 January 2008, as restated ZEENE-R-PEH ERE 486695 307351  (2813730) 2360571 571985 2932556
Cash flow hedges, net of tax BREREED NRHE - (170,360) - (170,360) - (170,360)
Fair value movements of available for sale  BMEBEARMEH TR
investments held by associates (Note 23) HERENAABESD (B2 - (19,080) - (19,80) - (19,080
Net loss recognised directly in equity ERRIARENTEE - (189,440) - (189,440) - (189,440)
Loss for the year EEEE - - (15268532) (15268532  (61,393) (15329.925)
Total recognised income and expense for 2008 = ZENEERANRER AL - (189.440) (15268,532) (15457972)  (61,393) (15519,365)
Dividend paid to minority interests XANEAR
in subsidiaries SEBRRRA - - - - (527000 (52,700)
- - - - (527000 (52,700)
Balance at 31 December 2008 “ERNETZAZT-RER 4866950 117011 (18082262 (13,097,401) 457892 (12,639,500)

AE121 EE264 B R BHRREBRE

1/'\ °

The notes on pages 121 to 264 are an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements| B 5335 11

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited (the “Company”),
a joint stock company limited by shares was incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 14 April 1995.
The address of its registered office is 66 Airport Street, Pudong
International Airport, Shanghai, the PRC. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the operation of civil aviation, including the provision of
passenger, cargo, and mail delivery and other extended

transportation services.

The Company is majority owned by China Eastern Air Holding
Company (“CEA Holding”), a state-owned enterprise

incorporated in the PRC.

The Company’s shares are traded on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, The New York Stock Exchange and The
Shanghai Stock Exchange.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by
the Board of Directors on 15 April 2009.

NEEH
RERAMERNDBERAF ([RA
ADERR—AAEFMOA+HBER
FARKLME ([HE]) Bz — Rk
MAERRT o NAF M &5 E
HERRBERGHISIE66TE - A D
AREMBAR ([AEE]) TELE
RMER BRFE HE BER
H ez 575 o

RRB AR ERIR B — KR FE
ARPERITMEEERR ([FER
PEBEDNBEBELEES

ARRFH RN ETEE X HER
DA AR HRXZ R EBEHFR
SFT LT

KGR ROKHEFEE_T
TAFMA+I B ETIE -
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B ISR

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 4w 2L)

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #ZE_—FZEN\F+—-A=1+—HIFFEF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-
for-sale financial assets, financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value

through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements

are disclosed in Note 4.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors have
given careful consideration to the going concern status
of the Group in the context of the Group’s current working

capital difficulties.

2. EEETHREE

AR BEHRRRAN T EGETHR
FHNTX - BB BHAI - LEBR
EMERNMEFENERERM -

(a) HRELEZE

RE BB RRERIBEE KR
BamE R ([ BER]) REE
REMEPIN R B R ERE - 875
BROCEBELRAEmEE - I
RAHHESREE RANE
BBESCENEREEN SR
BE@EBETEIA NEMHMmIE
HIERT

RN AV BENNMHEREKT
REMAETHERSESE - EF
FEEEBERMAAREEIN
RBEPTEEHE - PREE
EH B s B AR R O BB - 3K
RSB R B E KRR AN
HOHS  £MBHRRERE4AT
K

AR B AN FEF B HRERE - AR
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Notes to the Financial Statements| B 5335 11

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2. EEETBREBE (B

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) fmBEZE (B

The Group’s accumulated losses were approximately
RMB18.08 billion as at 31 December 2008; its current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB43.46 billion; and total liabilities exceeded total assets
by approximately RMB12.64 billion.

Against this background, the directors have taken active
steps to seek additional sources of finance and improve
the Group’s liquidity position. At 31 December 2008, the
Group had total credit facilities of RMB13.5 billion from
certain banks. Since 31 December 2008, the Company
has successfully obtained additional credit facilities in an
aggregate amount of RMB36 billion from certain banks
and financial institutions (see Note 47 — “Post balance
sheet events” for details). The directors believe that, based
on experience to date, it is likely that these facilities will
be rolled over in future years if required. In addition, a
resolution to issue additional shares to China Eastern Air
Holding Company (“CEA Holding”), the Company’s
shareholder, and CES Global Holding (Hong Kong) Limited
(“CES Global”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CEA
Holding, for a total amount of RMB?7 billion was approved
in the extraordinary general meetings held on 26 February
2009 (see Note 47 — “Post balance sheet events” for

details).

HZE2008F12A31H * A&E
WEFEELN A ARKE180.801F
T mBBEERRBEENA
R¥434.58187L ' ARBELRE
R EEATEOARE 126,408
5T e

[£/<3
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 4w 2L)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #ZE_—FZEN\F+—-A=1+—HIFFEF

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

With the additional credit facilities and approved capital
injection described in the preceding paragraph, and based
on the Group’s history of obtaining finance and its
relationships with its bankers and creditors, the Board of
Directors considers that the Group will be able to obtain
sufficient financing to enable it to operate and meet its
liabilities as and when they fall due. Accordingly, it is
appropriate that these financial statements should be
prepared on a going concern basis and do not include
any adjustments that would be required should the
Company and the Group fail to continue as a going

concern.

() Standards, amendment and interpretations
effective in 2008

e |FRIC 14, ‘IAS 19 — The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding requirements
and their interaction’, provides guidance on
assessing the limit in IAS 19 on the amount of
the surplus that can be recognised as an asset.
It also explains how the pension asset or liability
may be affected by a statutory or contractual
minimum funding requirement. This interpretation
does not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements, as the Group has a pension deficit
and is not subject to any minimum funding

requirements.

2.
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Notes to the Financial Statements| B 5335 11

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHERE (@)
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) MmBEZE (B
() Standards, amendment and interpretations () E=ZFEZENFEEMPE
effective in 2008 (continued) B ~ 85T R 2 FE ()

e |FRIC 11, ‘IFRS 2 — Group and treasury share . BRI mERELZS
transactions’, provides guidance on whether SREBEFE1IRIBEREY
share-based transactions involving treasury HAERIE 25 — B
shares or involving group entities (for example, [EEFEIAR X 5 ) B AR 10
options over a parent’s shares) should be EWRON P R ERR
accounted for as equity-settled or cash-settled DA NES RS- JCUISTN
share-based payment transactions in the stand- A)) #m TAER AR
alone accounts of the parent and group SEIRE AR 4 E K
companies. This interpretation does not have Re#BERMBTIES -
an impact on the Group’s financial statements. ZEREHAEEMNIK

B2 48R
BEEzE -
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 4w 2L)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #ZE_—FZEN\F+—-A=1+—HIFFEF

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and
which are relevant for the Group’s operations

The following standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been
published and are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009 or later periods, but the Group has not early
adopted them:

e |AS 1 (Revised), ‘Presentation of financial
statements’ (effective from 1 January 2009). The
revised standard will prohibit the presentation
of items of income and expenses (that is, ‘non-
owner changes in equity’) in the statement of
changes in equity, requiring ‘non-owner
changes in equity’ to be presented separately
from owner changes in equity. All non-owner
changes in equity will be required to be shown
in a performance statement, but entities can
choose whether to present one performance
statement (the statement of comprehensive
income) or two statements (the consolidated
income statement and statement of
comprehensive income). Where entities restate
or reclassify comparative information, they will
be required to present a restated balance sheet
as at the beginning comparative period in
addition to the current requirement to present
balance sheets at the end of the current period
and comparative period. The Group will apply
IAS (Revised) from 1 January 2009. It is likely
that both the consolidated income statement
and statement of comprehensive income will
be presented as performance statements.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations to

existing standards that are not yet effective and

which are relevant for the Group’s operations

(continued)

IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’ (effective from 1
January 2009). IFRS replaces IAS 14 and aligns
segment reporting with the requirements of the
US standard SFAS 131, ‘Disclosures about
segments of an enterprise and related
information’. The new standard requires a
‘management approach’, under which segment
information is presented on the same basis as
that used for internal reporting purposes. The
Group will apply IFRS 8 from 1 January 2009,
The expected impact is still being assessed in

detail by management.

2. EEETBERABE (B
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #ZE_—FZEN\F+—-A=1+—HIFFEF

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to

existing standards that are not yet effective and

which are relevant for the Group’s operations

(continued)

IAS 27 (Revised) “Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements” (effective from annual
period beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The
amendment requires non-controlling interests
(i.e. minority interests) to be presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from the equity of the
owners of the parent. Total comprehensive
income must be attributed to the owners of the
parent and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. Changes in a parent’s
ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in the loss of control are accounted for
within equity. When control of a subsidiary is
lost, the assets and liabilities and related equity
components of the former subsidiary are
derecognised. Any gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss. Any investment retained in the
former subsidiary is measured at its fair value
at the date when control is lost. The Group will
apply IAS 27 (Revised) from 1 January 2010.

B ISR
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BTSSR st AR

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations to

existing standards that are not yet effective and

which are relevant for the Group’s operations

(continued)

IFRS 3 (Revised) “Business Combinations”
(effective for business combinations with
acquisition date on or after the beginning of the
first annual reporting period beginning on or
after 1 July 2009). The amendment may bring
more transactions into acquisition accounting
as combinations by contract alone and
combinations of mutual entities are brought into
the scope of the standard and the definition of
a business has been amended slightly. It now
states that the elements are ‘capable of being
conducted’ rather than ‘are conducted and
managed’. It requires considerations (including
contingent consideration), each identifiable
asset and liability to be measured at its
acquisition-date fair value, except leases and
insurance contracts, reacquired right,
indemnification assets as well as some assets
and liabilities required to be measured in
accordance with other IFRSs. They are income
taxes, employee benefits, share-based payment
and non current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations. Any non-controlling
interest in an acquiree is measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net
identifiable assets. All acquisition related cost
should be expensed. The Group will apply IFRS
3 (Revised) prospectively to all business

combinations from 1 January 2010.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and
which are relevant for the Group’s operations

(continued)

IAS 36 (Amendment), ‘Impairment of assets’
(effective from 1 January 2009). The
amendment is part of the IASB’s annual
improvements project published in May 2008.
Where fair value less costs to sell is calculated
on the basis of discounted cash flows,
disclosures equivalent to those for value-in-use
calculation should be made. The Group will
apply the IAS 36 (Amendment) and provide the
required disclosure where applicable for
impairment tests from 1 January 2009.

IAS 38 (Amendment), ‘Intangible assets’
(effective from 1 January 2009). The
amendment is part of the IASB’s annual
improvements project published in May 2008.
A prepayment may only be recognised in the
event that payment has been made in advance
of obtaining right of access to goods or receipt
of services. The Group will apply the IAS 38
(Amendment) from 1 January 2009, but it is not
expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and

which are relevant for the Group’s operations

(continued)

IAS 19 (Amendment),
(effective from 1 January 2009). The
amendment is part of the IASB’s annual

‘Employee benefits’

improvements project published in May 2008.
The amendment clarifies that a plan amendment
that results in a change in the extent to which
benefit promises are affected by future salary
increases is a curtailment, while an amendment
that changes benefits attributable to past
service gives rise to a negative past service cost
if it results in a reduction in the present value of
the defined benefit obligation. The definition of
return on plan assets has been amended to
state that plan administration costs are
deducted in the calculation of return on plan
assets only to the extent that such costs have
been excluded from measurement of the
defined benefit obligation. The distinction
between short term and long term employee
benefits will be based on whether benefits are
due to be settled within or after 12 months of
employee service being rendered. |IAS 37,
‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent
assets’, requires contingent liabilities to be
disclosed, not recognised. IAS 19 has been
amended to be consistent. The Group will apply
the IAS 19 (Amendment) from 1 January 2009.
The expected impact is still being assessed in
detail by management.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to

existing standards that are not yet effective and

which are relevant for the Group’s operations

(continued)

IFRS 7 (Amendment), ‘Financial instruments:
Disclosure’ (effective from 1 January 2009).
The amendment forms part of the IASB’s
response to the financial crisis aims at improving
transparency and enhance accounting guidance.
The amendment increases the disclosure
requirements about fair value measurement and
reinforces existing principles for disclosure about
liquidity risk. The amendment introduces a
three-level hierarchy for fair value measurement
disclosure and requires some specific quantitative
disclosures for financial instruments in the lowest
level in the hierarchy. In addition, the amendment
clarifies and enhances existing requirements for
the disclosure of liquidity risk primarily requiring a
separate liquidity risk analysis for derivative and
non-derivative financial liabilities. The Group will
apply the IFRS 7 (Amendment) and provide the
required disclosure, where applicable,

prospectively from 1 January 2009.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Changes of accounting policy

(i)

Early adoption of IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty

programmes’

IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’ was early
adopted by the Group in 2008. IFRIC 13 clarifies
that where goods or services are sold together with
a customer loyalty incentive (for example, loyalty
points or free products), the arrangement is a
multiple-element arrangement and the consideration
receivable from the customer is allocated between
the components of the arrangement using fair values.
The Company operates a frequent-flyer programme
called “Eastern Miles” (the “programme”). Historically,
the incremental cost of providing awards in exchange
for redemption of miles earned by members was
accrued as an operating cost and a liability in the
balance sheet. After the adoption of IFRIC 13,
revenue is allocated between the ticket sold and
miles earned by members. The portion allocated to
miles earned is deferred and recognised when the

miles have been redeemed or have expired.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Changes of accounting policy (continued)

@

Early adoption of IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty

programmes’ (continued)

This change in accounting policy has been
accounted for retrospectively, and the comparative
financial statements have also been restated. The

effect of the change is set out in Note 2(p)(iii).

The Group’s consolidated loss for the year ended
31 December 2008 and consolidated net liabilities
at 31 December 2008 would have decreased by
RMB25 million and RMB320 million respectively if
the previous policies had still been applied in 2008.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESTHBERE (&)

POLICIES (continued)
(b) BTBEREE (&)
(i) W% HEERFENETH

(b) Changes of accounting policy (continued)

(i) Change of accounting policy for property, plant and

equipment

Under IFRS, the Company has the option to use the
revaluation model or historical cost model to account
for its property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”).
Previously, the Company adopted the revaluation
model in accordance with IAS 16 as a result of
Chinese regulatory requirements to revalue PP&E in
connection with its listing in 1997. Under PRC
Accounting Standards, the one time revaluation for
listing purposes was treated as deemed cost and
the historical cost model was adopted subsequent
to the initial revaluation. In 2008, the Company
changed its IFRS accounting policy in respect of
PP&E from the revaluation model to the historical
cost model. Whilst this change was made primarily
to increase the relevance of financial data to the users
of the financial statements and for the reasons set
out below, management also made reference to
Interpretation 2 of Chinese Accounting Standards
(“CAS”) issued by the Ministry of Finance in August
2008 which aims to drive the elimination of
differences between IFRS and CAS. The change was
made after taking into consideration the following

factors:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(b) Changes of accounting policy (continued)

(i) Change of accounting policy for property, plant and

equipment (continued)

the alignment of the Group’s accounting policy
with industry peers — management considers
that the historical cost model will improve
comparability of certain financial performance
data and results of operations of the Group with
other airlines. Very few of the leading global
airlines currently use the valuation model and
valuation data is not generally used in airline
industry analysis that is made available to

stakeholders or internally by management.

increased comparability between finance and
operating leased aircraft — depreciation cost of
a finance leased aircraft is based on revalued
amount whereas operating lease payments are
based on cost and aircraft held under operating
leases are not recognised as assets subject to
valuation. Management therefore consider that
the change to the cost model increases the level
of consistency in accounting for aircraft which
are not distinguished from an operational

perspective.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Changes of accounting policy (continued)

(i) Change of accounting policy for property, plant and

equipment (continued)

e the high degree of subjectivity and risk of cyclical
volatility associated with external valuation and
second hand aircraft fair values — the market
value of second hand aircraft can be volatile
and is influenced by transactions in global
markets that may have little relevance to the
operating environment in China. When
purchasing or financing aircraft under finance
leases, management intend to use these aircraft
in the business for the remainder of their useful
lives. Management do not believe that financial
statements that reflect, often subjective,
movements in second hand values provide

meaningful information to investors.

This change in accounting policy has been
accounted for retrospectively, and the comparative
financial statements have also been restated. The
effect of the change is not considered material to

the financial statements but is set out in Note 2(b)(iii).

The Group’s consolidated loss for the year ended
31 December 2008 and consolidated net liabilities
at 31 December 2008 would have increased by
RMB216 million and decreased by RMB119 million
respectively if the previous policies had still been
applied in 2008.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Changes of accounting policy (continued)

(iii) Impact on prior year balances

2. EEEBEBE (@

(b) BSTEREE (@)
(i) BUFFEGHEEENTE

Effect of
change of
2007 as Effectof  accounting
previously  adoption of policy for 2007 as
presented IFRIC 13 PP&E restated
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ERE I
RAER  RENE
20075514 - IFRIC 13 BUREE 2007555 -
BiA wE Ve Hififk
ARETT  ARETT ARETT ARETR
Impact on consolidated HRcBERRNEE
income statements
Consolidated profit FEFENE
for the year 244,503 17,491 92,181 354,175
Earnings per share ARAERFEA
attributable to el SRR 7
equity holders of
the Company RMB0.06  RMBO0.003 RMBO0.02 RMBO0.08
Impact on consolidated HECEESBRNVE
balance sheet
Consolidated net assets HARTFEE 3,612,729 (345,115)  (335,058) 2,932,556
Capital and reserves AREEERFBA
attributable to the equity EitraFEE
holders of the Company 3,027,763 (345,115) (322,077) 2,360,571
Minority interests VYR FE S 584,966 - (12,981) 571,985
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESHHERE (@)
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Consolidation (c) EEEF

The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the RERBBREARTREMEH

financial statements of the Company and all of its BRralEZ2+=-A=+—H1KN

subsidiaries made up to 31 December. BB HEK -

() Subsidiaries (y HWEBAA
Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose MEBARIEAEEFEEIE
entities) over which the Group has the power to HO B R EEBRNMBE
govern the financial and operating policies, generally B(EEEKRENER) @ —
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half RE B S R A B R R AR
of the voting rights. The existence and effect of o BRI EARE L
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable »—EEBE - BRIAITTER
or convertible are considered when assessing AR MBS ERNTE
whether the Group controls another entity. N8B TER -
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on B A RIEE S EEBE ER
which control is transferred to the Group. They are SECAREZEAG - B
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. NEVEE SIS E 2 BRI

LEEBF -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(c) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group, including those acquired from holding
companies. The cost of an acquisition is measured
as the fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly
attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date,

irrespective of the extent of any minority interest.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair
value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost
of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated income

statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Consolidation (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Subsidiaries (continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of

dividend received and receivable.

Transactions with minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions
with minority interests as transactions with parties
external to the Group. Disposals to minority interests
result in gains and losses for the Group that are
recorded in the consolidated income statement.
Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill,
being the difference between any consideration paid
and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value

of net assets of the subsidiary.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The
Group’s investments in associates includes goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified

on acquisition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Consolidation (continued)

(iif) Associates (continued)

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses in associates are

recognised in the consolidated income statement.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
associates are stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses (Note 2(n)). The results of
associates are accounted for by the Company on

the basis of dividend received and receivable.

BTSSR R A

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 4w 2L)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #ZE_—FZEN\F+—-A=1+—HIFFEF
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESTHBERE (&)

POLICIES (continued)
(c) EEE:T (@&

(c) Consolidation (continued)

(iv) Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is an entity in which the
Group has joint control over its economic activity
established under a contractual arrangement. The
Group’s investments in jointly controlled entities
includes goodwill (net of any accumulated

impairment loss) identified on acquisition.

The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are
accounted for by the equity method of accounting
based on the audited financial statements or
management accounts of the jointly controlled
entities. The Group’s share of its jointly controlled
entities’ post-acquisition profits or losses is
recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements is
adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in a
jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its interest
in that entity, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made

payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.

The Group recognises the portion of gains or losses
on the sale of assets by the Group to the joint venture
that it is attributable to the other venturers. The Group

does not recognise its share of profits or losses from
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the joint venture that result from the Group’s purchase BEAESEMEAZELE
of assets from the joint venture until it resells the assets EEERE - BRIFEEHEBE
to an independent party. However, a loss on the EEETE=H - AMm &

transaction is recognised immediately if the loss
provides evidence of a reduction in the net realisable

value of current assets, or an impairment loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(c) Consolidation (continued)

(iv) Jointly controlled entities (continued)

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
jointly controlled entities are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses. The results of jointly
controlled entities are accounted for by the Company

on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

(d) Segmental reporting

(e)

A business segment is a group of assets and operations

engaged in providing products or services that are subject

to risks and returns that are different from those of other

business segments. A geographical segment is engaged

in providing products or services within a particular

economic environment that are subject to risks and

returns that are different from those of segments operating

in other economic environments.

Foreign currency translation

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
financial statements are presented in Chinese
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional

and presentation currency.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(f)

(i) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash

flow hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.

Revenue recognition and sales in advance of carriage

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown net of business and value-
added taxes, returns, rebates and discounts and after

eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities
as described below. The amount of revenue is not
considered to be reliably measurable until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking
into consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Revenue recognition and sales in advance of carriage

(continued)

(i)

(iii)

Traffic revenues

Passenger, cargo and mail revenues are recognised
as traffic revenues when the transportation services
are provided. The value of sold but unused tickets is

recognised as sales in advance of carriage (“SIAC”).

Commission income

Commission income represents amounts earned
from other carriers in respect of sales made by the
Group on their behalf, and is recognised in the

income statement upon ticket sales.

Other revenue

Revenues from other operating businesses, including
income derived from the provision of ground services
and cargo handling services, are recognised when

the services are rendered.

Rental income from subleases of aircraft is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the terms of
the respective leases. Rental income from leasing
office premises and cargo warehouses is recognised

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Government grants

Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair

value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant

will be received and the Group will comply with all attached

conditions.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(@

(h)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the income statement over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are

intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the

expected lives of the related assets.

Maintenance and overhaul costs

In respect of aircraft and engines under operating
leases, the Group has the responsibility to fulfill
certain return conditions under the leases. Provision
for the estimated cost of these return condition
checks is made on a straight line basis over the term

of the leases.

In respect of aircraft and engines owned by the
Group or held under finance leases, overhaul costs
are capitalised as a component of property, plant
and equipment and are depreciated over the
appropriate maintenance cycles (Note 2(m)).

All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged

to the income statement as and when incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(i)

0

(k)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When a
receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired loans is

recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset, including the interest attributable to loans
for advance payments used to finance the acquisition of
aircraft, are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended

use. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

Current and deferred tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the jurisdictions where the Company
and its subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled
entities operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts

expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESTHBERE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

(k) Current and deferred tax (continued) (k) EHFEZLFSH (&)

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or

the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against

which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and
jointly controlled entities, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

o

Intangible assets

(i)

(ii)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share
of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity at the
date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of
subsidiaries is included in “intangible assets”.
Goodwill on acquisition of associates and jointly
controlled entities is included in “investments in
associates” and “investments in jointly controlled
entities” and is tested for impairment as part of the
overall balances. Separately recognised goodwill is
tested for impairment at least annually or whenever
there is an indication of impairment and carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity

sold.

Goodwillis allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwiill

arose.

Sponsorship fees

Sponsorship fees paid and payable in relation to the
2010 Shanghai Expo have been capitalised and are
being amortised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the sponsorship program. The cost of the
intangible asset is calculated based on the expected
cash payment and the fair value of the services to

be provided.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2. EEETBERABE (B

() BFEEE@E

() Intangible assets (continued)

(iif) Computer software costs

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives of 5 to 6 years. Costs
associated with developing or maintaining computer
software programmes are recognised as expense

when incurred.

(m) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recognised initially at
cost which comprises purchase price, and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the assets to the condition

for their intended use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is

depreciated separately.

When each major aircraft overhaul is performed, its cost
is recognised in the carrying amount of the item of
property, plant and equipment and is depreciated over
the appropriate maintenance cycles. Components related
to airframe overhaul cost, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over 5 to 7.5 years. Components related to
engine overhaul costs, are depreciated between each
overhaul period using the ratio of actual flying hours and
estimated flying hours between overhauls. Upon
completion of an overhaul, any remaining carrying amount
of the cost of the previous overhaul is derecognised and

charged to the income statement.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Except for components related to overhaul costs, the
depreciation method of which has been described in the
preceding paragraph, other depreciation of property, plant
and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method
to write down their costs or revalued amounts to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Aircraft, engines and 10 to 20 years

flight equipment
Buildings 15 to 35 years
Other property, 5to 20 years

plant and equipment

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the assets’ carrying amount

and are recognised in the income statement.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and equipment, being mainly flight
simulators, pending installation. This includes the costs
of construction or acquisition and interest capitalised. No
depreciation is provided on construction in progress until

the asset is completed and ready for use.

BTSSR R A

2.

EZEEMERREE (@

(m) ¥ - HEs R fE (B

BREAEERBREMT - EI7
EEEL—BRHEL  EtEE
TyiRE R TAAT AT AR R (bt
BAEGEBHE R AN
B - AR EESFHEERNE
AtAIMERFRIIRINT -

e - FEH R 102204
RITRME

B¥ 15E35%F

Hms - 5Z204F
Hees N R
BEMNEAERESERFEREHR

ERREEBEXRAENTHL

ERE - MREEMIRAEBEAK

RETEHAR YRR - RIBREEE

H
5 SZ B GA BT (2] Uy S BE B ¥R

&S W s s B IR T TS WA SRR
HEEREEMNZR  ANBE
TP T AR

EREIRAREEPINEFRER

FRMREE MR (£ 2 AREEE
) - ERITIZREEIBERA
SRR - WEt ABAMEEFE o 78
BEETHREEWRAGRR - T
ETIRITE o



Notes to the Financial Statements

HEEEMERGERAT — T\ 153

BTSSR st AR
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates,

jointly controlled entities and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or which are not
yet available for use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested for impairment at least annually or whenever
there is indication of impairment . Other assets are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the

impairment at each balance sheet date.

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent acquisition costs of land
use rights less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation
is provided over the lease period of the land use rights

on a straight-line basis.

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft represent
payments to aircraft manufacturers to secure deliveries
of aircraft in future years, including attributable finance
costs, and are included in non-current assets. The
balance is transferred to property, plant and equipment

upon delivery of the aircraft.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(q) Flight equipment spare parts

Flight equipment spare parts are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the weighted average method. The cost of flight
equipment spare parts comprises the purchase price (net
of discounts), freight charges, duty and value added tax
and other miscellaneous charges. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price of the flight equipment in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable selling

expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default
or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that
the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
provision account for trade receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited

in the income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESTHBERE (&)

POLICIES (continued)
(s) BRERRESEEY

(s) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three

months or less.

RehAeFEYEERE R
TBAER - REIBES=MEA
FATHHEAE S RE KR
ié o

(t) Borrowings 1 ERX
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of ERVIFRA R ELNBRE £
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently RGMAMER o B RE 18 178 5
stated at amortised cost; any differences between the BABER : TR (B ZHK
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption ) BEREENTAEREMNAE
value is recognised in the income statement over the R EERERREALERE
period of the borrowings using the effective interest W o
method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the RIEREEEEGEEIKEARE
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of MEFEEEAEE RExD12(H
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet A BRIEFKS fﬁi\i%m%bﬁﬁ
date.

(u) Provisions (u) #&%B

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount can be reliably

estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the

same class of obligations may be small.

EAREEREDBEENSMHAEAE
RBEEEREESHEEENEE
MBAEFEEERMEAENE
£ @FEMEERISEfAETR - AR
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(u) Provisions (continued)

v)

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Leases
(i) A Group company is the lessee

Finance leases

The Group leases certain property, plant and
equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment
where the Group has acquired substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the
lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance charges so as to achieve a constant
rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in other short-term and other
long-term payables. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to the income statement over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. Leased assets are depreciated using
a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives
to residual values.

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in a
finance lease, differences between sales proceeds
and net book values are deferred and amortised over
the minimum lease terms.

2.

B ISR

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 4w 2L)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v) Leases (continued)

(i)

(ii)

A Group company is the lessee (continued)

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on

a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in an
operating lease, differences between sales proceeds
and net book values are recognised immediately in
the income statement, except to the extent that any
profit or loss is compensated for by future lease

payments at above or below market value.

A Group company is the lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are
included in property, plant and equipment in the
balance sheet. They are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on a basis consistent with
similar property, plant and equipment. Rental income
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.

(w) Retirement benefits

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement

schemes regarding pension and medical benefits for

employees organised by the municipal governments of

the relevant provinces. The contributions to the schemes

are charged to the income statement as and when

incurred.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(w) Retirement benefits (continued)

In addition, the Group provides retirees with post-
retirement benefits including retirement subsidies,
transportation subsidies, social function activity subsidies
as well as other welfare. The liability recognised in the
balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at
the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan assets,
together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial
gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually using the projected unit
credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows using interest rates of government
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in
excess of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets
or 10% of the defined benefit obligation are charged or
credited to the income statement over the employees’

expected average remaining working lives.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the
income statement, unless the changes to the pension
plan are conditional on the employees remaining in service
for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this
case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-

line basis over the vesting period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EESTHBERE (&)

POLICIES (continued)

(x) THMITETR

(x) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in
the balance sheet at fair value on the date a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured
at their fair value. The accounting for subsequent changes
in fair value depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature

of the item being hedged.

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction,
the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged
items, as well as its risk management objectives and
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The
Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows

of hedged items.

Derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for
hedge accounting are accounted for as trading
instruments and any unrealised gains or losses, being
changes in fair value of the derivatives, are recognised in

the income statement immediately.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as fair value hedges and that are highly
effective, are recorded in the income statement, along
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets

or liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk.

Derivative financial instruments that qualify for hedge
accounting and which are designated as a specific hedge
of the variability in cashflows of a highly probable forecast

transaction, are accounted for as follows:
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(x) Derivative financial instruments (continued)

(i)  the effective portion of any change in fair value of
the derivative financial instrument is recognised
directly in equity. Where the forecast transaction or
firm commitment results in the recognition of an asset
or a liability, the gains and losses previously deferred
in equity are included in the initial measurement of
the cost of the asset or liability. Otherwise, the
cumulative gain or loss on the derivative financial
instrument is removed from equity and recognised
in the income statement in the same period during
which the hedged forecast transaction affects net

profit or loss.

(i) the ineffective portion of any change in fair value is

recognised in the income statement immediately.

The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a
non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity
of the hedged items is more than 12 months, and as a
current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of
the hedged item is less than 12 months. Trading

derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a
hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised in the income
statement when the committed or forecast transaction
ultimately occurs. When a committed or forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative
gain or loss that was recorded in equity is immediately

transferred to the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

V)

(@)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Investments in securities other than subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities, being held for
non-trading purposes, are classified as available-for-sale
financial assets and are recognised on the trade-date —
the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value
plus transaction costs. At each balance sheet date, the
fair value is remeasured, with any resulting gain or loss
being recognised directly in equity, except for impairment
losses. When these investments are derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in

equity is recognised in the income statement.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset is
impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as
available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of the securities below its cost is considered an
indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such
evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the
cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in the income statement, is removed from
equity and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement
on equity instruments are not reversed through the income

statement.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved by the

Company’s shareholders.
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2.

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(aa) Comparatives

Where necessary, prior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform with changes in presentation in
the current year. The major reclassifications for the 2007
comparative figures include reclassification of certain
items in the consolidated cash flow statement between

“financing activities” and “operating activities”.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest
rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and fuel price risk),
credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The
Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage

certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury
department (the “Group Treasury”) under policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group Treasury
identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close
co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The Board
provides written principles for overall risk management,
as well as written policies covering specific areas, such
as foreign exchange risk, interest-rate risk, credit risk,
use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative

financial instruments.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(&) Financial risk factors (continued)

0)

Foreign currency risk

Since 21 July 2005, the PRC government reformed
the Renminbi exchange rate system and established
a floating exchange rate system in which the
exchange rate would be adjusted and managed
based on market supply and demand with reference
to a basket of foreign currencies. The fluctuation in
Renminbi exchange rate is affected by the domestic
and international economy, the political situation and
the currency supply and demand of the currency,
and thus the Renminbi exchange rate in the future
may therefore be very different from the current

exchange rate.

The Group operates its business in many countries
and territories. The Group generates its revenue in
different currencies, and its foreign currency liabilities
at the end of the period are much higher than its
foreign currency assets. The Group’s major liability
item (purchases and leases of aircraft) is mainly
priced and settled in currencies such as US dollars.
In addition, fluctuations in exchange rates will affect
the Group’s costs incurred from foreign purchases
such as aircraft, flight equipment and aviation fuel,

and take-off and landing charges in foreign airports.

The Group also has exposure to foreign currency
risk in respect of net cash inflow denominated in
Japanese Yen from ticket sales in overseas branch
office after payment of expenses. The Group entered
into certain foreign exchange forward option
contracts to manage this foreign currency risk.
Details of foreign currency forward contracts are

disclosed in Note 38(b) to the financial statements.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. sREKEE (&)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued) (a) &EEBEZ (&)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) SMERPE (&
The following table details the Group’s and the Ti%?ﬁzﬁg TEBRAREN
Company’s exposure at the balance sheet date to %k HHYINE R B o
major currency risk.
Group
&8
2008 2007
“BENE S s
usb Euro JPY usb Euro JPY
ES o A e BT A

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'00O
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETL ARETR

Trade and other IR R

receivables Ef R 981,740 42706 56003 1019596 54,185 420927
Cash and cash BelhhssE

equivalents &M 494249 126695 37,657 736,951 92205 70996
Trade and other ERESRR

payables HH R (417,910) (1,476) (363)  (317,867)  (6,017) (16)
Obligations under HERE

finance leases =4 (19,444,259) - (83971) (15417522 - (1,034,688)
Borrowings &3k (13,007,687)  (111,658) - (17,196,836)  (130,145) -
Currency derivatives fTETIR

at notional value 2EAE 825,170 - - 241,052 - -

Net balance sheet exposure ~ BEBERFE (30,568,697) 56,267 9326 (30,934,626) 10,228  (542,781)

Company
A
2008 2007
Z2ENF e 3
usb Euro JPY usb Euro JPY
Er B B e Bt S

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETL ARETR

Trade and other IR R

receivables il 898,975 24620 55929 876,175 2366 419,604
Cash and cash RekReE

equivalents &M 441,671 95622 22,705 460,383 60,122 57,480
Trade and other ERESRR

payables Hi R (414,591) (1,021) (363)  (315576)  (5,839) (16)
Obligations under BERE

finance leases =4 (17,164,531) - (83971) (12,737,815) - (1,034,688)
Borrowings &3 (12,734,767)  (111,658) - (16,874,186  (130,145) -
Currency derivatives it

at notional value 2EAE 825,170 - - 241,052 - -

Net balance sheet exposure  BEEERFE (28,148,073) 7,563 (5,700) (28,349,967 (73,490)  (557,620)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. TEEKRER (&)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued) () REMBEZ (&)
() Foreign currency risk (continued) (i) SMER P ()
The following table indicates the approximate change TRETREEAEXRA -
in the Group’s and the Company’s profit and loss and HNES[E R BX A BEM S I #
other components of consolidated equity in response By PARBHEMER
to a 5% appreciation of the RMB against the following FHES% - $ARE B A FH
major currencies at the balance sheet date. MR RERNTE
Group
%8
2008 2007
—EENE “TELF
Effect on  Effect on other Effect on Effect on other
profit components profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HRIER HERHM AR HEREM
BENE Homgg BENSE HAeFE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT ARETT

US dollars E 1,495,352 34,364 1,655,851 1,228
Euro BT (2,813) - (511) -
Japanese Yen Hrt (466) - 27,139 -
Company
AT
2008 2007
ZEENEF e s

Effect on  Effect on other Effect on Effect on other
profit components profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity

HABR HRERHM HMER HiEREM
ERANZE Bomze ERNYE BT E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBFR ARETR ARETT

US dollars e 1,374,321 34,364 1,426,618 1,228
Euro 5 aw (378) - 3,675 -

Japanese Yen Hot 285 - 27,881 -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-rate risk primarily arises from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.
Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest-rate risk. During 2008 and 2007,
the Group’s borrowings at variable rates were
primarily denominated in US dollars. The interest
rates and terms of repayment of borrowings made
to the Group and interest rate swaps are disclosed
in Notes 32 and 38(a) to the financial statements.

To hedge against the variability in the cash flows
arising from a change in market interest rates, the
Group has entered into certain interest rate swaps
to swap variable rates into fixed rates. The Group
also entered certain interest rate swaps to swap fixed
assets into variable rates.

The following table details the Group’s and the
Company’s interest rate profile of the interest-bearing
financial instruments at the balance sheet date.

B ISR

3. TRIRAMEE (8
(a) &RtEMKREZE (&)
(i) FIEEpE

REBNFXREEENRE
REAER o P EFIHTET
MERLSAEBEAZRER
SN EEE o RE T EE
THERSAEBEAZ AR
BEFEER - R _TT)\F
RZZTZLFAN  AEEIZ
FENEAENEREER
ETTER - FE - KEMNE
RIE R IGFR A R A 2= 4 HA B2
BB T S R s ER2 AN 5
£38(a) °

AT ERBERTISN R EL
FrolEMIRERES  AE
8B — E BN RiE i
B EE/EEF X - X
& B TR B A R 12 B B
MEREBLDFBFE

TRETT RERAAEY
BREBMAES BT AN
FIEBER -

Group Company
%8 AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\F CZETtHFE CZBEN\F —ITTtF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR®TT AR¥TR ARBT:
Floating rate instruments  ZBRART A
Borrowings fax (12,171,844)  (9,734,862) (11,898,923) (9,477,525
Obligation under MEMHET
finance leases BfE (20,482,615) (14,570,519) (18,213,044) (11,992,404)
Interest rate swaps FEREBEL
at notional amount LELE 2,165,429 3,342,023  2,165429 3,342,023
(30,489,030) (20,963,358) (27,946,538) (18,127,906)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. TRRAKRERE (B
(a) Financial risk factors (continued) (a) =REAREZE (&)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued) (i) FFEE (B)
Group Company
£m N
2008 2007 2008 2007

—2ENF _—TTLF CZBENF _TTLF
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARETET

Fixed rate instruments BEMEIA
Cash and He Rl
cash equivalents SEEY 3,451,010 1,655,244 2,361,941 1,040,897
Borrowings &3 (22,929,528) (20,128,966) (19,209,590) (16,116,832)
Obligation under MEMHET
finance leases BfE (326,284)  (1,881,691) (316,127)  (1,780,598)
Interest rate swaps FEREBEH
at notional amount HEAE 1,053,352 1,217,691 1,053,352 1,217,691
(18,751,450) (19,137,722) (16,110,424) (15,638,842)
The following table indicates the approximate change TRBRTEEMESRE
in the Group’s and the Company’s profit and loss BEOBLT  BFNXRLEFH
and other components of equity if interest rate had 0.25%EHEE KA RIAH
been 0.25% higher with all other variables held EREBIA GBS EMAE
constant. PR EBD HY R BV &) o
2008 2007
“EENE S
Effect on Effect on other Effecton  Effect on other
profit ~ components profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HABR HESHM HHE R Higm M
FENZE a2 BENTE a2
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT R ARETT ARBTT

Floating rate instruments 2 EF|& T A (77,592) 10,299 (57,681) 27,872
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)
(iif) Fuel price risk

The Group’s results of operations may be significantly
affected by fluctuations in fuel prices which is a
significant expense for the Group. Aircraft fuel
accounts for 33% of the Group’s operating expenses
(2007: 35%). The Group has entered into certain
financial derivatives to hedge against fuel price risk.
Details of fuel option contracts are disclosed in Note

38(c) to the financial statements.

For the year 2008, if fuel price had been 5% higher/
lower with all other variables held constant (excluding
the impact of fuel option contracts), the Group’s fuel

cost would have been RMB900 million higher/lower.

For the years ended, if fuel price had been 5% higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, the

impact on financial derivatives is shown below.
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(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 4w 2L)
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3. TRIAKREE (&)
(a) £RtEMKREZE (&)

(iii)

R 1E S L2

MR AREE —IBE 24
B A AEEREER
A S X EI R ERRBFTR
2o frmr HEEBEEES N
#133% (2007 : 35%) ° At
EiRBR LS RITAE T ARY
FRLRERRR - fBEES
kAN Tt 0l
FE38(c) °

2008 [E - FEEME 2R
BB T CHeIEm S
HEENTE) - Wa TN
BI% EF BRIET5% - N&E
B MR A E A BRRA
R¥E900EE T °

PR - IR R ER £
FrBRAR TS % « T H o
SRETEMERAT - I

BERZtHeMITETAD
FENT
2008 2007
—EENE ZETHE
Effect on Effect on other Effecton  Effect on other
profit components profit components
and loss of equity and loss of equity
HAER HEREAM HAER HignE
BRNZE Hons s BENYE EiSakEZ
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT ARETT ARBTR
Net increase in REEF
fuel price FE 497,879 - 8,766 -
Net decrease in HE TBE -
fuel price FHE (500,690) - (17,531) -
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. TRRAKRERE (B
(a) =REAREZE (&)
(iv) EERE

(&) Financial risk factors (continued)

(iv) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments
and deposits with banks and financial institutions,
as well as credit exposures to sales agents. The
Group has a credit policy in place to monitor the

exposures to these credit risks on an on-going basis.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
of blank tickets are only made available to sales
agents with an appropriate credit history. A major
portion of sales are conducted through sales agents
and the majority of these agents are connected to
various settlement plans and/or clearing systems

which impose requirements on the credit standing.

A significant portion of the Group’s air tickets are
sold by agents participating in the Billing and
Settlements Plan (“BSP”), a clearing system between
airlines and sales agents organised by the
International Air Transportation Association. The
balance due from BSP agents amounted to
approximately RMB515 million as at 31 December
2008 (2007: RMB896 million).

REBWEERREIERSN
ReRRSEFEEY  1T42
BMITA ERITEREMSHE
BENTRAREERER
WFEHR - AEEBB—EE
ENEERREHERERR
HEITIHENEE -

AEEEERERRAME
ARREHTERIFEER
SREVIHEREA - $'§l7k
MBS BRBRIEAL
IHK%%REAﬁE/A
ERAEETINBEERR
BLURBHEEGABRRD

T o

75 B ) FE W AR SR K ER 9
AEWSE[RIIRELHE
2] ([BSPJ) BRI A
18 TR BB M 2 80 i
RN RIMARIRA Z HERS
HEABE RGP -BILE—ZTTN
F+ZA=+—H1t F&H
FEWBSPHRIE ABKIBEL B
ARB15BET (ZE2 £
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(iv) Credit risk (continued)

Except for the above, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk, with the exposure

spreading over a number of counterparties.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade

receivables are set out in Note 26.

The Group’s cash management policy is to deposit
cash and cash equivalents mainly in state-owned
banks and other banks, which are highly rated by
an international credit rating company. The Group
also deposits cash and cash equivalents in an
associate financial institution owned by its holding
company (Note 44(bj(iii)). The management does not
expect any loss to arise from non-performance by

these banks and the financial institution.

Transactions in relation to derivative financial
instruments are only carried out with financial
institutions of high reputation. The Group has policies
that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one
financial institution. Management does not expect

any losses from non-performance by these banks.

BTSSR R A

3. THRAKRERE (&
() =REREZR (@)
(iv) B[R (B)

Br Fai ETESN - REETE
EREFEERR ¥R
RREZEF o
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BV TEEBEFHR
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. TRRAKRERE (B
(a) Financial risk factors (continued) () sREMREZ (&)
(v) Liquidity risk V) mEBEZERE
The Group’s primary cash requirements have been AEBNEEREFKAR

for additions of and upgrades to aircraft, engines
and flight equipment and payments on related
borrowings. The Group finances its working capital
requirements through a combination of funds
generated from operations and both short and long
term bank loans. The Group generally finances the
acquisition of aircraft through long-term finance

leases and bank loans.

The Group operates with a working capital deficit.
As at 31 December 2008, the Group’s net current
liabilities amounted to RMB43,458 million (2007:
RMB26,098 million). For the year ended 31
December 2008, the Group recorded a net cash
inflow from operating activities of RMB2,856 million
(2007: inflow RMB3,080 million), a net cash outflow
from investing activities and financing activities of
RMB1,017 million (2007: outflow RMB3,396 million),
and an increase in cash and cash equivalents of
RMB1,796 million (2007: decrease RMB332 million).

M - BN R RITRED
REINEREEERABE
RHEE AEEBRAEE
EBRBTHRARKREER
% WireETomEHE
BEESMNF R  AEERAT
UBEHEMRITERN T
AIREBEE R

AEERERSE R
RETEE - RZFT\F
TZA=1t—8  x&EH
FOR BB HDBARE

| &

434 58BITL(ZEZLF -
ARM260.98187T) &

ETEN\FF+ZA=+—
HIEFE @ REBEHEHE
BERFRADNBARYK
28561 (ZEZTLF : A
E¥30.80187T) « EEE
LRt & EEBHEREREL
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(v) Liquidity risk (continued)

The Directors of Company believe that cash from
operations and short and long term bank borrowings
will be sufficient to meet the Group’s operating
cashflow. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group’s treasury policy
aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping
credit lines available. The Directors of the Company
believe that the Group has obtained sufficient general
credit facilities from PRC banks for financing future
capital commitments and for working capital

purposes (see Notes 2(a) and 47).

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserves on the basis of expected

cash flows:

The table below analysis the Group’s financial
liabilities that will be settled into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the
balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12
months equal their carrying balances, as the impact

of discounting is not significant.

BTSSR R A

3. sREMERE (&
(a) EREREE (&
) mEBEZERE (&)

RARZEERABAEE A
ﬁ@%@&ﬁﬁﬁ%%AW
BRANEEES - BHNTT
%%&E%“ REBFE R
RE B AGENE ARG
REENEERE - NAQF
EEREAEEERFEER
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3. sREKRERE (&)
(a) &mEREZE (&)
v) #mEETEE (B)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(&) Financial risk factors (continued)

(v) Liquidity risk (continued)

Group
£
Less than Between Between
lyear land2years 2andb5years Over 5 years
1T 126 R 2Z5F R 5EME
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
At 31 December —EENF
2008 +=A=+-8H
Borrowings 0 27,785,310 4,515,962 3,969,413 846,074
Derivative financial & BIATAE
instruments TH 6,456,075 15,448 19,416 150,660
Obligations under ~ FIEME
finance leases =R 2,765,969 2,704,499 7,805,669 11,868,053
Trade and other ARE S
payables H bR 16,561,603 - 320,354 410,076
Total mE 53,568,957 7,235,909 12,114,852 13,274,863
At 31 December TEELF
2007 +=-RA=+—H
Borrowings B3 18,494,521 5,927,098 4,216,517 1,225,692
Derivative financial & @74
instruments TA 20,238 441 5,120 15,997
Obligations under ~ EEEME
finance leases AafE 2545223 1,567,258 4,205,352 8,134,382
Trade and other R BR R K
payables H b RER R 12,075,177 - 339,064 314,884
Total k] 33,135,159 7,494,792 8,766,053 9,690,955
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3. ERERERE (&
(a) EREAREE (&)
) RBEZEE (&)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(a) Financial risk factors (continued)

(v) Liquidity risk (continued)

Company
NE
Less than Between Between
lyear land2years 2and5years  Over5years
1EUT 1E256R 2B5F R 5FLE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARKEFT AREEFT AREFT
At 31 December —EENF
2008 +=A=+-H
Borrowings EE 25,146,504 3,849,229 3,156,324 530,386
Derivative financial & &IIT4
instruments = 6,456,075 15,448 19,416 150,660
Obligations under ~ FEME
finance leases =R 2,458,559 2,400,584 6,892,822 10,534,868
Trade and other ANE S 9
payables HAtb FERT 5K 14,594,713 - 229,399 410,076
Total s 48,655,851 6,265,261 10,297,961 11,625,990
At 31 December “EELF
2007 +ZA=+—H
Borrowings & 15,943,774 5,515,186 3,266,554 868,843
Derivative financial & R&IAT4
instruments TH 20,238 441 5,120 15,997
Obligations under ~ FIEME
finance leases =R 2,316,781 1,342,166 3,494,960 6,618,596
Trade and other ANE 9
payables HAb FERT 5K 10,384,462 - 268,064 314,884
Total 1B 28,665,255 6,857,793 7,034,698 7,818,320
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3. cERAMER (&)
(b) EXREBER

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt
is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capital is calculated as equity, as shown

in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net debt.

REENEAREREE  2RE
SEEELE  URKREMH
EIFRM A E MR B AR A
7 AN RENERERBIA
PN = NN

RTHRBAHBRENER K%
ERREEABRINTRRARS
2R MR IKHEANRE
BIOHBRHLEEENRERE
& o

HEEAREMAR 5% KEEF
FABELRERELER - X
RREE TR AL ERTE -
BERFERREERERS A
S EBY - BEARR M) (AR
BEERERMY) IMERFHE -

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2008 and 2007 were EZZEENFRZZZTLF+=
as follows: A=+—8 a@thIxuTr

2008 2007

—BENE  C—2TA

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREF T

Total borrowings KBS 35,101,372 29,863,828
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERBEEFEY (3,451,010) (1,655,244)
Net debt B FRE 31,650,362 28,208,584
Total equity s (12,639,509) 2,932,556
Total capital BB 19,010,853 31,141,140
Gearing ratio ABfELX 1.66 0.91
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading
and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price; the quoted market price used for

financial liabilities is the current asking price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and
makes assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted market prices
or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-
term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value
for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of
interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present value of
the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward
foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward
exchange market rates at the balance sheet date. The
fair value of fuel option contracts is determined by
reference to mark-to-market values provided by
counterparties and independent third parties applying

appropriate option valuation models.

The fair values of other long-term receivables are based
on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the
borrowing rate. The fair value of financial liabilities for
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate
that is available to the Group for similar financial

instruments (Notes 31 and 32).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial
statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

(a) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

and intangible assets

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets have been impaired in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(n) to the
financial statements. The recoverable amounts of cash
generating units have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management and the key assumption which are disclosed
in Note 18(a).

(b) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises passenger, cargo and mail
revenues in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2(f) to the financial statements. Unused tickets
are recognised in traffic revenues based on current
estimates. Management annually evaluates the balance
in the Sales in advance of carriage account (“SIAC”) and
records any adjustments, which can be material, in the

period the evaluation is completed.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

(b)

Revenue recognition (continued)

These adjustments result from differences between the
estimates of certain revenue transactions and the timing
of recognising revenue for any unused air tickets and the
related sales price, and are impacted by various factors,
including a complex pricing structure and interline
agreements throughout the industry, which affect the

timing of revenue recognition.

Frequent flyer programme

The Company operates a frequent flyer programme called
“Eastern Miles” that provides travel awards to programme
members based on accumulated miles. A portion of
passengers revenue attributable to the award of frequent
flyer benefits is deferred and recognised when the miles
have been redeemed or have expired. The deferment of
revenue is estimated based on historical trends of
redemptions, which is then used to project the expected
utilisation of these benefits. Any remaining unutilised

benefits are recognised as deferred revenue.

Depreciation of components related to overhaul costs

Depreciation of components related to airframe and
engine overhaul costs are based on the Group’s historical
experience with similar airframe and engine models and
taking into account anticipated overhauls costs, timeframe
between each overhaul, ratio of actual flying hours and
estimated flying hours between overhauls. Different
judgments or estimates could significantly affect the
estimated depreciation charge and materially impact the

results of operations.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

(e) Provision for costs of return condition checks for aircraft

and engines under operating leases

Provision for the estimated costs of return condition
checks for aircraft and engines under operating leases is
made based on the estimated costs for such return
condition checks and taking into account anticipated
flying hours, flying cycle and timeframe between each
overhaul. These judgments or estimates are based on
historical experience on returning similar airframe and
engine models, actual costs incurred and aircraft and
engines status. Different judgments or estimates could
significantly affect the estimated provision for costs of

return condition checks.

Retirement benefits

The Group operates and maintains defined retirement
benefit plans which provide retirees with benefits including
transportation subsidies, social activity subsidies as well
as other welfare. The cost of providing the aforementioned
benefits in the defined retirement benefit plan is actuarially
determined and recognised over the employees’ service
period by utilising various actuarial assumptions and using
the projected unit credit method in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2(w) to the financial
statements. These assumptions include, without limitation,
the selection of discount rate, annual rate of increase of
per capita benefit payment and employees’ turnover rate.
The discount rate is based on management’s review of
local high quality corporate bonds. The annual rate of
increase of benefit payments is based on the general local
economic conditions. The employees’ turnover rate is
based on historical trends of the Group. Additional
information regarding the retirement benefit plans is

disclosed in Note 36 to the financial statements.

4. EESFHHFRHE (8)

(e)

)

REMHEREE EBSEARE

RIS LER

REEHERB L ESHARE
RIE R RERARETH
EERENGTERE - ZF
EEFEARZYESORIT N
- RITIEIR - KERRERER R
RER A REHANEIEERETT
et - EEMEFTEREREEE L
EARE B A A R SRR LR K 3%
BRIV RE LR  BEREL
MIAEER - LARIREE N 3 8
1 AR E I e BURHETTEY » &
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(g) Deferred income tax

In assessing the amount of deferred tax assets that need
to be recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 2(k) to the financial statements, the Group
considers future taxable income and ongoing prudent and
feasible tax planning strategies. In the event that the
Group’s estimates of projected future taxable income and
benefits from available tax strategies are changed, or
changes in current tax regulations are enacted that would
impact the timing or extent of the Group’s ability to utilise
the tax benefits of net operating loss carry forwards in
the future, adjustments to the recorded amount of net
deferred tax assets and taxation expense would be made.

5. REVENUES

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of civil
aviation, including the provision of passenger, cargo, mail
delivery and other extended transportation services.

(0) EFERIR

RIFF B RKR T2 TS
AR - EEREREER SN
BENSER  ~AEEEZER
AR R AR B M R AT AT RO 5 AE
MIART BIEE - EHE TJ%%E/T\Z]K
SE R TERT R R ERBUE N K

FHEI’J%)EEIEH%H%HRE’J%'J*@%

IE’JWKEEE# /\/Elﬂﬁé%mf&“é%
B MM AT R B &K - KEE
CHABRCHBHETHEHFE
ERFBHER -

L

ZN ITERERMER  BRE
B 5iE  BEREMTERERR
%5

Group
EE
2008 2007
—EENF —FTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AREET T
Revenues WA
Traffic revenues Bl A
— Passenger — K& 34,221,555 36,077,309
— Cargo and mail —BiENEE 5,465,784 5,633,117
Ground service income I AR TS UL A 1,279,444 1,001,809
Cargo handling income EMEERIA 345,048 364,638
Commission income He WA 187,073 156,713
Others HAth 464,717 393,166
41,963,621 43,626,752
Less: Business tax (Note) B EED G (891,064) (1,092,859)
41,072,557 42,533,893
Note:

Except for traffic revenues derived from inbound international and regional
flights, which are not subject to the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
business tax, the Group’s traffic revenues, commission income, ground service
income, cargo handling income and other revenues are subject to PRC
business tax levied at rates ranging from 3% to 5%, pursuant to PRC business
tax rules and regulations.

SR

B B R B 4t [ i 4R [ A2 28 Bl LA SR B TR
Sh - REBRERRA - BEWA - RS
WA - EWEBEARE B ATRE S E X
T8 TR B R AR D32 3% S5 % at 4P B & 2
i o
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6. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND OTHER GAINS 6. HhEEWAREMBWRE

Group

%8
2008 2007
—EEN\F  —TTF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETTT

Other operating income Hi& WA
— Government subsidies (Note (a)) — B GEE (@) 405,163 487,562
Other gains H At F
— Gains on disposal of property, plant and ~ — )2 -« #22  R
equipment (Note (o)) BB e FEE (o) 267,084 -
Note: IR
(@)  The government subsidies represent (i) subsidies granted by the Central () HBIF@WBIEZEA (i) PR & ERFGR
Government and local government to the Group; and (i) other subsidies SERNMHEE R (i) S5 BUS AE B RS
granted by various local municipalities to encourage the Group to operate BE&EHEHMAR M4 T HURERL ©
certain routes to cities where these municipalities are located.
(b)  The gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment represent (o) WnE - M HEEEREEESR -
(i) the gain arising from the sales of certain cargo freighters and engines 0] %%iﬂ%’f%ﬁ%& LA E A
which were leased back under operating lease and (i) the disposal of MEENREFRE - LUK (i) 38952007
certain aircraft recorded in “non-current assets held for sale” in 2007. FERAGEEAENAFEREMEED
Bis -
kva | B2 BN
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. AEWAR
ERAEE 2 NHTBmE - A&

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting, the
Group has determined that business segments be presented
as the primary reporting format and geographical as the

secondary reporting format.

(&) Primary reporting format by business segment

The Group has two business segments, namely
passenger and cargo and logistics, which are structured
and managed separately, according to the nature of their

operations and the services they provide.

EREHEBEDHFERMESEIENH
HE - MRS HERIIESRRD
A2
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Primary reporting format by business segment
(continued)

(1) Passenger business segment includes cargo carried
by passenger flights.

(2) Inter-segment transfers are transactions that are
entered into under normal commercial terms and
conditions that would also be available to unrelated
third parties.

The segment results for the year ended 31 December

2008 are as follows:

3 [Eo
R

7. DEEH ()
(a) UXBKIBHEELI BN (@)

(1)

@%K

EWEBH D BRI TR
BEEART

7 BRRI RS} X2 5 75 DA B 4

b2 6 =T R AR

NS SRS TR

—EEN\F+_RA=+—H

IFFER D FREE I NIIR

Cargo and
Passenger logistics Unallocated Total
BE EERYR RAE =
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AR®TT AR®TT AR¥T R
Traffic revenues B 35,527,984 3,316,285 - 38,844,269
Other revenues and Hl A

operating income 1,476,812 1,092,067 257,033 2,825,912
Total segment revenue DEMAEE 37,004,796 4,408,352 257,033 41,670,181
Inter-segment revenue o EPERA (426,411) - (171,213) (597,624)
Revenues WA 36,578,385 4,408,352 85,820 41,072,557
Operating (loss)/profit e (B1R) /&F)

— segment results —DEEE (15,148,592) (4,392) 69,779  (15,083,205)
Finance income T N 1,960,490 100,781 354 2,061,625
Finance costs B (2,156,695) (146,944) (24,508)  (2,328,147)
Share of results LS N

of associates E - - 69,668 69,668
Share of results of e H R

jointly controlled entities EREE - - 24,050 24,050
(Loss)/profit before HAl (&8,

income tax gl (15,344,797) (50,555) 139,343  (15,256,009)
Income tax B 10,217 (73,952) (10,181) (73,916)
(Loss)/profit for FEF (BB,

the year ikl (15,334,580) (124,507) 129,162  (15,329,925)
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(@) Primary reporting format by business segment

(continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #{Z —

7.

FEN\FA=1—ALFE

2EHER (&)
(a) J’)\%i‘%/_\_l_lgﬁ.lfg/\_l_ﬁﬁ/it (nﬂ)

Other segment items included in the consolidated income HE-_ZTZEN\F+-_A=1—H
statement for the year ended 31 December 2008 are as HEFEERERGEBRRTME
follows: o EBIE R SR T
Cargo and

Passenger logistics Unallocated Total

BE BERDR RAE a5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T AR®T T ARMT T ARBT R

Depreciation e 4,052,309 427,620 60,600 4,540,529
Amortisation iy 229,350 11,097 586 241,033
Impairment losses VEAERCES 2,833,565 143,113 - 2,976,678
The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December 2008 HE - EENF+-_HA=1+—H

and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as

follows:

LHFEZ2OMEE BEREXR
M HFIRIT -

Cargo and

Passenger logistics Unallocated Total

BE EERUR RO &t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARET R ARETR ARET

Segment assets DEBEE 66,377,081 4,160,865 1,171,293 71,709,239

Investments in associates WA RELE AT - - 980,319 980,319
Investments in jointly BERHER

controlled entities EHERE - - 362,332 362,332

Total assets BEAG 66,377,081 4,160,865 2,513,944 73,051,890

Segment liabilities DEEE (81,763,440)  (3,415,065) (512,894)  (85,691,399)
Capital expenditure BT H

(Notes 18, 19, (7 %818+ 19
20 and 21) 20%21) 11,332,697 177,589 20,513 11,530,799




(continued)

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Primary reporting format by business segment

The segment results for the year ended 31 December

7. DEEFR (F)
(a) UXBDHHEZD MR (&)

BE_ZTTLHF+_HA=1—H

2007 are as follows: IFENDEZEEN TR :
Cargo and
Passenger logistics Unallocated Total
BiE EERYR AAE At
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETTT ARETTT AREFT
Traffic revenues ERKA 37,550,127 3,113,488 - 40,663,615
Other revenues and HiplgA
operating income 1,208,760 900,529 208,456 2,317,745
Total segment revenue DEWAEET 38,758,887 4,014,017 208,456 42,981,360
Inter-segment revenue D EEUWA (348,643) - (98,824) (447,467)
Revenues WA 38,410,244 4,014,017 109,632 42,533,893
Operating (loss)/profit (58,5 hl
- segment results —DEEE (93,051) 181,823 38,861 127,633
Finance income BTG 2,055,187 84,481 789 2,140,457
Finance costs B (1,799,454) (164,685) (14,411) (1,978,550
Share of results byl N
of associates ¥4 - - 58,312 58,312
Share of results of jointly B R
controlled entities TS - - 30,086 30,086
Profit before income tax A& A 162,682 101,619 113,637 377,938
Income tax Fi8 38,835 (68,123) (4,475) (28,763)
Profit for the year FEFaF 201,517 43,496 109,162 354,175
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Primary reporting format by business segment

(continued)

7.

2EHER (&)
(a) LX%%%/\—LB%EEE/\—LBﬁ/ﬁ (ME)

Other segment items included in the income statement HE-_ZTZ+F+-_A=1—H
for the year ended 31 December 2007 are as follows: HFEBRERGEAERRTHHE
o EBIE R SR T
Cargo and

Passenger logistics Unallocated Total

RiE KERMR *pE &t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETF T ARETF T ARETT

Depreciation e 3,809,072 646,364 42,749 4,588,185
Amortisation B 119,913 11,051 586 131,550
Impairment loss EAER=ES 227,456 - - 227,456
The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December 2007 Hz2_2T+F+=-A=+—H

and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as

follows:

HFEZHEEE BERER
MEHSIRET

Cargo and
Passenger logistics Unallocated Total
®ig EERYR RAEL =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T ARETF T ARBET T
Segment assets DEEE 60,390,659 5,286,774 1,125,583 66,803,016
Investments in associates KBRS AT - - 601,119 601,119
Investments in jointly RERER
controlled entities B - - 336,966 336,966
Total assets BESG 60,390,659 5,286,774 2,063,668 67,741,101
Segment liabilities DHEpELE (60,129,187) (4,196,729) (482,629)  (64,808,545)
Capital expenditure BARMS W
(Notes 18, 19, (318 19
20 and 21) 20%21) 11,807,855 788,078 212,607 12,808,540
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(b) Secondary reporting format by geographical segment

The Group’s two business segments operate in four main
geographical areas, even though they are managed on a
worldwide basis.

The Group’s revenues (net of business tax) by geographical
segment are analyzed based on the following criteria:

(1) Traffic revenue from services within the PRC
(excluding the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“Hong Kong”)) is classified as domestic
operations. Traffic revenue from inbound and
outbound services between the PRC, Hong Kong
or overseas markets is attributed to the segments
based on the origin and destination of each flight
segment.

(2) Revenue from ticket handling services, airport ground
services and other miscellaneous services are
classified on the basis of where the services are

BTSSR R A

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1B B 75 3R 2E Bl 4w 2L)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #ZE_—FZEN\F+—-A=1+—HIFFEF

7.

2 EER (&)
(b) UEEHDFERBRETLK

BEEBKEBREN  NEBZW
& ZE 75 2R MU {E £ B A IR [
s o

AEEAHE S 2 WA REE
ERMBFER) OWWOT -

() RPBBRA(IBIEFEES
FERIITH R ([BE])) :REAR
75 P R A 22 B M A B A
REBRA - ZEERBHES
BB INTISE AR R EE
AR 75 Fi7 Bk B B0 48 ) LA 3208
INTLAR IR B B S AR B B SR

BFTBHEERIA -
(i) RESZERBUA - #i5H

2R A5 U R E A A [R] AR 75
PIT R ER O W AR 12 1 % AR

performed. FrEt &5 Az ib @ B %55
WA o
Group
£3)
2008 2007
—EBENE —EELE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AR®ET T
Domestic A
(the PRC, excluding Hong Kong) (FE - TEEEE) 24,333,387 24,133,540
Hong Kong BB 2,474,088 2,694,857
Japan AR 3,512,222 3,643,244
Other countries HMBEX 10,752,860 12,062,252
Total =X 41,072,557 42,533,893

The major revenue-earning assets of the Group are its
aircraft, all of which are registered in the PRC. Since the
Group’s aircraft are deployed flexibly across its route
network, there is no suitable basis of allocating such
assets and the related liabilities to geographical segments
and hence segment assets and capital expenditure by
geographic segment have not been presented.

AEBEEBRATRREREE
B WERESEMRPE - A
RAEE 2 R AT E T RIAAR S
BHER R ARILEFEENME
HREEESHTAIEDEHN
EE - R RIR R 8 5 B2k
BREEEREARMES L -
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8. (LOSS)/GAIN ON FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES 8. MTEIAEAABEED (B =

Group
£H
2008 2007
—BENF —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR¥ETT

(Loss)/gain arising from fair value METAAREE
movements of financial derivatives gE) (1K) W
— Fuel option contracts (Note 38(c)) — RIS 49 (GIFE38(c)) (6,255,791) 96,576
— Interest rate swaps (Note 38(a)) —F=EH®E L GTE38(a)) (49,535) (8,824)
— Forward foreign exchange —SNEREIA 40 (FERE38())
contracts (Note 38(b)) (95,666) (3,787)
(6,400,992) 83,965
9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS 9. TE - HEREF
Group
=H
2008 2007
e Y
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
Wages, salaries, bonus T8 %He - 164l
and allowances L 3,259,465 3,198,734
Employee welfare and benefits 1B B @ ke 227,206 246,626
Defined contribution retirement ERRREFE
schemes (Note 36(a)) (7:%36(a)) 452,879 373,253
Post-retirement benefits EERKERANER
(Note 37(b)) (FE#36(b)) 200,603 170,670
Staff housing fund (Note 37(a)) STEFES FHE37() 281,776 285,000
Staff housing allowance (Note 37(b)) BT B8 GERES7(0) 123,383 53,114

4,545,312 4,327,397




q Eastern Airlines Corp

9. I¥ - FE2REAMN (&
(a) EE > ESReRITHAESNEH
management &

XNERAES  EERERT
BABHMEBETHIEE

9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS (continued)

(@) Emoluments of directors, supervisors and senior

Details of the emoluments paid to the Company’s Directors,

supervisors and senior management are as follows:

2008
—EENF
Salaries and
allowance Bonus Total
HeRkma TEAL e
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBET T AR¥TF T
Executive Directors BITES
Liu Shaoyong* 2R m~ - - -
Ma Xulun* HAMm* - - -
Li Fenghua* 3 Fo - - -
Luo Chaogeng* AR - - -
Cao Jianxiong* B - - -
Li Jun* FE - - -
Luo Zhuping BT 173 - 173
Independent non-executive BN FHITES

Directors

Hu Honggao RS 120 - 120
Peter Lok e 117 - 117
Wu Baiwang Ey=]:is 120 - 120
Zhou Ruijin e 120 - 120
Xie Rong BiIES 120 - 120
Supervisors E=x - - -
Liu Jiangbo* BT - - -
Xu Zhao* 1RAB* - - -
Yang Jie EA 45 - 45
Wang Taoying FErkR 162 - 162
Liu Jiashun* 2R IE - - -
Vice executive Directors BlEITES
Zhang Jianzhong sk 203 - 203
Li Yangmin FER 188 - 188
Fan Ru e 654 - 654
Finance controller S Y-
Luo Weide ‘BT 189 - 189
Total &t 2,211 - 2,211
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9. I& HKERN (B
(a) EF  EERSRITHAERBN

9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS (continued)

(&8 Emoluments of directors, supervisors and senior

management (continued) % (@)
2007
ZETLF
Salaries and
allowance Bonus Total
e ML PEFAN pERE]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFT AREBTT
Executive Directors HITEE
Li Fenghua* o - - -
Luo Chaogeng* ETHE - - -
Cao Jianxiong* ey - - -
Li Jun* FE* - - -
Luo Zhuping T 187 - 187
Independent non-executive B EHITESE

Directors

Hu Honggao B S 120 - 120
Peter Lok LEm™ 117 - 117
Wu Baiwang REH 120 - 120
Zhou Ruijin Bine 120 - 120
Xie Rong EIES 120 - 120
Supervisors Ex
Liu Jiangbo* BT > - - -
Xu Zhao* TRAE* - - -
Yang Jie A 144 - 144
Wang Taoying FHEE 169 - 169
Liu Jiashun* 2R IE> - - -
Vice executive Directors  BIHI{TES
Zhang Jianzhong gz 220 - 220
Li Yangmin &R 202 -~ 202
Fan Ru B 676 - 676
Finance controller gy S oY
Luo Weide ‘R 207 - 207
Total aF 2,402 - 2,402
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9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS (continued)

(@)

(b)

Emoluments of directors, supervisors and senior

management (continued)

* Certain directors of the Company received emoluments
from CEA Holding, the parent company, part of which were
in respect of their services to the Company and its
subsidiaries. No apportionment has been made as it is

impracticable to apportion this amount between their

services to the Group and their services to CEA Holding.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, no Directors

and supervisors waived their emoluments (2007: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

One of the vice executive Directors, whose emoluments
are reflected in the above analysis was among the five
highest paid individuals in the Group for 2008. The
emoluments payable to the remaining four (2007: four)

highest paid individuals are as follows:

(a)

(b)

;sz#&iﬁﬁ}?gg

9. IE - HEKkEFN (B

5 ESRSRITHABNMH

% (&)

* ARABHEEFAAARREKE
RANRHIRTS - LREARFER
MEBXDMEMS - ARAAES
RABABEENRE S EEASE
B R ERMEE - Fiti 588
BT R R -

REE-_ZEZENF+_A=1+—
AIEFE  WEEN—NUESER
EEREHEME (T F

REEBRUZRHFAER - HF
—(IARRITEE  HF2ER
FM AR - e
(2007 : MUAL) &= A BB E
EILUNNE

Group

%M
2008 2007
—2ETNF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Wages, salaries, bonus and allowances L& - ¥ - 1E4L L #Hgh

2,505 2,430

The emoluments fell within the following band:

e H/BI T -

Number of individuals

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ JCIA T

A
2008 2007
—BENF ZEELFE
5 4
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9. WAGES, SALARIES AND BENEFITS (continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2008, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors,
supervisors or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as a

compensation for loss of office (2007: Nil).

10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

9. I& - -HEREMN (@

(b) EuEEFAENME (&)
REBEZE_ZTTN\F+_A=+—
BIEFE - NEEDRARBIES
BRABMHEEBRTES BES
FhfimmE A BEAME (ZF
T ) o

10. EERE

Group
=m

2008 2007

—EBENE —ZETLF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

Goodwill impairment (Note (a)) EERE (@) 993,143 -
Impairment charge on property, W - e R

plant and equipment (Note (b)) A GEE(®b) 1,441,904 -

Impairment charge on non-current FHEIERD

assets held for sale (Note (c)) BERE GHE(«) 235,273 130,921

Other impairment charge HEM&EERE 306,358 96,535

2,976,678 227,456

Note:

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group recognised an
impairment charge of RMB993 million against goodwill which had
previously been recognised in connection with the Group’s acquisition

of Yunnan Airline, Xibei Airline and Wuhan Airline (Note 18).

In view of the decline in demand on the air transportation market under
the current economic environment, the Group performed an impairment
test on property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) as at 31 December
2008, based on which an impairment provision of RMB1,442 million
was made against certain aircraft model and the related equipment
which reflects their relatively lower operation efficiency and which
management intend to retire in the near future. In determining the
recoverable amounts of the related assets, management has compared
the value in use and the fair value less costs to sell of the related assets,

primarily determined by reference to estimated market values (Note 19).

A

(a) M2008F12A31H @ NEBMEEHER
finze - FEdbM eI R B 2 R TR A 7
EHRT AR OSBITHIRE LS G
Z18) o

(o) 2008F12A31H AR ERIMZET S
FRTIE - ANEEBEME - MBS RREE
TTRENR  YKERENSERYE
TEZ WG BEW T BIRNE HARRR A
HHRERE  ZBRURSEREN
BHAW SRR T REEET AR
14.42187C - A E A RS - A%
BB THBEENRKRSRENRE
RAnBEREREERRNFE A8
EBED2RAHOTISER GER19) -



10. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES (continued)

11.

Note: (continued)

(c)  After assessing the fair value less costs to sell as at the balance sheet
date which was primarily determined by reference to estimated market
value, an additional impairment loss of RMB235 million was made
against certain aircraft and related flight equipment which have been

classified as “non-current assets held for sale” (Note 41).

10. EERIE (&)
HE ()

()

REEREBEXRA  FNEEZZTHNER
B AR HEIIRBEEN BRI
R AR BEREREEEBRHFE
AT T RHE - WREBRHSEREERER
Kt ARW2.35(8 T GEE41) -

OPERATING (LOSS)/PROFIT 11. &% (5518) %R
Operating (loss)/profit is stated after crediting and charging g (B518) m A AR ER T
the following items: IHB 5 -
Group
£®
2008 2007
—EENE ZETAF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
TR AR®T R ARETFT
Crediting: ETA
Gain on disposals of property, S Y5
plant and equipment RABEE WS 6 267,084 -
Charging: Bk -
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH 18 110,151 106,703
Depreciation of property, L IES Y5
plant and equipment _iETE
~ leased —HE 19 1,913,877 1,868,481
— owned -BE 19 2,626,652 2,719,704
Amortisation of lease prepayments T 0 & FE 5 20 25,940 24,847
Consumption of flight AR BT
equipment spare parts JHAE 476,282 468,888
Provision for impairment of trade R LA R e LA
and other receivables UGB B 34,760 10,481
Auditors’ remuneration ZERTN S 18,000 18,439
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12. FINANCE INCOME 12. B A
Group
£
2008 2007
—EEN\E ST
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTIT

Exchange gains, net (Note) R H e (FE) 1,957,591 2,023,032
Interest income F B A 89,275 96,849
Actual settled gains on financial instruments ~ $T4£ T A B 21825
— forward foreign exchange contracts —IMNERHIA LY 14,759 20,576
2,061,625 2,140,457
Note: =
The exchange gain for the year ended 31 December 2008 primarily relates to RZZEZNF+_A=+—H EXKEE
the translation of the Group’s foreign currency denominated borrowings and RN AEBE NS ENRETHE? fh&'%
obligations under finance leases at year-end exchange rates. BERFREH R -
13. FINANCE COSTS 13. B i
Group
&5
2008 2007
e e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBT T
Interest relating to obligations under MEHEAE
finance leases FE 651,121 731,885
Interest on loans from banks and RIT N 2 B
financial institutions BHRAE 1,945,212 1,629,090
Interest relating to notes payable NSRS 84,050 72,779
Interest relating to long-term payables BN R & - 3,406
Actual settled gains on financial instruments ~ $TA T E BB E|HEz
— Interest rate swaps (Note 38(a)) —FMEEHHBE L) GIHE38(a) (10,083) (59,111)
2,670,300 2,378,049
Less: Amounts capitalised into advanced B BAME Rk
payments on acquisition of aircraft SELNE -]
(Note 21) (FERE21) (342,153) (399,499)

2,328,147 1,978,650
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14. INCOME TAX 14. B

Income tax charged / (credited) to the consolidated income

statement is as follows:

BirEBmERT A (F0BR) MF AN
™

Group

%H
2008 2007
—BE\F  —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARET T

Provision for PRC income tax iR B P 1S i 35,432 72,918
Deferred taxation (Note 35) ERERRIA (FFE35) 38,484 (49,155)
73,916 23,763

Prior to 2008, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries
(the “Pudong Subsidiaries”) located in Pudong District,
Shanghai, were entitled to a reduced rate of 15% pursuant to
the preferential tax policy in Pudong, Shanghai. Under the
Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
(the “New CIT Law”) which was approved by the National
People’s Congress on 16 March 2007 and became effective
from 1 January 2008, the Company and the Pudong
Subsidiaries are entitled to enjoy a transitional period to
gradually increase the applicable corporate income tax rate
to 25% in coming five years. For the year ended 31 December
2008, the corporate income tax rate applicable to the Company
and the Pudong Subsidiaries is 18%. Other subsidiaries of
the Company, except for those incorporated in Hong Kong
and being subject to the Hong Kong corporate income tax
rate of 16.5%, are generally subject to the PRC standard

corporate tax rate of 25% under the New CIT Law.

20085 PART » ANA A R _EBTIHE
RATE A E T B AR (DERM
BAE) IER LERRFENRS
BEBUR REB15% - FEARHK
MEE2EARRKAGHR2007F3 A
16 R @B T(REARLMEIBREM
SE) ([FRFF1EHE]) - W E2008
F1RA1BRHEIT - BFAEEAEE
& NATRIERAMCEMSHERE
20084 2012 )55 HIfE] A& 27348
JEE25% o BR2008F[E + AN A KB
FMBARERAMNMAGEREER
18% ° R M B AN B A rliRRE
BAEREREEA16.5%MFIBRE
Hh - RARHAHM B AR ER LR
T PTSBOAR EE AR ER G X
25% °
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destinations. There was no material overseas taxation for the
years ended 31 December 2008, as there are double tax
treaties between the PRC and the corresponding jurisdictions

(including Hong Kong) relating to aviation businesses.

— ==

14. INCOME TAX (continued) 14. BiE (&)
Tax on the Group’s consolidated income statement differs from REE Evt,q\/\ BHREOBIE - BAR
the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate AIRBEREANBRMEEE 2T
of the home country of the Company as follows: FRIEEREREA T ¢
Group
m
2008 2007
—gBN\E  —ITLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
(Loss)/ profit before income tax BrEiAIEIE, (&R (15,256,009) 377,938
Adjusted by: T
Share of result of associates and jointly BHEE N E KR
controlled entities EHERNESR (93,718) (88,398)
(15,349,727) 289,540
Tax calculated at enacted tax 1R18% M EET RIS
rate of 18% (2007: 15%) ZF (20074 : 15%) (2,762,951) 43,431
Effect attributable to subsidiaries charged BB 2 F116.5%25%
at tax rates of 16.5% or 25% FIEBiM Ea 8
(2007: 17.5% or 33%) (20074 : 17.5%5(33%) (67,505) (49,578)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes IR 20353 6,462 12,031
Effect of tax rate change on deferred tax MRS ETRIER BN L - 24,289
Utilisation of previously unrecognised 15 F AR 4F 5 R TR Y
tax losses HEE1E - (157,531)
Written off of deferred tax asset recognised HBARBIEE F A AR
by a subsidiary in prior year FIEEATS T B E 34,773 -
Unrecognised tax losses for the year REERTHANHBER 1,093,350 54,647
Unrecognised temporary differences for the year ~ AEERERERFIEEZR 1,769,787 96,474
Tax charge HEEM 73,916 23,763
The Group operates international flights to overseas REFLERBEMER - REFKLFIN

B/t o A R ERAER R R AR
(BIERE)EX THREEHTIAH
B AKEREEC
S+ —BIEFEXEERXGINR o

SN\F+=A



q Eastern Airlines Corp

15. DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid during both 2008 and 2007 .

The Board of Directors of the Company has not recommended

any dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2008.

16. (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO

SHAREHOLDERS

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt
with in the financial statements of the Company to the extent
of RMB13,877 million (2007: profit of RMB505 million).

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company of
RMB15,269 million (2007: a profit of RMB379 million) and the
weighted average number of shares of 4,866,950,000 (2007:
4,866,950,000) in issue during the year.

The Company has no potentially dilutive option or other

instruments relating to ordinary shares.

15. B2

16.

17.

ARBERFER EFENTREIK
BRR

ARAEFRCRARE_STNE
A=t BULFETREEAR
=

FAREREE ARL (BB 8
)l

EHEBRARRERFE ARNEBEL
AR®138.77187T (2007 : mFMAR
#5.05187T) BB ERAARINTE
R o

Bk (BB &7

BRERNBBIRAARESFEEA
A BIEBARK152.6918T
(ZZTZT L5 : AFNAREI.79ET)
MERNDBETHMEFTHRH
4,866,950,000 (ZZEZT+F :
4,866,950,0000%) 51 & -

ZAUNEIRIZ YRR S R T o)1
EXEMERMTA -



HERSMERGERAT —TT/\FF 197

Notes to the Financial Statements| B 5335 11

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. B EE
Group
%E

Goodwill Sponsorship

(Note (a)) fee (Note (b)) Computer
BHE g2hE software Total
(FE@) (FE(®) £t st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR¥Tn AR¥®Tn ARETx

Cost AR
At 1 January 2007 R_EZ+F—F—H 993,143 320,000 118,573 1,431,716
Other additions HiRE - - 15,283 15,283
Disposals HE - - (1,715) (1,715)
At 31 December 2007 R-_ZEZ+F+-_A=+—H 993,143 320,000 132,141 1,445,284
At 1 January 2008 RZEZENF—F—H 993,143 320,000 132,141 1,445,284
Other additions HiRE - - 23,439 23,439
At 31 December 2008 RZEENF+ZA=+—H 993,143 320,000 155,580 1,468,723
Accumulated amortisation 25T
At 1 January 2007 R_EZ+F—F—H - 52,870 41,292 94,162
Charge for the year REHH - 82,194 24,509 106,703
Disposals HE - - (287) (287)
At 31 December 2007 R-_ZEZ+F+-_A=+—H - 135,064 65,514 200,578
At 1 January 2008 RZZZENF—H—H - 135,064 65,514 200,578
Charge for the year B - 82,194 27,957 110,151
At 31 December 2008 R-ZEENF+ZA=+—H - 217,258 93,471 310,729
Impairment 71?&{5
At 1 January 2008 RZZET\F—H—H - - - -
Charge for the year REFR 993,143 - - 993,143
At 31 December 2008 R-ZBEENF+ZA=+—H 993,143 - - 993,143
Net book amount EEE%E
At 31 December 2007 RZEZE+F+-A=+—H 993,143 184,936 66,627 1,244,706
At 31 December 2008 RZZEENF+-_A=+—H - 102,742 62,109 164,851
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18. ML EE (&)
Company
AH

Goodwill Sponsorship
(Note (a)) fee (Note (b)) Computer

HE BhHE software Total
(FE () (FEE(®0)) BB st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE AR¥TR ARETRT AR®Tx
Cost AR
At 1 January 2007 R_ZZ+F—H—H 688,311 320,000 117,389 1,125,700
Other additions HiAE - - 15,071 15,071
Disposals HE - - (1,715) (1,715)
At 31 December 2007 “EZ+F+-A=+—H 688,311 320,000 130,745 1,139,056
At 1 January 2008 R_EZEZNF—F—H 688,311 320,000 130,745 1,139,056
Other additions HaRE - - 23,321 23,321
At 31 December 2008 R-ZBENF+ZA=1+—H 688,311 320,000 154,066 1,162,377
Accumulated amortisation ZiH#8s
At 1 January 2007 R_ZEZ+F—H—H - 52,870 40,151 93,021
Charge for the year REEH - 82,194 24,454 106,648
Disposals HE - - (287) (287)
At 31 December 2007 R_ZEZ+F+-_A=+—H - 135,064 64,318 199,382
At 1 January 2008 RZEZEZNF—HF—H - 135,064 64,318 199,382
Charge for the year R - 82,194 27,911 110,105
At 31 December 2008 R-ZBENF+ZA=1+—H - 217,258 92,229 309,487
Impairment A
At 1 January 2008 RZEENF—-A—H - - - -
Charge for the year REFR 688,311 - - 688,311
At 31 December 2008 R-ZBENF+ZA=1+—H 688,311 - - 688,311
Net book amount BREEE
At 31 December 2007 R-_ZEZE+F+-_A=+—H 688,311 184,936 66,427 939,674
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZBENF+ZA=1+—H - 102,742 61,837 164,579
Notes: g
(a)  Impairment tests for goodwill (a) EE8EER
The Group operates in two cash-generating units (“CGU”) which are AEEREMEREELEETLIFIAKE
passenger (including cargo carried by passenger flights) and cargo and (BREERER) UREERMT -

logistics.
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18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@

(b)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group and the Company
recognised impairment charge of RMB993 million and RMB688 million
respectively, against goodwill which had previously been recognised in
conncetion with the acquisition of Yunnan Airline, Xibei Airline and Wuhan
Airline within the passenger CGU. The impairment charge recognised
represents the amount by which the CGU’s carrying amount exceeds

its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on

financial budgets approved by management.

Key assumptions used for cash flow projections are as following:

0% to 4.5%
63% to 80%
54to11.4

— Discount rate 10%

— Passenger yield growth rate
— Passenger load factor

— Aircraft daily utilization (hours per day)

Management determined budgeted passenger yield increase rate, load
factor and aircraft daily utilization based on past performance and its
expectations for market development. The discount rate used is pre-

tax and reflects specific risks relating to the Group’s business.

Sponsorship fees

In March 2006, the Company entered into an agreement (the
“Sponsorship Agreement”) with the Bureau of 2010 Expo Shanghai (the
“Bureau”) which designated the Group as the exclusive airline passenger
carrier in the PRC to sponsor the 2010 Shanghai Expo. The Company
will be entitled to a number of rights, including but not limited to the use
of the Expo logo in the Group’s products, priority to purchase advertising
space at the Expo site etc. In return, the Company is required to pay a
total sponsorship fee of RMB320 million, RMB160 million of which would
be paid in cash by instalments, the remaining RMB160 million would
be settled by value-in-kind services (“VIK”) (in the form of goods or
services) to support the 2010 Shanghai Expo. Accordingly, an intangible
asset has been recognised and amortised on straight-line basis over
the period from the effective date of the Sponsorship Agreement to the
completion of the Expo. The outstanding sponsorship fee of RMB178
million (2007: 233 million) has been recognised as other long-term

liabilities (Note 34) in the Group’s balance sheet.

18.

FAR ﬁ/ ﬁ E (lllﬁ

(@

(b)

€=

TR E R (B
“ETN\F+ZA=+—HB REEEK
RADFIHFENEEEEEREAN
WERERM - AR EREMZE R RE
EHREEHRT ARBIGHEBTHEAR
#6838 H BITHIREER - FERAMER
ARREEAREEESNARILEE
Ak -

ReEAB MA@ RRIREREE
FHE - FESTANBRARSRERA
KIBEER BN IEE

BeRERAA Tt rOBI R FRARF L

st

=

— BB RKE TE45%
—REX 63% Z 80%
—REBFIBE (N5, K) 5.4 E11.4
—B= 10%

EEERBBEFRANESTSRERNE
AIEEE B AL RRE - RN
BAARERR ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁiﬁ’ﬁ%ﬁﬁu
tI:T]I&BHMHF'ﬁ“*BEI’J% B o

Eo#
RZFBERF=A ARFELET_FT

—RFEHE G EHHE BRI BB HEL
WHEER T —TF LEUESHE—PH
MERESIERH - AABNZEMER
B ETRAMEREESNRERNAE

EMERL FEEBUEEESUESE
UMELEES ARRFTEINARE

320EETTHENE - LAS'ZTE T—TF
e Hh ARB160EELAD X
MRS - R THAREI60EEITE N
ReSEDIN CURREDSHRIEE
X)) EEEEEEBRRPUEDEEH
HRBENEE - WEFAETEYHE
£ AU EE R AN LR N ELRE
TG - WEDRNESERARITSE

BT (20074 : 233E &) © HigEmE
NHRERGEEERBERTHRRAEME

A& (& (FEREs4) -
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

3 [Eo
R

19. M3 - BBERRE

Group
£E
Aircraft, engines and
flight equipment
R RBRRRTRE
Other
Held under property,
finance plant and
leases equipment ~ Construction
Owned IBE  Buildings Ht#%-  inprogress Total
BE HERE BF HERRE ERIE &5t
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT AR¥TRT ARETRT
Cost ﬁchNE
At 1 January 2008, as restated RZZE\F-A-R"
BEL 32,928,494 27,815,704 2,825,748 3,883,784 480,791 67,934,521
Reclassffication upon a purchase E%)K RENE 3,094,561 (3,094,561 - - - -
Sales and finance lease back ERBANE (3,085,419) 3,085,419 - - - -
Transfers from construction in progress  E7EZ 128 \ - - 233,746 19313 (253,059) -
Transfers from advanced payments ~ IETRIEFE R 3t
on acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) @;J\(*ﬁ%m) 411,153 3,816,843 - - - 4,227,996
Other additions ERE 1,781,272 4,683,699 360,498 335,220 345,730 7,506,419
Other disposals /JM% (719,787)  (408,134)  (8,047)  (143,060) - (1,279,028)
At 31 December 2008 It :2
+_H,+ H 34,410,274 35898970 3,411,945 4095257 573,462 78,389,908
Accumulated depreciation RHE
At 1 January 2008, as restated R-FE\E-A-H"
gE 13,165,501 4,820,675 673,892 1,986,752 - 20,646,820
Reclassification upon purchase BAKENE 1,580,097  (1,580,097) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back EppEHn (1,779,979) 1,779,979 - - - -
Charge for the year TEEME 2138172 1913877 108826 379,654 4,540,529
Other disposals & (520,373)  (408,134) (932) (6,326) - (935,765)
At 31 December 2008 e :2
%,Hf% H 14,583,418 6,526,300 781,786 2,360,080 - 24,251,584
Impairment }E“E?Eﬁ
At 1 January 2008 RZEE\E-A-H - - 13,094 550 4303 17,947
Charge for the year (Note (a)) REEER (@) 966,191 473,393 - - 2,320 1,441,904
At 31 December 2008 RZZEN\F
+-A=+-H 966,191 473,393 13,094 550 6,623 1,459,851
Net book amount REFE
At 31 December 2008 RITTN\F
+-A=1+—H 18,860,665 28,899,277 2,617,065 1,734,627 566,839 52,678,473
At 1 January 2008 RZEZ\F-HA-H 19,762,993 22,995,029 2,138,762 1,896,482 476,488 47,269,754
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 19. ¥P% - B RFRME (B)

Group
&8
Aircraft, engines and
flight equipment

R RBRRRTRE
Other
Held under property,
finance plant and
leases equipment  Construction

Owned UM%  Buildings E##%¥-  inprogress Total
BE HEKE BF HERRE - HBIRE &it
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETE

Cost KAE
At 1 January 2007, as restated R-FES+FE-A-H"

BE 31,922,671 21,310,006 2,752,340 3,514,463 250,112 59,749,642
Reclassification upon a purchase BAKENE 4203030  (4,203,030) - - - -

Transfers from construction in progress R T12& A -
Transfers from advanced payments on ~ {ETRIETERTE A

84,402 91,269 (175671) -

acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) (FE21) 189,402 4,920,311 - - - 5,109,713
Other additions EtRE 1792502 6026340 51276 380,211 406,350 8,656,679
Disposal to a jointly controlled AEREHERLE

entity (Note 24) (FiE4) - - (28489 (2,779) - (31262
Other disposals e (788727)  (237,973)  (33781)  (99,386) - (1,159,867)
Transfers to assets held for sale BEHHEFRPEE (4,390,384 - - - - (4390,384)
At 31 December 2007 S 3

+_ﬂ_+ A 32028494 27815704 2,825748  3.883784 480,791 67,934,521
Accumulated depreciation ?‘Hﬁ%
At 1 January 2007, as restated —ZEtE-A-R-

Z«EL 12,472,726 5393870 582,072 1,659,800 - 20,108,468
Reclassification upon a purchase BAKENE 2,203,703  (2,203,703) - - - -
Charge for the year KEEHE 2221399 1868481 103622 394,683 - 4588185
Disposal to a jointly controlled entity AAREHEBLE - - (5,562) (1,426) - (6,989)
Other disposals EfHE (786,032)  (237,979) (6,240)  (66,305) - (1,096,550)
Transfers to assets held for sale ERGHEFRDEE (2,946,295 - - - - (2,946,295)
At 31 December 2007 S 3

+_H_+ H 13,165,501 4,820,675 673892 1,986,752 - 20,646,820
Impairment HEER
At 1 January 2007, as restated RZFET+F-A-H"

gan - - 13,004 550 4303 17,947
Charge for the year REERHR - - - - - -
At 31 December 2007 g

+_H_+ A - - 13,004 550 4303 17,047
Net book amount EEEEE
At 31 December 2007 - g

Jr_ﬂj H 19,762,993 22995029 2,138,762 1,896,482 476,488 47,269,754

At 1 January 2007 RIETLFE-A—H 10449945 15916186 2,157,174 1,854,113 245,809 39,623,227
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 19. ¥D% - WBRZHE (B)

Company
A7
Aircraft, engines and
flight equipment

RH - RBRRRTRE
Other
Held under property,
finance plant and
leases equipment ~ Construction

Owned IBE  Buildings Ht#%-  inprogress Total
HE HERE BT HERRE - ERIR At
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT AEETR ARETR ARETT AR%ETR

Cost ﬁchNE
At 1 January 2008, as restated RZZE\F-A-R"

BEL 27,203,710 23,659,953 1,539,304 2,433,576 205,951 55,042,494
Reclassffication upon a purchase E%)K RENE 3,094,561 (3,094,561 - - - -
Sales and finance lease back ERBANE (3,085,419) 3,085,419 - - - -
Transfers from construction in progress %ﬁéﬁﬁﬁii)\ - - 56,226 19,314 (75,540) -
Transfers from advanced payments RGN EA

on acquisition of aircrat (Note 21) (#7221) 411,153 3,816,843 - - - 4,201,996

Other additions ERE 1,662,101 4,616,658 346,804 150,603 284,791 7,060,957
Other disposals 2ot (494530)  (360,988)  (2070)  (95,289) - (952877)
At 31 December 2008 It :2

Jr_ﬂj = 28,791,576 31,723,324 1,940,264 2,508,204 415202 65,378,570
Accumulated depreciation RHE
At 1 January 2008, as restated R-FE\E-A-H"

gE 10,254,289 4,333,277 409,816 1,460,062 - 16,457,444
Reclassification upon purchase BAKENE 1,580,097  (1,580,097) - - - -
Sales and finance lease back EppEHn (1,779,979) 1,779,979 - - - -
Charge for the year TEEME 1,929,703 1636342 53734 271,797 - 3,891,576
Other disposals & (478,713) (360,988 (346)  (88,027) - (928,074)
At 31 December 2008 e :2

‘|‘7H7ﬂ‘ H 11,505,397 5,808,513 463,204 1,643,832 - 19,420,946
Impairment }E“E?Eﬁ
At 1 January 2008 RZEE\E-A-H - - - - 4,303 4,303
Charge for the year (Note (a)) REEER (@) 966,191 473,393 - - 897 1,440,481
At 31 December 2008 RZZEN\F

TZA=+-H 966,191 473393 - - 5200 1,444,784
Net book amount REFE
At 31 December 2008 RZFTNE

+-A=t-H 16,319,988 25,441,418 1,477,060 864,372 410,002 44,512,840

At 1 January 2008 RZEEN\F-A—H 16,949,421 19,326,676 1,129,488 973,514 201,648 38,580,747
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 19. W% - WBRZRE (B)

Company
Ad
Aircraft, engines and
flight equipment

R RBRERTRE
Other
Held under property,
finance plant and
leases equipment  Construction

Owned WM&  Buildings E##%¥-  inprogress Total
BE HERE BF HERRE W HRIE &it
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETR AREFR ARETT ARETR

Cost KAE
At 1 January 2007, as restated NZZZ+E-F-R"
mE 22,709,498 18,475,510 1,503,144 2,212,408 155,533 45,056,093
Reclassification upon a purchase BABESE 3,909,982  (3,909,982) - - - -
Transfers from construction in progress  #E7ER T128 \ - - 82,588 13,388 (95,976) -
Transfers fom advanced payments ~ #TRIETENTEA
on acquisition of aircraft (Note 21) (FE21) 114,941 4,177,685 - - - 429262
Other additions HERg 1,070,095 5,149,747 1,437 289,425 146,394 6,657,098
Disposal to a jointly controlled MAREHERLE
entity (Note 24) (FHiE24) - - (28489) (2,773 - (31262
Other disposals Hipde 59793 (33007  (19376)  (78,872) - (929,191)
Transfers to assets held for sale EEGHEHNDEAE (2,870) - - - - (2,870)
At 31 December 2007 i 3
+-A=1+-H 27,203,710 23,659,953 1,539,304 2,433,576 205,951 55,042,494
Accumulated depreciation RiHE
At 1 January 2007, as restated NZZZ+E-F-R"
mE 7,145,363 5,001,753 369,913 1,226,280 - 13,743,309
Reclassification upon a purchase BABESE 2,061,531 (2,061,531) - - -
Charge for the year FEEHE 1642746 1626062 49979 293,667 - 3612454
Disposal to a jointly controlled entity ~ FIFREHEEHE
(Note 24) (FE24) - - (5,562) (1,426) - (6,989)
Other disposals EthHE (595,240)  (233007)  (4514)  (58,459) - (891,220)
Transfers to assets held for sale ﬁ}iﬁﬂj’%#m@ EE (1) - - - - (111)
At 31 December 2007 “ETLE
ﬂ'—ﬂ =1+-H 10,254,280 4,333,277 409,816 1,460,062 - 16,457,444
Impairment }ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
At 1 January 2007, as restated —ZTtE-A-R-
%«EL - - - - 4,303 4,303
Charge for the year REERHR - - - - - -
At 31 December 2007 S 3
+-A=1+-H - - - - 4308 4303
Net book amount RHFE
At 31 December 2007 RZTTLE
+-A=+-H 16,949,421 19,326,676 1,129,488 973,514 201,648 38,580,747

At 1 January 2007 WZEZ+F-F—H  15564,135 13473757 1,133231 986,128 151,230 31,308,481
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes:

(@

In view of the decline in demand on the air transportation market under
the current economic environment, the Group performed an impairment
test on property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) as at 31 December 2008,
based on which an impairment provision of RMB1,442 million was made
against certain aircraft model and the related equipment which reflects
their relatively lower operation efficiency and which management intend
to retire in the near future (Note 10). In determining the recoverable
amounts of the related assets, management has compared the value in
use and the fair value less costs to sell of the related assets, primarily
determined by reference to estimated market values.

As at 31 December 2008, certain aircraft and buildings owned by the
Group and the Company with an aggregate net book amount of
approximately RMB8,723 million and RMB7,209 million respectively
(2007: RMB9,865 million and RMB8,990 million respectively) were

ﬁﬁ#&% n_I\I_”%

19. Y15 - BBERRE (8

s

(@)

7200812431 B AN E I ZEM 5
KT AEEE YR BB NREETT
BEAE WK ERNAERYE TE
B R AT BN B AR IR B0 EL Y
MRRAA  HBELA R S EAE M I HA]
WEl&REaTHE TRELEHT ARB14.42
BT (FER10) - EFtE AR R K
SELBRTHEBEENRRASRENT
BEROABEREEEERRMNFE 2
RBEDSRIHENTISER-

RZZEZENF+—A=+—H  ££EK
AAGREFEOABARKES723BET
RARKET7200BETT (ZTTLF : AR
#9,865H Btk AREES 9905 ET) B

pledged as collateral under certain loan arrangements (note 32). BTRENEFERIEE TERBEE
5 (FE1E32) -
20. LEASE PREPAYMENTS 20. AHEER
Group Company
%8 AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—BEN\F C—TTHE CZBBNFE —ITTE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AREBETT ARETR ARETT
Cost AR
At 1 January —A— B 1,175,104 1,247,104 546,404 616,553
Other additions H g0 54,964 - 5,381 -
Disposal to a jointly controlled mERZEFIERLE
entity (Note 24) (iT1e24) - (70,149) - (70,149)
Other disposals Hib & - (1,851) - -
At 31 December +-RA=+—H#%& 1,230,068 1,175,104 551,785 546,404
Accumulated amortisation ZREEE
At 1 January —A— B 207,607 192,742 121,268 118,885
Charge for the year AEEFE 25,940 24,847 10,245 11,502
Disposal to a jointly controlled mRZEHIEEHE
entity (Note 24) (Tfe24) - (9,119) - 9,119)
Other disposals HAb & - (863) - -
At 31 December +TZR=1+—H#&#&% 233,547 207,607 131,513 121,268
Net book amount BREFE
At 31 December +-RA=+—H#%& 996,521 967,497 420,272 425,136
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20. LEASE PREPAYMENTS (continued) 20. EHER (&)

Lease prepayments represent unamortised prepayments for FERHEERTIERE HA TR b E
land use rights. AR EHIE-

The Group’s land use rights are located in the PRC and the REBE A T RSP E:
majority of these land use rights have terms of 50 years from i AEB D 3 TRl R A B
the date of grant. As at 31 December 2008, the majority of BEARTATFE R_EENF+=
these land use rights had remaining terms ranging from 38 to A=4+—H8"  KpHE b AEFH
53 years (2007: from 39 to 54 years). HFAEFHA=T N \ERAT=F(=ZF

TEF =T AERTEF)-

21. ADVANCED PAYMENTS ON ACQUISITION OF 21. FRHEFE(T R

AIRCRAFT
Group Company
%E AF
2008 2007 2008 2007
—BB\E -TTLF CBBNE TELH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETR AREBTRT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January —A—R#&8% 6,605573 7,668,708  6,695573 7,006,853
Additions 20 3,603,824 3,737,079 3,603,824 3,604,445
Interest capitalised (Note 13) AR GEE13) 342,153 399,499 342,153 376,901
Transfers to property, plant EEYE - IS
and equipment (Note 19) i (GEE19) (4,227,996)  (5,109,713)  (4,227,996)  (4,292,626)
At 31 December TZA=T—R&#R 6,413,554 6,695,573 6,413,554 6,695,573
Included in the Group’s and the Company’s balance as at 31 RZZBZENEFE+A=1T—H &% l
December 2008 is accumulated interest capitalised of RMB518 NARBEHPANEREE MR E
million (2007: RMB553 million), at an average interest rate of B ARKS18EETT (-Ti@
5.43% (2007: 5.90%). F: AR¥5538ET) FHERLF

RE543% (ZEZT+HF:5.90%) °
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22. RERKMEB AT
REBENEZEHRBA

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
A RET B

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries, all of which are limited

liability companies established and operating in the PRC or

Hong Kong, are as follows:

Place and date of

BFEKRL R EENBREERR &

BERCEY
~Hh=E

Attributable

E CNE

Company establishment Paid-up capital equity interest Principal activities
DEER b E R A BlhER ElEREER TERE
2008 2007 2008 2007
“2EN\F CTErE ZEENFE —TT4E
RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETR
China Eastern Airlines PRC 880,000 880,000 63% 63% Provision of airline
Jiangsu Co., Ltd. 3 May 1993 services
(“CEA Jiangsu’) HE RAEME RS
PERAMEIHERAR  —AN=FRA=R
([RfIE])
China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd. ~ PRC 950,000 950,000 70% 70% Provision of cargo
(“China Cargo”) 22 July 1998 carriage services
PRSENREARAA el RESYERRY
([ &) —WN\FLAZTZH
China Eastern Airlines Wuhan ~ PRC 600,000 600,000 96% 96% Provision of airline
Co., Ltd. (“CEA Wuhan”) 16 August 2002 services
PERIMERERREL el Atz R
DA (TRAEE]) “TT_E/\ATRA
Shanghai Eastern Flight PRC 473,000 473,000 95% 95% Provision of flight
Training Co., Ltd. 18 December 1995 training services
FERARTEIERAA Rl RARATIRIRT
—NEETZATNR
Shanghai Eastern Airlines PRC 200,000 200,000 70% 70% Provision of cargo
Logistics Co., Ltd. 23 August 2004 logistics services
(‘Eastern Logistics”) i RESEMTRE
FERAERDRERAA —TTMENAZT=H
(REWR)
Eastern Airlines Hotel Co., Ltd.  PRC 70,000 70,000 86% 86% Provision of hotel
RRABEERAT 18 March 1998 services primariy
H to crew members

“AANEZATNR

IERAMTAR
REUBE R
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Place and date of

22. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

BTSSR st AR

22. RENKB 2T (&)

Attributable

Company establishment Paid-up capital equity interest Principal activities
NAEH vk ) 3= Blhgx FiERAER FTEEH
2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENE —ETHF ZBENF _TTHF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
Shanghai Eastern Maintenance  PRC 25,658 25,658 60% 60% Provision of aircraft
Co., Ltd. 27 November 2002 repair and
FERARBEEERAR] r maintenance services
i Sk Y = RUREEERAE RS
China Eastern Airlines PRC 10,047 10,047 80% 80% Provision of ticket
Development (HK) Co., Ltd. 20 May 1995 sales and logistics
PERAMEER (BE) h REHERER
BRAT —“NAEERAZTH BmERRY%
China Eastern Airlines PRC 10,000 10,000 55% 55% Provision of airline
(Shantou) Economics 18 March 1998 equipment sales
Development Co., Ltd. EERENTAMm
Rz OlisE) &% e
EREBRLA —ANNE=ZATN\R
China Eastern Airline Gifting PRC 50,000 50,000 100% 100% Provision of marketing
Co., Ltd. 17 August 2007 services
RAmERmARAH e HETER
“ZZ+E/\ATtH
Eastern Business Airline PRC 50,000 - 100% - Provision of airlines
Senvice Co., Ltd. 27 September 2008 consultation services
RALBMERBAG i IRRUMERH
“EEN\FAAZTEA A AR




23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

23. REREZE QT

Group Company
%8 A
2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENG —ZETLHFE ZBENFE —ZZTTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT AR®TR AREBTR
Unlisted investments, at cost  3F F R &K KAE 808,417 425817 762,058 377,872
Share of post acquisition LR A
results/reserves & 171,902 175,302 - -
980,319 601,119 762,058 377,872
The movement on investments in associates is as follows: REREEARINESAT -
Group Company
%E N
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —_TEELF ZBTN\EF ZTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREBTT AR%®TR ARETR
At 1 January —A—B&& 601,119 623,300 377,872 377,872
Costs of additional investments ~ #T51% & A A 384,186 - 384,186 -
Disposal of an indirectly HEIEE IR
held associate NS (3,820)  (102,750) - -
Share of results of associates BREE N AR 69,668 58,312 - -
Share of revaluation surplus/ BhEE DR PTRR
(deficits) on available for AHEERER
sale investments held ARG E, O (E)
by associates (19,080) 22,167 - -
Dividend received during the year ZNEEUZ| &S (51,754) - - -
At 31 December TZR=+—H#&# 980,319 601,119 762,058 377,872
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23. RENBE DT (&)

AEBH T EHE R FIHR/TEMKIL
REBNERBMERR - HARER

23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of the principal associates, all of which are limited

liability companies established and operating in the PRC, are

as follows: R
Place and date of Attributable
Company establishment Paid-up capital equity interest Principal activities
DEER RIiwE R A BhER FEfRRAHE S TEEY
2008 2007 2008 2007
“¥T\F “TTLF -FE\F “TTLAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARETT
Eastern Air Group Finance PRC 400,000 400,000 25% 25% Provision of financial
Co., Ltd. (“"EAGF”) 6 December 1995 services to group
RMEEVBEREEAR FE companies of
([RAnEr#5]) —NANAF+=ARA CEA Holding
RPBERMEERET
N ERHE TSRS
China Eastern Air Catering PRC 350,000 350,000 45% 45% Provision of air catering
Investment Co., Ltd. 17 November 2003 services
RAMERRIREBRAT  FH RFEMEERRY
—EER=F+—A++tAR
Jiangsu Huayu General PRC 110,000 110,000 27% 27% Provision of aviation
Aviation Co., Ltd. 1 December 2004 support services
IFRETEAMEERAA FE RN =R
—EENF+=A—H
Eastern Aviation Import PRC 80,000 80,000 45% 45% Provision of aviation
& Export Co., Ltd (“EAIEC”) 9 June 1993 equipment, spare
RAMEELAERATE FE MR - AT
(MERfELHA D —AN=FANE RRITREZHES
Collins Aviation Maintenance PRC 57,980 57,980 35% 35% Provision of airline
Service Shanghai Ltd. 27 September 2002 electronic product
BRI ET A 2= 4 S IR TS H maintenance
BRAH ZEEFNAZTEH services
REMGEFED
HAERRTS
Shanghai Dongmei Aviation PRC 31,000 31,000 27% 27% Provision of traveling
Travel Co., Ltd. (“SDATC”) 17 October 2004 and accommodation
FIEREMEIRE AR AT 3l agency services
(MRERT) —ZEZNFE+A++EH TR AR NOB R (78
RIEZRRTS
Shanghai Hongpu Civil Airport  PRC 25,000 25,000 30% 30% Provision of cable
Communication Co., Ltd. 18 October 2002 and wireless
EBIER ARG EE H communication
BRAT —EE-F+A+N\H services

REERIERBR
AR5
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23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Place and date of

P GETEE:

N EO
AT A

23. RERBEE QT (&)

Attributable

Company establishment Paid-up capital equity interest Principal activities
DRER R E R B BEx EfERAER TEEK
2008 2007 2008 2007
“¥R\F  -TTLF CEENF CITLH
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETR
Eastern Aviation Advertising PRC 10,320 10,320 45% 45% Provision of aviation
Service Co., Ltd. (“CAASC”) 04 March 1986 advertising agency
FERAFMEGEEFRAT H services
— NS URE=RIEA NERBRMESEEDS
Joy Air Co., Ltd (Note (@) PRC 600,000 - 40% - Provision of regional
FEEMEARETR 28 March 2008 airline transportation
(FEH(a) H RUtE M ER
—EZENF=A=+)NH
Shanghai Pratt & Whitney PRC UsD,/ %7t - 51% - Provision of maintenance
Aircraft Engine 28 March 2008 39,500 of aircraft, engine
Maintenance Company ey and other related
Limited (Note (b)) TN \F=A=+)N\H components
B E RSB RS maintenance services
BRAF GEE(D) TR - TEEHHAD
H o 1EREER 5 eV 4 1E
Note: e

On 24 January 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with
China Aviation Industry Corporation to establish Joy Air Company Limited
(“Joy Air”). The Company holds a 40% interests of Joy air. As at 31
December 2008, the Company contributed RMB240 million in cash.

Joy Air is still in preparation period as at the balance sheet date.

In 2008, the Company entered into an agreement with a third party to
establish Shanghai Pratt & Whitney Aircraft Engine Maintenance
Company Limited (“Shanghai P&W”). Shanghai P&W'’s registered capital
is USD 40 million, in which the Company holds 51% interests. As at 31
December 2008, the Company contributed USD20,145,000 in cash to
Shanghai P&W. According to the agreement, the third party has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of Shanghai P&W
and hence the Company accounts for Shanghai P&W as an associate.

At the balance sheet date, Shanghai P&W is still in preparation period.

(a)

(b)

7200851 A24H - AR EEPEHZE
%’i@wﬁ%% SRR FEMEARE

TRF AREH4I0% MR - BE
m%imﬂmav$Aﬂuﬁ$&AA
R#2.4FT - REERBERANZAF
HESEHE -

R2008%F  RARIEBYE=HEA
Epeg - AL BT BRI ek EEs
RAF CATERE"EER") - ZArEME
7&2%%%40@@-%7% C AR ENES1% )
% o HE2008F 128318  AREIUE
@&J\%ﬁzoé%ﬁ o IRIBE AW
FHEENIEMAEELESHAE

i%‘J’fié C EIE AR B E D B E AT o
MNABREFE - ZARHESZHR -
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23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #{Z —

FENFZA=1—HIFE

23. RENBE DT (&)

Note: (continued) HE ('
(©)  The Group’s aggregated share of the revenues, results, assets and (c) AEEBLEENRINKA - 248  BE
liabilities of its associates are as follows: LEEFRTE
Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit/(loss)
BE =1 WA EF(EER)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T AREEFIT ARETT AREEFIT
2008 —EENE 4,326,145 3,345,826 913,845 69,668
2007 —ET L 2,194,818 1,593,699 919,495 58,312
24. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 24, RENHEREZHERE
Group Company
£8 ATFE
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\F —ZE2TtF ZEBEENF ZTT+HF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFIT ARETRT ARETT
Unlisted investments, at cost EEMREKAE 270,208 268,892 301,802 301,802
Share of post-acquisition BEERES
results/reserves e 92,124 68,074 - -
362,332 336,966 301,802 301,802
The movement on investments in jointly controlled entities is RERLREZEFIEENESHNOT -
as follows:
Group Company
58 VNG
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\F —TTtF ZEBEN\F ZITT+tHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT AR¥®TRT ARETT
At 1 January —RA—B#& 336,966 115,540 301,802 59,552
Other addition E I N - 209,340 - 242,250
Dividend received during the year $¢H§Z B AR = (18,000) - -
Share of results BGEE 24,050 30,086 - -
Amortisation of previously VAR R TERR
unrecognised gain i M) 2 B 3E 1,316 - - -
At 31 December +ZA=+—8# 362,332 336,966 301,802 301,802
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24.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal jointly controlled entities, all of which

are limited liability companies established and operating in

the PRC are as follows:

ﬁﬁ#&% n_I\I_”%

24, WERHAREZEHIER ()

DAV L $E’JEBF<,E\E Al

HA®

XX

BT

Place and date of

Attributable

Company establishment Paid-up capital equity interest Principal activities
DERER BB R A BlEX iR A TEER
2008 2007 2008 2007
2T\ CZTTtF “ZTIN\F ZTTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT

Shanghai Technologies PRC 576,795 576,795 51% 51% Provision of repair
Aerospace Co., Ltd. 28 September 2004 and maintenance
(“STA") (Note (a)) H services

FEMBRTFMARAR —ZEEMEAARZTNR REREEER

(RHRFHL) () HERTS

Shanghai Eastern Union PRC 17,484 17,484 40% 40% Provision of spare parts
Aviation Wheels & Brakes 28 December 1995 repair and maintenance
Maintenance Services H services
Overhaul Engineering Co., Ltd. —“ANEFE+=A=+N\AH RUTHEERS
(“Wheels & Brakes”)

FERBM SRR E
AEIRBRATF
(A1)

Eastern China Kaiya System PRC 10,000 10,000 41% 1% Provision of computer
Integration Co., Ltd. 21 May 1999 systems development
iiﬁﬁiﬁﬂi‘é F RUBMERERRE

REERARD —AANFRA=Z+—H
Notes: s
(@  Under a Joint Venture Agreement with the other joint venture partner of (a) MREAQFERHIFME —BIERERFR
STA dated 10 March 2003, the Company has agreed to share control T -F=-R+BHESE E@Hﬁ?é?ﬁﬁﬁ;
over the economic activities of STA. Any strategic financial and operating # ARRRBHRS —AEREFERE
decisions relating to the activities of STA require the unanimous consent AR TS E GBI G - Eﬁéﬁiﬂ
of the Company and the other joint venture partner. EFMEB B AN KRG ERFEEK
RAREBEFMS —aFREFTRE—
BHAE -
()  The Group’s aggregated share of the revenues, results, assets and (o) AEEE/GHFEHEOWA @ EE- &
liabilities of its jointly controlled entities is as follows: ERBEFRTE
Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit/(loss)
BE 8f& WA EF(EE)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R AR¥TR AR¥T R AR¥TR
2008 —EBEBN\EF 404,888 42,556 187,997 24,050
2007 —TTLF 382,501 45,535 205,188 30,086
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25. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS 25. HthRBPEE

Group Company
% AH
2008 2007 2008 2007
—2BN\F —TTLF —BEN\F —TTLF
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARBTT AR®BTR AR%KTT
Deposits relating to aircraft HRECEUEEE
under operating leases MR
(Note (a)) (@) 509,887 508,903 360,061 361,453
Prepaid flight training fees B RITIEIE
(Note (b)) (b)) 337,597 43,920 326,254 43,920
Prepaid staff benefits AT B TEH
(Note (c)) (FE(0) 26,888 40,567 21,401 32,398
Rental and renovation deposits A& K ekiEs] & 26,460 33,032 26,460 33,032
Other long-term receivables Hith R AR IR 40,724 34,329 31,175 28,046
941,556 660,751 765,351 498,849
Notes: L
(8  The fair value of deposits relating to aircraft held under operating leases (a) AKBERAARERKSEEHEEMRBEN

of the Group and the Company are RMB473 million and RMB349 million
(2007: RMB441 million and RMB318 million), which are determined
using the expected future payments discounted at market interest rates
prevailing at the year end of 0.75%-2.79% (2007: 2.4%-3.06%).

BFRZARBESIRARBL4TIEET
RARK340BET (ZZTTLF : AR
B BETRARKEII8EE ) - MH
AR EBEEREERXNFERFRER
MI5FE0.75%-2.79%+ EH (ZTZT+
F 1 2.4%-3.06%) °

(b)  Prepaid flight training expenses represent the training expenses prepaid (b) FERRITIHINE BRITER A& R
for pilot undergraduates and pilots in service of the Group and are TEHFINER - ZSTEMNFIEERENE
amortised over the relevant training periods for which the prepayments SIEAR A B AR -
cover on a straight-line basis.

(€)  Prepaid staff benefits represent subsidies to certain employees as an (c) ENEIRMAZEISTHEE/BMEN

encouragement to purchase motor vehicles. The employees are required
to continue serving the Group for six years from the date of receipt of
the subsidies. If the employee leaves before the end of the six-year
period, a refund by the employee is required to be calculated on a pro-
rata basis. These subsidies are amortised over six years on the straight-

line basis.

RTERRL  BRREMMETHRES RS
ZARR R EE RN EE R NFUATTE
EEFTERRRRS - ERTHENFHRZ
AIBERAEE - % B ITHFERMRBFH
B DIEIE MR © LLHBNA B RN N F
iy -



26. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 26. EWERF R EWEE

The credit terms given to trade customers are determined on LTERNEERNIERRZRERS
an individual basis, with the credit periods generally ranging METE  BERYEAZERBAT
from half a month to two months. %o
The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows: JEW BRI BRI AT an T
Group Company
£E AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —ZTTLF ZBEN\EF ZE2TLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTT AR®TR ARETT
Within 90 days N+BR 1,088,951 1,761,799 733,498 1,098,281
91 to 180 days A+—BZE—B/N\+H 24,282 104,991 12,546 97,212
181 to 365 days —BN\t+—HEZE=ZA THH 30,451 187,355 27,800 150,506
Over 365 days BB-EATREA 103,919 101,769 63,286 84,914
1,247,603 2,155,914 837,130 1,430,913
Less: provision for B AR SRR IR A
impairment
of receivables (101,081) (569,907) (86,635) (65,757)
Trade receivables FEU AR R 1,146,522 2,096,007 750,495 1,375,156
The carrying amounts of the trade receivables approximate FERERDEEEEEIAEARE
their fair value. (=N
Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate R BRI R B A FEYOIR BT B
to a large number of independent sales agents for whom there s CENSREEPEH -

is no recent history of default.
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 26. BRI R EWELE (E)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2008, trade receivables of RMB153 million
(2007: RMB360 million) were past due but not impaired. These
relate to a number of independent sales agents for whom there
is no recent history of default. The Group holds cash deposits
of RMB175 million (2007: RMB202 million) from these agents.

The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

RZZBEZNF+ZA=+—H  El
ERARKEISIBE T (ZZTEZTLF -
ARH3608 E7T) 248 H3{8 I R
B WFERBEBHRZEZIILZEHER
BREENBIRP  HZEBUER
P AREEREHSEERARE
1758 BT (ZTETLF : ARK202
BET) - WEEZRUGHERE ST
W

Group Company
el AF

2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF —TTLF —BE\F —TTLF
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AREFT AREFTT ARETRT ARETFT
Up to 6 months B HA7SE A AR 122,407 202,238 34,950 156,897
6 to 12 months wHI6Z 1218 A 30,451 157,850 27,800 126,517
152,858 360,088 62,750 283,414

As at 31 December 2008, trade receivables of RMB84 million
(2007: RMB44 million) were impaired and fully provided for.
The remaining impaired trade receivables relate to customers
that were in financial difficulties and only a portion of the
receivables is expected to be recovered. The factors
considered by management in determining the impairment are
described in Note 2(r).

RZZFZNF+-RA=1+—8 &K

RRARESAEE T (ZETLF
ARBA4ABET) DERE  YERE
RERBEREMS - 87 T ARERKIR
FFRELEBMHERFENES - MiA
At AR YRR A i o B
BRTEREEENE BREREE2()
gt o



26. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

(continued)

The ageing of impaired receivables is as follows:

26. BEWERA K EWZIE (B)

BRI ERN BURERREIAT

Group Company
58 NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF ZETHF ZEBEENF ZTTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETFT ARBETRT ARETT
12 to 24 months overdue BER12Z2 241 A 15,660 26,734 551 18,527
Over 24 months overdue BHA24ME A LA £ 88,259 75,035 62,734 66,387
103,919 101,769 63,285 84,914
Movements on the Group’s provision for impairment of trade FEUBRFURERENEE T -
receivables are as follows:
Group Company
58 AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF ZETHF ZEBEENF ZTT+HF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETFT ARETRT ARETT
At 1 January —A—H 59,907 90,405 55,757 87,195
Receivables written off during  “F A% AR AEU @
the year as uncollectible B B Y SR8 (1,027) (4,009) (552) (4,009)
Provision for impairment of ARFIE N
receivables 42,201 - 31,430 -
Unused amounts reversed RA&HEEL - (26,489) - (27,429)
At 31 December +=-A=+—H 101,081 59,907 86,635 55,757
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND NOTES RECEIVABLE 26. BRI R EWELE (E)
(continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are REERKEFODREDERERS)R
denominated in the following currencies: wmr
Group Company
£8 NG|
2008 2007 2008 2007

—BEN\F —TTLF —FTEN\F —TTLHF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT AR®TR AREBTT

Currency B
Renminbi AR 899,905 1,800,355 552,572 1,159,012
US Dollars ETT 51,075 89,944 17,580 15,255
HK Dollars B 48,901 80,246 46,916 80,094
Korea Won FEH 9,021 41,538 24,620 41,538
Euro BT 42,706 54,185 9,021 49,517
Japanese Yen Ht 56,003 1,323 55,929 1,323
Other currencies Hi &% 38,911 28,416 43,857 28,417

1,146,522 2,096,007 750,495 1,375,156

The net impact of creation and release of provisions for HERE RGBT R A B A

impaired receivables have been included in ‘Provision for FREDBREERERT YRR

impairment of trade and other receivables’ in the income HE WSO EREE] A GEE11) -

statement (Note 11). Amounts charged to the allowance EEHEERPHHRNEE—KREER

account are generally written off, when there is no expectation HRf AR B FE /MR S R i 8 o

of recovering additional cash.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is ERERHS  EERRASS R

the carrying amount of receivable shown above. B M EREYCRAREE



RECEIVABLES

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

27. AR - FREE AR

Group Company
£ AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZBENF —TTLF ZBENF —ITTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETT ARB®TR ARETT
Restricted bank deposits PR SRITF X
(Note (a)) (@) 2,159,848 - 2,082,075 -
Rebates receivable on B A TR PTIS EI
aircraft acquisitions EIEIPA 930,665 929,652 881,395 875,786
Deposits relating to aircraft BEHERMEIT —
under finance leases — mENED D
current portion - 419,604 - 419,604
Ground Service Fees HoHE AR TS 310,452 337,166 178,300 215,296
Prepaid aircraft operating TERT RS &1
lease rentals HERS 249,308 256,069 210,078 233,808
Rental deposits HER < 88,001 130,348 74,477 79,393
Custom duties and value P AR &
added tax recoverable BEBRER 64,501 88,747 29,127 25,612
Prepayments for acquisition BERITHRER
of flight equipment and HMEERMNK
other assets 36,480 60,325 34,707 36,340
Deposits with banks and a Hidm={EAE IR
financial institution with —FE TR
original maturity over three (7% (o))
months but less than
a year (Note (b)) 33,116 52,843 31,860 52,843
Others Hi 253,848 280,895 184,757 211,927
4,126,219 2,555,649 3,706,776 2,150,609
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27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 27. AR~ ERREMEWE (8)
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: TR

(@)  The restricted bank deposits represent: i) a deposit of RMB1,347 million (a) EE%'J’\@L%E?‘TT?% FEE i) EX£188FHE
pledged against 188 million US dollar loan (2007: Nil); ii) a security deposit K& ?kﬁ’]ﬁﬁéﬁ)\&% 347TEETT
of US dollar 117 million (RMB796 million equivalent) for fuel option Lzﬁgti ) i) BRI A AR E
contracts (2007: Nil); iii) a deposit of RMB17 million for notes payable eETI7TEET(ARE768ET) (=
(2007: Nil.) TTLF - &) i) ERNERREEAR

BA7TEEL ( CEELF  E\) -

(b)  As at 31 December 2008, the effective interest rate on deposits with (b) R=ZZEENF+-—A=+—8 " RIHA

banks with original maturity over three months but less than a year was BiE = EAETEA—FRITFERNER

0.36% (2007: 0.7%). MER0.36% (ZZTT+HF : 0.7%) °

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28. BEeRBATEEY
The carrying amounts of the Group’s and Company’s cash AEEERAARRERREEEDH
and cash equivalents are denominated in the following BREEEERERENRNT
currencies:
Group Company
£8 YNE]
2008 2007 2008 2007

—BFN\F —TTLHF —FTEN\F —TTLHF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT AR®TR AREBTT

Renminbi AR 2,623,585 585,797 1,636,815 322,447
US Dollars X 494,249 736,951 441,671 460,383
Euro BT 126,695 92,205 95,622 60,122
Japanese Yen HoT 37,657 70,996 22,705 57,480
Pounds Sterling HEE 11,016 16,141 11,016 16,141
Australian Dollars SBIT 18,922 14,991 18,915 14,991
Canadian Dollars hnrc 12,394 25,332 12,245 25,332
Singapore Dollars TN T 42,617 1,116 42,617 1,116
Others HAth 83,875 111,715 80,335 82,885

3,451,010 1,655,244 2,361,941 1,040,897




29. TRADE PAYABLES AND NOTES PAYABLE

29. BERERARENZE

The aging analysis of trade payables and notes payable is as

J& A B R K B A R AR BN AR i 0 AT 40

follows: T
Group Company
£® AT

2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E —TTHF ZFTBN\FE —ITTLHF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTT AR®TR ARETT
Within 90 days N+BHRR 3,310,710 1,465,079 3,109,316 1,228,690
91 to 180 days h+—BZ—8aN\+H 1,249,400 1,126,091 1,241,243 1,125,495
181t0365days —B/A\T—HZEZ=FH/,xTHH 267,785 449,391 123,544 221,750
Over 365 days A=A, THhaH 316,963 97,319 273,127 86,781
5,144,858 3,137,880 4,747,230 2,662,716

As at 31 December 2008, notes payable totaling RMB3,840

million (2007: RMB1,616 million) were unsecured. Discount
rates ranged from 2.9% to 5.9% (2007: 3.5% to 5.5%) and all

notes are repayable within six months.

R-TEENFE+-_A=+—8 " &5t
ARH3,8408BTHEMNERE (ZF
T+F: AR¥1,616B&E7T) BIE
R PFIRER29%ES.9% (ZTT+
F : 3.5%%E5.5%) - FTBEERNZER

RANEARSAS -
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30. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 30. HENSFRRTERE R
Group Company
&5 AT
2008 2007 2008 2007

—2ENE ZTTLF ZBIN\F ZTTLHF
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTIT ARWMTR ARBTT

Accrued fuel cost TRIRTRMINELE B 3,841,660 2,348,932 3,534,281 2,180,773
Accrued take-off and TEIR M EPE B A

landing charges 1,879,751 1,036,423 1,563,049 838,218
Accrued aircraft overhaul TEIRRIEXIEE A

expenses 1,256,115 1,184,529 986,055 978,089
Other accrued operating TEiIREMEEER

expenses 1,417,988 928,267 1,251,514 841,311
Accrued salaries, wages and ~ FAIRIT & - Ha M

benefits el 976,551 1,067,245 786,964 861,035
Duties and levies payable AT R EN & 545,482 858,966 423,527 646,588
Staff housing allowance B TEFEmah

(Note 37(b)) (7E¥37(b)) 386,065 363,110 317,918 332,156
Deposits received from REBIHERE

ticket sales agents WEHET & 320,254 339,064 229,399 268,064
Current portion of other HtRHEERN

long-term liabilities (Note 34)  RENELH (FEFE34) 130,460 135,859 121,178 135,859
Current portion of RIRE T EEH

post-retirement benefit mENER 1D

obligations (Note 36(b)) (FX¥£36(0)) 46,461 34,425 43,801 31,707
Others H b TR 1,346,388 1,294,425 1,229,272 1,190,894

12,147,175 9,691,245 10,486,958 8,304,694
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31. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES L. MEMEERRE
As at 31 December 2008, the Group and the Company had RZBZENF+-_A=+—H8 ' &&
68 and 61 aircraft (2007: 55 and 48 aircraft) respectively under ERANRABERER R 5 RIHEA
finance leases. Under the terms of the leases, the Group/the NTNARMAT—BRE (TS
Company has the option to purchase, at or near the end of F: ATREMETNAZR) - REHEE
the lease terms, certain aircraft at fair market value and others B AEERARRBEREER
at either fair market value or a percentage of the respective ST WM - A5 AT EED
lessors’ defined cost of the aircraft. The obligations under HEBAHEABEENKABEERESFE
finance leases are principally denominated in US Dollars. LR - EMERBETFEMUETLR
BfIEHE -
The future minimum lease payments (including interest), and =EEe (BEMNE) EEHEEHR
the present value of the minimum lease payments under BERHAT
finance leases are as follows:
Group
&8
2008 2007
“BENE ZETHE
Present Present
value of value of
minimum minimum
Minimum lease Minimum lease
lease payments lease payments
payments Interest  HERE payments Interest  HERE
RiEHES Fil)) ZBfE REME g ZHE
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Within one year —FR 2,765,969 848,980 1,916,989 3,356,665 811,442 2,545,223
In the second year FE 2704499 688327 2016172 2206135 638,882 1567,253
In the third o fifth year inclusive F-EEENE
(BEEEMF) 7805669 1,602,339 6203330 5714466 1,500,114 4,205,352
After the fifth year TENE 11,868,053 1,195,645 10,672,408 9,331,048 1,196,666 8,134,382
Total pke 25,144,190 4,335,291 20,808,899 20,608,314 4,156,104 16,452,210
Less: amount repayable within one year i : —EREEHR  (2765969)  (848,980) (1,916,989)  (3,356,665)  (811,442) (2,545,223
Long-term portion S5 2378221 3486311 18891010 17.251649 3344662 13,906,967
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31. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES
(continued)

31. MEMESE (&

Company
AF
2008 2007
=t RS “ETLF

Present Present

value of value of

minimum minimum

Minimum lease Minimum lease

lease payments lease payments

payments Interest ~ HEHESE payments Interest ~ &ERE

BEHEE FE ZBE (vt Gk} LB

RMB'000 RMB’'000  RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR AR%TR ARETR ARETT AREBTT AR®T:

Within one year —FR 2,458,559 743,497 1715062 2993378 676,597 2,316,781

In the second year E-F 2,400,584 594,223 1,806,361 1,866,827 524,660 1,342,167
In the third to fifth year inclusive F-EEFERE

(REEEME) 6,092,822 15380412 5512410 4725108 1,230,149 3,494,959

After the fifth year REN R 10,534,868 1,039,530 9495338 7574768 956,172 6,618,596

Total k] 22,286,833 3,757,662 18,529,171 17,160,081 3,387,578 13,772,503

Less: amount repayable within one year ~ Ji : —ERERHRH  (2,458,559)

(743497) (1,715062) (2,993378)  (676,597) (2,316,781)

Long-term portion REAEHH 19,828,274

3,014,165

16,814,109 14,166,703 2,710,981 11,455,722

The fair value of obligations under finance leases of the
Group and the Company are RMB21,037 million and
RMB18,640 million (2007: RMB16,577 million and
RMB13,863 million respectively), which are determined
using the expected future payments discounted at market

interest rates prevailing at the year end.

At 31 December 2008, the Group and the Company had bank
deposits totaling nil (2007: RMB420 million) pledged as

collateral under certain finance lease arrangements.

REERAAFIMEHRERBZAR
ENRAARKE21,037TEELEAR
¥18,640B 8L (ZTZLF : AR
¥16,677TEB TR ARM13,863
BET) MEARBERBRBEER
HERFREEMSGHNEGTEHE o

R-IBEZN\F+_-_A=+—H8 &%
B RARRENRITFRIERS TR
BREMNERR(CETLFE  ARKE
420B8TT) °
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32. BORROWINGS 32. EX
Group Company
% AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\FE —TTHF ZBBENE —TTLHF
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT AR¥ETR ARETT
Non-current ERBIEL D
Long-term bank borrowings RHEARITER
- secured — B 3,350,114 3,094,947 2,189,950 3,376,847
— unsecured — 5,237,938 7,374,360 4,855,130 6,273,736
8,588,052 11,369,307 7,045,080 9,650,583
Current mENEB D
Long-term bank borrowings REBIRITER
— secured — HEHA 1,133,836 772,286 742,176 615,626
— unsecured — R 5,905,655 2,533,233 5,772,969 2,288,940
Short-term bank borrowings FEHERIRTTER
- secured — B 1,284,236 - 1,222,953 -
— unsecured — IR 18,189,593 15,189,002 16,325,335 13,039,208
26,513,320 18,494,521 24,063,433 15,943,774
Total borrowings &5k 4a %8 35,101,372 29,863,828 31,108,513 25,594,357
The borrowings are repayable  #R17f& ZER T 5]
as follows: BRI N{EE
Within one year —FR 26,513,320 18,494,521 24,063,433 15,943,774
In the second year FE_F 4,147,845 5,927,098 3,569,348 5,515,186

In the third to fifth year inclusive £ =F ZF A F
(BEEREMF) 3,665,352

4,216,517 2,977,920 3,266,554

After the fifth year AF A% 774,855 1,225,692 497,812 868,843
Total borrowings B ARER 35,101,372 29,863,828 31,108,513 25,594,357
Notes: R

As at 31 December 2008, the secured bank borrowings of the Group and the
Company for the purchases of aircraft were secured by the related aircraft
with an aggregate net book amount of RMB8,723 million and RMB7,209
million respectively (2007: RMB9,865 million and RMB8,990 million) (Note 19).

Certain unsecured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company totaling
of RMB357 million and Nil (2007: RMB1,008 million and Nil respectively) were
guaranteed by CEA Holding (Note 44).

Certain unsecured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company totaling
of RMB600 million (2007: Nil) were guaranteed by a third party bank.

RZBZENF+ZA=1+—08 AKEREAR
AR IRE A S TR RIS - HAREE
BER/RARMES 723ABTRARKET7,20988
T(ZFZLF - ARMK9B5ABTRARK

8,990E &7t) (FEHE19) »

REERARREHIEERBITERTARE
BTEELEZTL(ZTZLF : ARK1,008
BEEBLREZL)BTEEMEEER GEHE
44) °

AEERARF D IFERRITESSARE
BO0BET(ZFTLF : ARBTIDAF=
JTERITHELR -
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32. BORROWINGS (continued) 32. EF (&)
The terms of the long-term bank loans are summarised as REVSRITERAMERBEDT -
follows:
Group Company
Interest rate and £E AT
Currency final maturities 2008 2007 2008 2007
wiE BRFEREEA —EBENGE TTAF ZBENF _TTLHF

RMB’'000  RMB’'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTT AR®TR ARBTRT

RMB denominated Interest rates ranging 6,898,178 6,132,651 5,042,498 4,270,211
AREEHE from 4.52% to 8.36%
per annum with final
maturities through
to 2017.
FRZEF4.52[2%8.36
[ERE  BERE20174F

b
U.S. dollar denominated Interest rates ranging 8,617,707 8,418,967 8,406,069 8,161,630
EITAHE from 3 month LIBOR

+0.25% to 6 month
LIBOR+3% per annum
with final maturities
through to 2019
FH X9 F 318 ALIBOR

+0.25/2 Z6/& ALIBOR
+3ERE - B
E2019F RIEFIH

EURO denominated Interest rate is 6 months 111,658 123,308 111,658 123,308
BXTRHE LIBOR +0.6% with
final maturity through
2010.
FEHNEGOEAH
LIBOR+0.6/E T4 -

BRZE2010FE &EDH

Total long-term bank loans 15,627,543 14,674,826 13,560,225 12,555,149
REMEARET




q Eastern Airlines Corp

32. BORROWINGS (continued) 32. B (&)
Note: TR
(@  The fair value of long-term borrowings of the Group and the Company (a) AEERARNEHERZAABESF
are RMB15,826 million and RMB13,684 million (2007: RMB14,111 BARME15,826B 8Lk AR 13,684
million and RMB12,124 million), which are determined using the BEIT(007F : ARE14A1EELR
expected future payments discounted at prevailing market interest rates ARKEA12,12458T) - A2 EBEREIR
available to the Group and the Company for financial instruments with BREBASZHRERFREESEIE - UER
substantially the same terms and characteristics at the balance sheet BEBBRAAEEMARN R AEFNE
date. FEHER R ERITETAEZMIHHE
REtEH ©
(b)  Short-term borrowings of the Group and the Company are repayable (b) AEERARRNEBEZHEE—FUR
within one year with interest charged at the prevailing market rates based BEMER - EFEBRBEENRPEARR
on the rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China. As at 31 December THIEMEEFERMNRITMBFERETE -
2008, the interest rates relating to such borrowings ranged from 2.7% HBIE—TTN\F+=RA=+—H ' 8FfE
to 7.47% per annum (2007: 4.39% to 6.72% per annum). During the KT ENREF2.7%E7.47% (2007
year ended 31 December 2008, the weighted average interest rate on F 1 4.390%E6.72%) - BIEZZTT)N\F
short-term bank loans was 6.36 % per annum (2007: 5.75% per annum). +Z A=+—HEBEROINEFSFE
#6.36% (20074 : 5.75%)
(©)  The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following () EBEFMEESIEUTIESE BEN
currencies:
Group Company
&8 |
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZBEENF CZZETLHFE ZEENF CITTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥TT AR®BTR ARBTR
Renminbi AR 21,955,769 12,528,550 18,262,088 8,590,026
US Dollars ey 13,007,688 17,196,836 12,734,767 16,874,186
Euro BT 111,658 130,145 111,658 130,145
HK Dollar BT 26,257 8,297 - -
35,101,372 29,863,828 31,108,513 25,694,357
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33. PROVISION FOR OPERATING LEASE AIRCRAFT 33. KEMHAERMRERISES
RETURN CONDITION CHECK

Group Company
3L AF
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ER\F —TTLF —FR\F —TTLF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBETT AR%¥TR ARKTE

At 1 January —A—RA&S 956,910 510,621 737,371 429,590
Additional provisions RFTELE 618,555 446,289 431,319 307,781
Utilisation FEAXA (41,447) - - -
At 31 December +ZA=+—H#%&#% 1534018 956,910 1,168,690 737,371
Less: current portion B e ER D (213,830) - (139,710) -
Long-term portion REAES D 1,320,188 956,910 1,028,980 737,371
Provision of operating lease aircraft return condition check e EHERKEBRREERABLE
represents the present value of estimated costs of major return MHEERENTEFT EEREERNIR
check for aircraft under operating leases as the Group has B IRESEREASESRETRE
the responsibility to fulfill certain return conditions under BB ER T EGRG -

relevant leases.
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per annum and is repayable by annual instalments of RMB30 million up

to year 2009.

34. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 4. HiRPEE
Group Company
&E AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE ZTTEF ZETEN\EFE ZE2TLHF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’'000
ARBTRT AREKETT AR®BTR AR%®TT
Long-term duties and R AR SR HoAth
levies payable FEfHIE 805,794 584,791 713,522 501,867
Fair value of unredeemed points ~ H R E 5T 21 K 1 i
awarded under the Group’s REEDHRR
frequent flyer program EBE 364,858 378,361 364,858 378,361
Long-term payable to the —T-TF Hgitg
Bureau of 2010 Expo 2 REENR
Shanghai (Note 18(b)) (FFE18(b) 177,883 232,811 177,883 232,811
Long-term payable to Aviation HEIRAMERT
China Civil Flight Institute B REER R
(Note (a)) (@) 30,000 60,000 30,000 60,000
Deferred gains on sale and 18 IR
leaseback transactions B =
of aircraft 14,549 21,011 14,549 21,011
Other long-term payable HAb = BER 5K 58,135 101,582 56,319 101,582
1,451,219 1378556 1,357,131 1,295,632
Less: Current portion w o REE D (130,460)  (135,859)  (121,178) (135,859
Long-term portion RERE D 1,320,759 1,242,697 1,235,953 1,159,773
Notes: TR
(@)  The balance is unsecured, interest bearing at an effective rate of 6.21% (a) ZHFEAEER  BREFNER6.21%

E2009FFFHHER0AET °
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35. DEFERRED TAXATION 35. IR A
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there ERATCENKHIBEEERRE G
is a legally enforceable right of offset and when the deferred BaEEE  MEEMRENRTRRE—
income taxes relate to the same authority. The following B AN SRS EER
amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown BEFSHABEEEIRE - EEEE
in the balance sheets: |igE - T eBEEERBRAY
N
Group Company
% 2
2008 2007 2008 2007

—2R\F —TTLE —BENF —TTLE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTR ARBTE ARBTR ARETR

Deferred tax assets IRIERITAE E
— Deferred tax asset to be —12{A A LA LRI EIR
utilised after 12 months RIRIETIE & = 79,802 111,874 - -
— Deferred tax asset to be —12{A A LANAI EIR
utilised within 12 months RIRIETIIEE E 2,145 1,337 - -
81,947 113,211 - -
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE
— Deferred tax liability to be —12M@ A LRI EIR
realised after 12 months RIEER B & F (55,444) (50,369) - =
— Deferred tax liability to be — 12 A AR EIR
realised within 12 months REERS B & (F (2,145) - - -
(57,589) (50,369) - -
Movements in the net deferred taxation asset/(liability) are as EIERBETREE,/ (BE) MEsN
follows: T
Group Company
£5 AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTHF ZBENFE —TZTLHF
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT ARSTR ARETT
At 1 January —HA—B#&s 62,842 13,687 - -

sk (f818)

(Charged)/ credited to income 1825
statement (Note 14) &8 (T 14) (38,484) 49,155 - -

At 31 December +-A=+—B#&& 24,358 62,842 - -
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35. IEFERLE (&)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities (prior to the offsetting of RZBEZENF+-_A=+—H8 ' E&
MIBEERBEER —BHE#E TR
SHATMERB A TR B EAN -

35. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

balances within the same tax jurisdiction) were made up of

the taxation effects of the following:

Group Company
58 RE]
2008 2007 2008 2007
=ERN\F _TTLF —TTN\F —TTLHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTRT ARBTT AR%¥®TR ARETET
Deferred tax assets: BEBIEEE -
Tax losses carried forward MG E B AR 1,846 317,392 - 313,755
Impairment provision for TR
obsolete flight equipment T
spare parts PR B A 78,634 138,783 74,872 136,614
Impairment provision for FEWFORE
receivables i 68,553 79,195 52,872 44,348
Impairment provision for A Y
property, plant and equipment BB Z%EE 170,808 - 170,451 -
Provision for aircraft overhaul TR AIE & FH
expense A 152,231 96,834 135,196 56,985
Provision for frequent flyer FEIRE T EIEHE
program A 13,619 - 13,619 -
Financial derivative liabilities RBETREE 313,488 10,449 313,488 10,449
Provision for post-retirement  RIK1& 1@ | EE
benefits 271,672 351,283 247,424 306,694
1,070,851 993,936 1,007,922 868,845
Deferred tax liabilities: BIETHIARE -
Depreciation and amortisation 72 [z # (1,024,173)  (931,094) (985,602)  (868,845)
Financial derivative assets RE5GCREE (22,320) - (22,320) -
(1,046,493) (931,094) (1,007,922) (868,845)
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35. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 35. IEEBE (48)
Movements of the net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) of the BEMBFEE,(BFE) WEFHH
Group for the year: ™
(Charged)/
Atthe creditedto (Charged)/
beginning income creditedto At the end
of theyear statement equity of the year
BREkR(E RREES
FYtE | EHE (B1R) HRerEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTTT AR¥TT ARBTT ARETT
For the year ended R-BENEEER
31 December 2008
Tax losses carried forward HREEER 317,392  (315,546) - 1,846
Impairment provision for R E
obsolete flight equipment 241
spare parts REEE 138,783 (60,149) - 78,634
Impairment provision for FEWFERE
receivables i 79,195 (10,642) - 68,553
Impairment provision for ERE 1
property, plant and REE
equipment WE%ERE - 170,808 - 170,808
Provision for aircraft RERIEERERE
overhaul expense 96,834 55,397 - 152,231
Provision for frequent BiRETEIFHRES
flyer program - 13,619 13,619
Financial derivative liabilities XBMtLMEAE 10,449 303,039 313,488
Provision for post-retirement BIKEIBFEH
benefits 351,283 (79,611) - 271,672
993,936 76,915 - 1,070,851
Depreciation and amortisation 178 K #$ (931,094) (93,079) - (1,024,173)
Financial derivative assets REMECHMEE - (22,320) - (22,320)
Net deferred tax assets/ ELEBBEEE
(liabilities) (BB #8 62,842 (38,484) - 24,358
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35. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 35. IEEH IR (&)
(Charged)/
At the creditedto (Charged)/
beginning income credited to At the end
of theyear statement equity of the year
BEX (G #EREES
FYerE E) HE (E1m) HARERER
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT
For the year ended RZZEZLFFER
31 December 2007
Tax losses carried forward MR B IR AR 90,335 227,057 - 317,392
Impairment provision for TR
obsolete flight equipment TR
spare parts PR B A= 68,574 70,209 - 138,783
Impairment provision for FEW SORE
receivables i 57,467 21,728 - 79,195
Provision for aircraft overhaul X IEE A
expense A 77,000 19,834 - 96,834
Financial derivative liabilities RPMeHAE 20,823 (10,374) - 10,449
Provision for post-retirement  iR{KTE & FI M
benefits 216,570 134,713 - 351,283
530,769 463,167 - 993,936
Depreciation and amortisation 7 & F # 5 (517,082) (414,012 - (931,094)
Net deferred tax assets BT IR & R AR 13,687 49,155 - 62,842
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35. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

In accordance with the PRC tax law, tax losses can be carried
forward to offset against future taxable income for a period of
five years. As at 31 December 2008, the Group and the
Company had tax losses carried forward of approximately
RMB11,465 million and RMB8,778 million respectively (2007:
RMB5,380 million and RMB4,119 million respectively) which
will expire between 2009 and 2013, and which are available
to set off against the Group and the Company’s future taxable
income. As at 31 December 2008, the Group and the
Company did not recognise RMB2,864 million and
RMB2,195 million respectively (2007: RMB1,035 million and
RMB718 million respectively) of deferred tax assets arising
from tax losses available as management did not consider it
probable that such tax losses would be realised before they

expire.

i—ﬁla (nﬁ

BEFPETE - HEEBEBIRAFA
AR RERTA - RZZTTNF
+ZA=+—8 ' XEERAKREH
MEEBRESRD RN ARE 11,4658
BTRARKES7ISHEE L (ZEE L

F: AR¥5 380EETRARKE
41198 EL) AIRZEZENFEZ
T = FHHRRIEAEB AR F
MARRERTBA - BEZTZNF
+ZA=+—H1t r AREEEEE
AR 0 51 765 5 18 1 L 2 ER A AT 45 ) R

AR - REBRAQRFAK
RS EEMERNELERIBEED
FIBARE?2 864BHETLRARK
2,195 AL (ZTZLF - ARK
1,035B BT ARK7T18EET) o
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-
RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a) Defined contribution retirement schemes

(i)

Pension

The Group companies participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes organised by
municipal governments of the various provinces in
which the Group companies operate, and
substantially all of the Group’s PRC employees are
eligible to participate in the Group companies’
retirement schemes. The Group companies are
required to make annual contributions to the
schemes at rates ranging from 20% to 22% on the
employees’ prior year salary and allowances.
Employees are required to contribute to the schemes
at rates ranging from 7% to 8% of their basic salaries.
The Group has no other material obligation for the
payment of retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions under these schemes. For the year
ended 31 December 2008, the Group’s pension cost
charged to the consolidated income statement
amounted to RMB360 million (2007: RMB296

million).

BTSSR R A

RAEERESRKENER

(a) EEMHIEKRESFE

(M)

AEEZ2EELEATRNE
ERERERORKEE
g2l AEBARZHHEES
RE2EREERNRRE
B2 B - AEBFIRAI—
FEHE LEEREN20%
ZE22% X EE - EE A
REEARFEHN7T%EENR
MR o BR Bl A ERR R
Oh - REEEHEMERZ
RARBFHEE -HEZZT
TN\F+-_A=+—HIF
B AEBEZE T ER
AR EERKRAVEREHER
BERAARBIOEETL (=
TELF : ARK206BE
JT) °
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-
RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

(a) Defined contribution retirement schemes (continued)
(i) Medical insurance

The majority of the Group’s PRC employees
participate in the medical insurance schemes
organised by the municipal governments, under
which the Group and its employees are required to
contribute to the scheme approximately 12% and
2%, respectively, of the employee’s basic salaries.
For those employees who participate in these
schemes, the Group has no other obligation for the
payment of medical expense beyond the annual
contributions. For the year ended 31 December
2008, the Group’s medical insurance contributions
charged to the income statement amounted to
RMB93 million (2007: RMB77 million).

(b) Post-retirement benefits

In addition to the above retirement schemes, the Group
provides retirees with other post-retirement benefits
including transportation subsidies, social function activities
subsidies and others. The expected cost of providing
these post-retirement benefits is actuarially determined
and recognised by using the projected unit credit method,
which involves a number of assumptions and estimates,
including inflation rate, discount rate and employees’

turnover ratio.

36. RAEFTEREERKENEF
(&)

(a) ERFRHFRAESEE @&

(i) B&EMRE

REBE KR+ BEE 20
TEA MO ERAT SRS
BERREE - AEERES
B RAIRERFELI12% Kk
2% Mt SR o BRI
Hh - REEE 2 NE SR E
BlmAMmBEEREM-
HE-ZZ\F+=ZA="+
—BIEFE  XEEFAR
HIOBEB T (ZETLF :
ARBIT7TEET) BERRE
HAREERP IR o

(b) EERKERER

fr Bt e RIKEEHEISN - AR E
REHEERKEERN EIEER
B~ HRORERBI AR E MR
Ao BEBRKREEBNAELENE
¥z Hﬁéﬂgﬂiﬁﬁﬁkiﬁméﬁ“
A RBEER IM%EF“
&%Eﬂ%%‘f =R EEE
IR ERREET %$%°
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36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST- 36. BEREFTEREERKENEF

RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued) (#&)
(b) Post-retirement benefits (continued)

(b) BERAKENWER (B

EEERERTAEANEER
UNESERIE SR U

The post-retirement benefit obligations recognised in the

balance sheets are as follows:

Group Company
%M A
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE —ZETTHF ZEBENFE ZTTLF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000  RMB’000
ARETRT ARETRT AR®BTR ARBTT
Present value of unfunded TREEHNEE
post-retirement benefit RIKEENER
obligations EfHiRE 4,481,420 2,155,393 3,941,724 1,861,036
Unrecognised actuarial losses  RIERHEE B K (2,965,835)  (750,266) (2,611,045)  (634,259)
Post-retirement benefit 1B BiRIKIE &
obligations EREHE 1,515,585 1,405,127 1,330,679 1,226,777
Less: current portion B mENER D
(Note 30) (7F¥30) (46,461) (34,425) (43,801) (31,707)
Long-term portion REAE D 1,469,124 1,370,702 1,286,878 1,195,070

Changes in post-retirement benefit obligations are as follows:

B BRINRAENE A EERAFED

HEIT
Group Company
£E D7

2008 2007 2008 2007

—EEN\E —TTHEFE ZTTN\FE —TTLHF

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000

ARBTRT AR®TT AR®TR ARETET

At 1 January —RA—B#&#& 1,405,127 1,323,684 1,226,777 1,173,380
Total expenses charged FFAEZEERN

in the income statement EHER 200,603 170,670 181,309 128,057

Payments REREZE (90,145) (89,227) (77,407) (74,660)

At 31 December +-A=+—8#%&# 1515585 1,405,127 1,330,679 1,226,777
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)

The costs of post-retirement benefits are recognised under

wages, salaries and benefits in the income statements as

follows:

36. RAEFTEREERKENEF

(%)

BRRENERCIATE - Fek
BANERD  WERAFEERRT
AR

Group Company
£E N

2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\E —TTHFE ZBENFE _—TTLHF
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT AR¥®TRT ARETT
Current service cost EHREER 74,478 73,416 71,552 55,624
Interest cost FEEH 102,009 83,858 89,145 63,678
Actuarial losses recognised HERAEEEK 24,116 13,396 20,612 8,755
Total (Note 9) @58 (GHE9) 200,603 170,670 181,309 128,057

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date

are as follows:

REERBERAIZBEMRERRN
T

Group and Company

SERAF

2008 2007

—BENF —TTAF

Discount rate Prif & 3.75% 4.75%
Annual rate of increase of XMEBENNEGFEREK

per capita benefit payment 3% 2.5%

Employee turnover rate BERAE 3.00% 3.0%

Mortality rate TR 8.80% 8.43%

Medical inflation rate BEERE 5% 2.5% — 5%
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37. STAFF HOUSING BENEFITS

(@)

(b)

Staff housing fund

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations,
the Group is required to contribute to the State-sponsored
housing fund at rates ranging from 7% to 15% (2007:
7% to 15%) of the specified salary amount of its PRC
employees. At the same time, the employees are required
to contribute an amount equal to the Group’s contribution.
The employees are entitled to claim the entire sum of the
fund contributed under certain specified withdrawal
circumstances. For the year ended 31 December 2008,
the Group’s contributions to the housing funds amounted
to RMB282 million (2007: RMB285 million) which has
been charged to the consolidated income statement. The
staff housing fund payable as at 31 December 2008 is
RMB25 million (2007: RMB17 million). The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets
to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee

service in the current and prior periods.

Staff housing allowances

The Group also provides cash staff housing allowances
to eligible employees who have not been allocated with
any housing quarters or who have not been allocated
with a quarter above the minimum as set out in the
Group’s staff housing allowance policy introduced in
October 2003 (the “Policy”) based on the area of quarter
to which they are entitled and the unit price as set out in

the Policy.

(a)

(b)

ﬁ%%#&%%n%ﬁ%

7. BIXE®A

ETFRES

RIBEFTBOTPREFREE - &
SEFEBENEIHESNTRE
15% (ZEZLF 7% E15%)
HAERRTHNEEES $°
R - BIEAREHF S

RARMEHSEMHR - E%¥
FREBFEIARREREZEH
Ko RZEENF+_A=1+—
BIEFERN  ANEBFALZEE
BROBTEEESMERA
REE22EEBTL (ZEZTLF : A
R¥285B8T) - HEZZTZN
F+-—A=1+—8 xEEER
BIARESEEREAARE
26BET (ZTEZLF : ARK
17TEET) c AEENEETRE
PASE R B R AR IS 0 & B K Al
HAR SR8y - NEEWEEE
HEHNETEREBTRE

ETEEWR

B EMEFRERRZHEOEER
BeTFMETIARES @ BiE=
T =F T ABEMNBRIESHE
BAECE ([ TEEMEEE]) -
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37. STAFF HOUSING BENEFITS (continued)

The total entitlement of an eligible employee is principally
vested over a period of 20 years. Upon an eligible employee’s
resignation, his or her entitlement will cease and any unpaid
entitlement related to past service up to the date of resignation
will be paid. As at 31 December 2008, the present obligation
of the provision for employee’s staff housing entitlement is
RMB386 million (2007: RMB363 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2008, the staff housing
benefit provided under the Staff Housing Allowance Policy
amounted to RMB123 million (2007: RMB53 million) which

has been charged to the consolidated income statement.

37. BT EEHE ()

g HJ?EIJH%:L& BB T RER
W BRI IEETE - ERAESF
F‘ﬁﬁ%fﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂ?ﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%i
H BHE-_ZZN\F+=A=1+—

BIREREFENREAAR
Msa@ﬁ%ﬁ(_ﬁgti CAR®
363EEIT) °

BE-TZ)/\E+-A=1+—HL*F
B EBRIERE@EUBER THRNE
THEHEAARBI123BE L (ZF
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38. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

38. TRITTET R

Group and Company

SERAT
Assets Liabilities
BE =N
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENF ZETHF ZEBENF ZTTLF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRT AREKTT AR®BTR AR%®TT
At 31 December +ZA=1t—H#&%
Interest rate swaps NEREHEH
(Note (a) (FFE(a) 988 33,232 182,971 39,542
Forward foreign exchange SN R BRA 49
contracts (Note (b)) (FFE(() - 2,847 138,760 1,719
Fuel option contracts RS 4
(Note (c)) (FF¥(c) 123,010 59,468 6,319,868 535
Total =X 123,998 95,547 6,641,599 41,796
Less: current portion B REER D
— Interest rate swaps —FEHEBEL - (27,155) (41,668) (17,984)
— Forward foreign —INEREAE 4
exchange contracts - (2,847) (94,539) (1,719
— Fuel option contracts — RBEES A (123,010)  (59,468) (6,319,868) (535)
(123,010) (89,470) (6,456,075) (20,238)
Non-current portion JERBIE D 988 6,077 185,524 21,558

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is

the fair value of the derivative assets in the balance sheet.

EREBH - FERRN &S E LR

EREERBRANEEENATFE

18 o
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38. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 38. TRSTET A (&)

Notes: B
(@) Interest rate swaps (a) REEBREHN
The Group uses interest rate swaps to reduce the risk of changes in Zl§’§ BB RO BRETSH EE8H
market interest rates (Note 3(a)(ii)). The Group’s interest rate swaps qualify % (FEFE3(a)(ii) - NEBETNFEE
for hedge accounting. The interest rate swaps entered into by the Group Tﬁ’ HFEERSTHERGSE - EPX
are generally for swapping variable rates, usually referenced to LIBOR, DA K2 ELIBORIE M F B F| R
into fixed rates and are accounted for as cashflow hedges. Other interest BREREMNE  BRESTREEN  Efb
rate swaps are for swapping fixed rates into variable rates and are AHRBEEMN IR LZEFE  BR
accounted for as fair value hedges. As at 31 December 2008, the ‘j‘ﬁf’ffﬁ%ﬂﬁ R-IZEZENF+_A=+
notional amount of the outstanding interest rate swap agreements was —H - B RAR SN ERENEE
approximately US$471 million (2007: US$624 million). These agreements %%EZ'M%ALN BEXL(ZEZLF 624
will expire between 2009 and 2016. BHEXED TR -_ZENFE_ZT—
NEREIE -
Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of REEMERERENERZRBRE L AR
these interest rate swaps have been dealt with in the income statements BEEZHF|RIT
as follows:
Group
=m
2008 2007
SEEI —ETes
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T AREFTT
Realised (losses)/gain (recorded in finance costs) EER % ) ek G A B ER) 10,083 59,862
Unrealised mark to market (losses)/gains KREWR(BXR) s
— cash flow hedges (recognised in equity) *Iﬁﬁmbﬁﬁﬁ GtABERRTE) (126,138) (79,783)
— fair value hedges (recognised in the —2RBEEHG ARAEE
income statement) FEEE) (49,535) (8,824)

(165,590) (28,745)




38. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Forward foreign exchange contracts

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the risk
of changes in currency exchange rates in respect of ticket sales and
expenses denominated in foreign currencies (Note 3(a)(i). The Group’s
forward foreign exchange contracts qualify for hedge accounting. These
contracts are generally for selling Japanese Yen and purchasing U.S.
dollars at fixed exchange rates and are accounted for as cash flow
hedges. Other forward foreign exchange contracts are for selling
Japanese Yen and purchasing U.S. dollars at variable exchange rates
and are accounted for as fair value hedges. As at 31 December 2008,
the notional amount of the outstanding currency forward contracts was
approximately US$121 million (2007: US$33 million), which will expire
between 2009 and 2017.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of
these contracts have been dealt with in the income statements as
follows:

38.

ERTETA (@)
G G

(b)

HEBEHELN

REEBBINERBENREELZHE
SNPELI A R 75 SASINE 2 A< ) 2 FR AR A RO B
SOREE R GEEE3(Q)() © NEEEETH
INERHIA WA ERSTRERGNY -
HA KD AL ABTEERHE ALK
BAET  BRESREES  HhsNE
RGN NEBERBEERTREAE
T BRAREBEESR - —TTN\F+=
A=+—8 " NBERARXSHINEER
AHNEESEHBI2IAEEL (=T
TLF 3BEEET) BN =ZTZTH
E-T—LFHEIE -

AEEINEZRENERZEIBRR AR
BEZHIITNT

Group
-
2008 2007
—sEnF —TEiE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFIT
Realised (losses)/gain (recorded in finance income) 2 &R (1B2%k) Wiz GEABTEUA) 14,759 17,932
Unrealised mark to market (losses)/gains KREWR (BX) Mias
— cash flow hedges (recognised in equity) —REREL G AEERRTE) (44,222) 1,586
— fair value hedges (recognised in the —ARBEEHGIARAEE
income statement) #EhEm) (95,666) (3,787)
(125,129) 15,731
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38. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(©

Fuel option contracts

The Group enters into fuel hedging contracts to reduce the risk of
changes in market oil/petroleum prices as a hedge against aircraft fuel
costs. The fuel hedging contracts used by the Group are normally
structured to include a combination of both put and call options which
allow the Group to lock in fuel prices for specified volumes within a
price range. In each hedging contract, the call options price at which
the Group is effectively entitled to buy fuel will be higher than that at
which the counterparty is effectively entitled to sell.

None of the fuel hedging contracts entered into by the Group in 2008
or which remained open at 31 December 2008 qualified for hedge
accounting. The Group is required to account for the fair value of the
difference between the spot price of fuel and the price at which the
counterparties are effectively entitled to sell in future periods as unrealised
mark to market losses and recognised these losses in the income
statements immediately.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from the valuation of
these contracts have been dealt with in the income statements.

38. E@MOITE T A (&)

TiE ()

(c)

RSN

REETISRE R EREBEREMN
BRAREE  NRBFER] TETRn
BEK - AEEFRITNRBMESHNE
ERBEEETERMERERME - I
E—ERE BTN aNERHETERE
—ERME - EE - RAHEE T - K
SEEERAE T ERBARBNERD
M5 FEREN &N ER

HZE2008F 128318 - REEFFA
AREWEARAENTHEER SN
G - AEEFRREBRAZTSHFRN
FRBEHEB 2 HARBENERES
AEEMEBREESTAGABEE -

ZEANBEELNDERMAERAUK
mAMERFFABEE -

Group
&8

2008 2007

LI e

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FT AREBFT

Realised (losses)/gains (recorded in aircraft fuel) BER (BR) s GEATRMIRED (8,577) 120,171

Unrealised mark to market (losses)/gains KEIWR (BKR) e

(recorded in loss on fair value movements GIAPTETARREE

of financial derivatives) BE)iE) (6,255,791) 96,576

(6,264,368) 216,747

The fair value of fuel option contracts is determined by reference to
mark-to-market values provided by counterparties and independent third
parties applying appropriate option valuation models (i.e. mean
regression model using the Monte Carlo Simulation Process). Key
parameters used in the valuation models include volatility, credit spread,
long run mean and mean reverting ratio at date of valuation.

R NN AR BENRRZZH TN
HIE A RIBIL 5 =07 FHE R IE R ERE
R (Pl HERBEL RRER
EBEHRBIR) SATES R HER - R
PRAN T 2EE LR BEER D
KBE - FERMNE  REBEERRSE
PREESE -
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39. SHARE CAPITAL 39. BA
2008 2007
—2ENFE  -—TTLE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF T ARBFIT
Registered, issued and fully paid of T BEETEREH
RMB1.00 each BN EFRARMK1.007T
Circulating shares with restricted transfer FEEMEBIEET
held by CEA Holding and employees 58 HPR 8558 R im AR 2,904,000 2,904,000
A shares listed on The Shanghai £ LBBARZ S ETHAR
Stock Exchange 396,000 396,000
H shares listed on The Stock Exchange ~ EBBEH R 5 T T HIHR
of Hong Kong Limited 1,566,950 1,566,950
4,866,950 4,866,950

Pursuant to articles 49 and 50 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, each of the unlisted shares, the listed A shares
and the listed H shares are all registered ordinary shares and

carry equal rights.

On 4 January 2007, the Company’s share reform plan was
approved by the Ministry of Commerce and implemented on
9 January 2007. In this connection, CEA Holding granted 96
million shares in total to the holders of the circulating shares
and the original non-circulating shares held by CEA Holding
were granted the status of listing subject to certain circulating

conditions.

$ETF§ZK’AETE’U’AET$$D%@+A&E
T - BECERBR - ABIARHEE
AR R HXI?ﬁH#T&%'J

—ETLF—AWA - PEARKEM
lﬁ%%%&?ﬁl%ﬁ%ﬁk@
BARIRESBERERFRBREAR]
#_77t$ ANWBEH - BE
FEUL AR T 5 - MM EE HET R
96,000,000 AX 7 AT 3R AR R © &R
free B AR A A RIERER (5 BN E
S5 TREGMAH LTS -
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40. RESERVES 40. %%
Group
%8
Statutory
and
discretionary Capital Hedging
Share reserve Revaluation  reserve reserve  Accumulated
premium (Note (a)) reserve  (Note (b)) (Note 38) losses Total
EER
fFELRS EXh ENRR
BARE  GHEQ)  EGEE  (REp) (HB%)  ZitFE ait
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBTR  ARBTI ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2007, as restated “ET¢E-R-H
g4 AE 1006455 48808 23816 (12007 53167 (3621106 (2628917
Unrealised loss on cashfiow hedges REEMNAERER
INote 38 (iF73) - - - - (79783 - (978
Realised gains on cashfiow hedges REEBNEER NG
(Note 38) (i#%38) - - - - 1,586 - 1,586
Fair vaug movements of availble for BUERENAMEN IR
sl investments held by associates HERENALEERY 2,167 - - - - - 2,167
Proft attrbutable to equty holders ADRERFEA
of the Company ElEEH - - - - - 378568 378568
Adjustments to statutory and BRTEERIE
dliscretionary reserves NS - [48808) - - - 48808 -
At 31 December 2007 TESHETCA
=t-RER 1028622 - B/6 (720067) (5030 (2813730  (2,506,379)
At 1 January 2008, Z2EN\E-F-H
as restated g4 G50 1008622 S BES (00T (500 (2813730) (2506379
Unrealised loss on cashflow hedges ROERNAERER
(Note 38) (FR38) - - - - (L7052 - (170,52%5)
Realised gains on cashflow hedges REeEBNCERNE
(Note 38) (F30) - - - - 165 - 165
Fair value movements of available for ~ BEBENFMHNTH
sale investments held by associates HERENAAEELD (19,080) - - - - - (19,080
Loss attributable to equity holders RLTREREA
of the Company EiEE - - - - - (15268532) (1526853
At 31 December 2008 k-3 )85 g
Tt-pEs 1,009,542 - BB (005T)  (195390) (18082262) (17964351
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40. RESERVES (continued) 40. f#14& (&)
Company
AE
Statutory and
discretionary Capital Hedging
Share reserve reserve reserve Accumulated
premium  (Note (a))  (Note (b)) (Note 38) losses Total
EER
PO A V.- ENRHE
B&EE  (ERBa)  (@R(0) (H%38) RiEE a3t
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR  ARETR ARBTT ARETR
At 1 January 2007, as restated —F2+5-A-H
e gER 1006455 182,336 (720,057 53,167 (3,160,413 (2,638,512
Unrealised loss on cashflow BEEHNRERER
hedges (Note 38) (i#s38) - - - (79,783) - (19783
Realised gains on cashflow BeERNCBER NS
hedges (Note 38) (7238) - - - 1586 - 1,686
Adjustments to statutory and AREEEREELES
discretionary reserves - (182,330) - - 182,336 -
Profit for the year L3yl - - - - 505330 505,330
At 31 December 2007 “ZRLETCA
=t-R& 1,006,455 - (720087) (25,080 (2472,747) (2,211,379)
At 1 January 2008, as restated —E2EN\§¥-8-H
g&e KB 1,006,455 - (720,057) (25,080) (2,472,747) (2,211,379)
Unrealised loss on cashflow BEEHNAERER
hedges (Note 38) (%38) - - - (17052) - (170525)
Realised gains on cashflow BEEMNCERKE
hedges (Note 38) (F538) - - - 165 - 165
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - (13,877,388) (13,877,388)
At 31 December 2008 “ZE\E+ZA
=t-R&EH 1,006,455 - (720057)  (195,390) (16,350,135) (16,259,127)
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RESERVES (continued)

Notes:

(a) Statutory and Discretionary Reserves

Pursuant to the PRC regulations and the Companies’ Articles of
Association, each of the Group companies is required to transfer 10%
of its profit for the year, as determined under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, to a statutory common reserve fund until the fund balance
exceeds 50% of the Group company’s registered capital. The statutory
common reserve fund can be used to make good previous years’ losses,
if any, and to issue new shares to shareholders in proportion to their
existing shareholdings or to increase the par value of the shares currently
held by them, provided that the balance after such issue is not less
than 25% of the registered capital.

Each of the Group companies is permitted to transfer 5% of its profit
for the year as determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations, to a
discretionary common reserve fund. The transfer to this reserve is subject
to approval at shareholders’ meetings.

No profit appropriation by the Company to the discretionary common
reserve fund was made for the year ended 31 December 2008 (2007:
nil).

(b) Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the
net assets injected and the nominal amount of the Company’s share
capital issued in respect of a group restructuring carried out in June
1996 for the purpose of the Company’s listing.

Non-current assets held for sale

In December 2006, the Board of Directors passed a resolution
to dispose of certain older aircrafts and related flight equipments
in the forthcoming 12-months. Accordingly, these aircrafts
together with related flight equipments and spare parts were
classified as non-current assets held for sale as at 31 December
20086. Despite of the Company’s continuing effort to locate and
negotiate with potential buyers, no agreement to dispose these
assets has been reached. It is management’s intention to
dispose these assets in the forthcoming 12-months and
management is continuing to take active step to locate potential
buyers of these assets. They have therefore been still classified
as non-current assets held for sale as of 31 December 2008.
An impairment loss of RMB235 million has been recognised in
the income statement in relation to these assets with reference
to the estimated market values as at the balance sheet date
(Note 10(c)).

40.

41.

it (&)

HE

(a)

(b)

EERERLAES

BRETREBEREREARARNRAER
RABEABIEPEE R ENFE
AFEII0RBAEERTES - EEZR
MEEHBENEMELRNL0% < EEA
Eer AR EE AR FEEE - TR
BRI BB T T AR B IR 3R
B AT MV ENE - (B RIR AR ER T AT
DREEMARA#25% -

AABAEPE S ERMAENFER
THMERMAEB AES - ZIAERA
BRRRNEREEB -

ARRRBE-_ZZN\F+-A=+—H
IFEEEAETRNER (CETLF
") -

E&NC 1

REER—NANNFRNAER ETREM
BEERMETEAREENFEEARE
WERBENFER -

FHEFRRBEE

JIA

—TTNE+-f AAREER

— =< =<

BBERK2(EARE R ERET R
TR N ARRE O RAE AT B0 R - 1HRE
EV TR R R I — BT RNF+
AZ+ " BERERFHENFRBE

3

c BEARRRRBEMS EZHKA

BEMER - BE H AN KRBT 2
BREMNEEERMIMH:Z - TEEN
ETEIRERKA1218 A K EMEE R
RRMEMRM W IEGS KA ENER -
FEitt - FAEARE R REMT R T
NEFE+— A=+ ABEREASF
EERBEE  ARRIBKEL2ETH
UEENEERBRBMOME @ Wit
R7T ARKE235GETHREERL (G
E10(c)) °
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42. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT

(a) Cash generated from operations

ﬁ%#&% n_I\I_”%

42. BERERMTE

(a) Ky E@JFEE’E@%/ME

2008 2007
“RENE  —TTHE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBFT
(Loss) /gain before income tax BiAT (B518) B8R (15,256,009) 377,938
Adjustments for: FHEIER -
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - eI R EREITE
equipment 4,755,622 4,694,888
Gains on disposals of property, plant VI - I REREDN
and equipment BEWE (267,084) 674)
Share of results of associates Ao N (69,668) (58,312)
Share of results of jointly BYEHEENESIE A
controlled entities (24,050) (30,086)
Amortisation of lease prepayments TE 0 & FE 5 25,940 24,847
Net foreign exchange gains bE 5,38 A (1,970,990) (2,023,032)
Amortisation of deferred revenue R ATy 2 2 B (19,965) (12,594)
Loss/(gain) arising from SROTEBENAR
fair value movements of derivative BEEEER
financial instruments 6,400,992 (96,575)
Consumption of flight R BT 2B
equipment spare parts 476,282 468,888
Impairment provision trade JFE WS BR 3K Be LAt e
and other receivables WOR B 2 39,338 10,481
Provision for post-retirement benefits RIRE T 200,603 170,670
Provision for operating lease a1 AE B R
aircraft return condition check RIS 618,556 446,289
Impairment loss BERERX 2,976,678 227,456
Interest income B U A (89,275) (96,849)
Interest expenses FEER 2,328,147 1,978,550
Gain on disposal of an associate and BEEBE AR RATHEE
available-for-sale financial assets ERVEEFTE SRR (13,557) -
Gain of contribution to a joint EHRRIEGIERE
controlled entity FiTEE A 895 ) - (31,620)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEHB A m S - (54,441)
Operating profit before working LB E AR FHF R A
capital changes 111,560 5,995,824
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42. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 42. REREBRH T (E)
STATEMENT (continued)
(a) Cash generated from operations (continued) (a) RETBEENERESRE (@)
2008 2007
—EENF ZETHF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBET T

Changes in working capital EELESEH
Flight equipment spare parts R ET (529,068) (409,392)
Trade receivables e BR K 909,701 (478,550)
Amount due from related companies FEW A B A A (223,112) 349,897
Prepayments, deposits and FENF - TRk
other receivables H b e U R (216,706) (336,890)
Sales in advance of carriage TEEHAL (197,331) 319,550
Trade payables and notes payables FEASTBR K K 8 ﬁmﬁﬁ 2,006,978 (1,888,884)
Amounts due to related companies e B B A A (187,819) 29,571
Other payables and accrued expenses 2 J’@ﬁ@ﬁﬂ&ﬁh%ﬁﬁ 1,901,892 (194,694)
Other long-term liabilities HEMRHAGE (431,956) (74,081)
Provision for operating lease T E R
aircraft return condition check RIS ERE (41,448) -
Staff housing allowances BT EEmah (100,428) (76,381)
Post-retirement benefit obligations RIKIE R (90,145) (89,227)
Operating lease deposits LEEHEER® 30,348 (3,909)
2,830,906 (2,852,990)
Cash generated from operations KEEHEANRERE 2,942,466 3,142,834
(b) Non-cash transactions (b) ¥BEXRB
2008 2007
—EENF ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBET T

Financing activities not affecting cash: & /EHHIFIRER S ¢
Finance lease obligations incurred B EHE S ERE R
for acquisition of aircraft 7,964,792 8,395,965




43. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

The Group and the Company had the following capital

43, R
(a) BARZHAE
AKEBRARRBEANTHEARS

commitments: G
Group Company
58 A7)
2008 2007 2008 2007
—BEN\E —TTLFE ZBEN\E —TTLHF
RMB’'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETFT ARBETRT ARETT
Authorised and ERERETLH
contracted for:
— Aircraft, engines and — oM - EEEDIL
flight equipment MR A 52,533,736 50,852,865 52,533,736 50,852,865
— Other property, plant —Hib¥zE -
and equipment U N L] 130,180 353,771 111,810 289,971
52,663,916 51,206,636 52,645,546 51,142,836
Authorised but not ERERRFTON
contracted for:
— Other property, plant —HE -
and equipment Hes MR 5,235,712 11,326,338 4,874,680 10,709,963
5,235,712 11,326,338 4,874,680 10,709,963
57,899,628 62,532,974 57,520,226 61,852,799




HEREMERGERAD —TZ/\F5#H 251

Notes to the Financial Statements| B 5335 11

(Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards) (1% BB 8175 3R & Bl 22)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EZENF+_-_A=1+—HIFE

43. COMMITMENTS (continued) 43. &z ()
(a) Capital commitments (continued) (a) ERZ A ()
Contracted expenditures for the above aircraft and flight DA ERE R (TR E B SN &R
equipment, including deposits prior to delivery, subject ReMERHEEHRIL - B2%EA
to future inflation increases built into the contracts and BEREE R AET R ERFAE SR
any discounts available upon delivery of the aircraft, if BRSO INMmEE o
any, were expected to be paid as follows: EASBIRLT :
Group Company
%8 AT
2008 2007 2008 2007

—2EN\E ZTTLF ZBIN\F ZTTLH
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTIT ARWTR ARBTT

Within one year —FNR 8,852,380 17,127,081 8,852,380 17,127,081
In the second year FF 13,174,190 15,056,943 13,174,190 15,056,943
In the third year E=F 9,051,539 13,960,033 9,051,539 13,960,033
In the fourth year FENF 9,224,482 2,531,964 9,224,482 2,531,964
Over four years B PO F 12,231,145 2,176,844 12,231,145 2,176,844

52,533,736 50,852,865 52,533,736 50,852,865




43. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments

43. & (58)
(b) EEHREHAGE
REERERRA  AEEEARQ

As at the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company

had commitments under operating leases to pay future

AHREHEER M T RENK

minimum lease rentals as follows: G
Group Company
&8 AT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE ZTTEF ZETEN\F ZTTLHF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’'000  RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTT AR®TR ARETT
Aircraft, engines and TR - BXEHIE
flight equipment RRITRE
Within one year —FR 2,671,355 2,527,072 2,145554 2235504
In the second year F-F 2,330,080 2,331,741 2,008,984 2,124,109
In the third to fifth F-FEERF
year inclusive (BEEEMS) 4,598,624 4,991,164 4,432,529 4,925,469
After the fifth year RELE 4,100,560 5,341,362 4,028,862 5,341,361
13,700,619 15,191,339 12,615,929 14,626,443
Land and buildings T RIEF
Within one year —FR 202,540 87,410 46,701 84,482
In the second year B_F 124,643 50,683 21,066 49,363
In the third to fifth year FoFEFRF
inclusive (BIEEEMT) 325,423 40,888 16,323 40,026
After the fifth year REPE 2,398,361 29,846 29,276 29,846
3,050,967 208,827 113,366 203,717
16,751,586 15,400,166 12,729,295 14,830,160
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44, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by CEA Holding, which owns

approximately 59.67% of the Company’s shares as at 31
December 2008. The aviation industry in the PRC is
administrated by the CAAC. CEA Holding and the Group is

ultimately controlled by the PRC government, which also

controls a significant portion of the productive assets and

entities in the PRC (collectively referred as the “SOEs”).

(@)

Related party transactions

The Group sells air tickets through sales agents and is
therefore likely to have extensive transactions with other
state-controlled enterprises, and the employees and their
close family members of SOEs while such employees are
on corporate business. These transactions are carried
out on normal commercial terms that are consistently
applied to all of the Group’s customers. Due to the large
volume and the pervasiveness of these transactions,
management is unable to determine the aggregate
amount of the transactions for disclosure. Therefore, retail
transactions with these related parties are not disclosed
herein. The Directors of the Company believe that
meaningful related party disclosures on these retail

transactions have been adequately made.

44. EBREALIRS

REBHRMERZES - HE-TT
NF+_A=1+—HIi FEEME
BB ANAR59.67% 2 - FER
AMTRRERAMEERENER
BAL o PREEMERRAEBEGHF
BBATES - B - P EBUT RS
HEHENTRECE (HBAIBEABL
%) -

(a) BEEALIRS

REBERAHEERBLEKRSE
HIEEERENES - FREE
A B KB FIRER V) R R BEAK
BREGEXEFRIZF EAQNFE
HERBCHIR S o WX S RIRIE
T SR EETT - BN IE R
AR PEAMGRRE—5 - &
REERXSGHEZEREEE
EREELERVEELELS
WESHE - Bt - WEEETE
REGIZHEHRE - REBEIEE
HEBEXSBEBENAEEREN
ERFTDHER o
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44. EBREALR S ()
(@) Related party transactions (continued) (a) BEBEEALRS (@)
The other related party transactions are: HEMBBEALRS -

Income/(expense or payments)

WA (BRARXZATEE)

Nature of transaction Related party 2008 2007
THME BREAL —BENF —EEAF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARBTT

With CEA Holding or companies directly
or indirectly held by CEA Holding:

BERMEESHRMEEEER
BERESNAF :

Interest income on deposits at an EAGF* 30,766 9,717
average rate of 0.36% per annum FR A 7

(2007: 0.72% per annum)
FHRMEWA - FFGFE0.36/2
—EEE  EEHFR0.72E)

Interest expense on loans at rate EAGF* (22,267) (83,590)
of 4.87% per annum BR A A T
(2007: 5.42% per annum)
BERHMEX I - FHEL87E
“TEALF  FHEE42[E)

Ticket reservation service charges Travel Sky Technology (241,206) (241,161)
for utilisation of computer Limited
reservation system FEIRMEMAS AT

N BRI RRFRRGE
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44. BEREALIRS ()
(a) Related party transactions (continued) () BREAEALRS (@)
Income/(expense or payments)
WA (BRARXSSE)
Nature of transaction Related party 2008 2007
REME BREATL —EENF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARETT

Commission expense on air tickets SDATC* (610) (9,220)
sold on behalf of the Group, at rates B ik iz
ranging from 3% to 9% of the value Shanghai Tourism (1,696) (6)
of tickets sold (HK) Co., Ltd

HEREHEMT  HEEZKERED FERE (FE) BRAR
3%29%

Handling charges of 0.1% to 2% for EAIEC* (47,257) (34,643)

purchase of aircraft, flight equipment, R AfAZE#EH OB R A F)*
flight equipment spare parts, other
property, plant and equipment
BERME  RITRE - RITREZH
Ko B 7 & BE Mo R A8 P S A
BFEE  BEERD01%E2%

Repairs and maintenance expense for Wheels & Brakes (64,653) (56,764)
aircraft and engines et R B
JE ST TR K2 B B ) (S [ STA (131,081) (100,270)

REEH BT
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44, BEREALTRS ()
(a) Related party transactions (continued) (a) BRAEALIRS (@)
Income/(expense or payments)
WA (BRARXAEE)
Nature of transaction Related party 2008 2007
REME BEEATL —EBENF ZETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBETTT

Supply of food and beverages Shanghai Eastern Air (267,117) (243,895)
BREEBERERNER Catering Co., Ltd

FERIMERMBR AT

Yunnan Eastern Air Catering (40,836) (87,782)

Investment Co., Ltd.

EHESHERRARAT

Xian Eastern Air Catering (36,526) (28,780)
Investment Co., Ltd.

AZRAMZERMARAR]

Qingdao Eastern Air Catering (27,480) (20,101)
Investment Co., Ltd

FERIMERMBR AR

Disposal of a subsidiary CEA Holding — 461,916
k=) =N Rk
Disposal of a associate CEA Holding 32,972 -
& N A R
Advertising expense CAASC (3,595) (14,370)
BEER ERRAMZEEERR AT
Automobile maintenance fee CEA Development Co. Ltd (23,595) (18,574)
AEERE EBRAMEEZEAR
Land and building rental CEA Holding (55,399) (55,399)
MEHRES Rk
Purchase of other fixed assets CEA Northwest Co. Ltd - (67,305)
BAHRMETEEE RMFEIL AT

* EAGF is also 25% owned associate of the Group; SDATC and EAIEC * RIS AL B EF25%RE 2 BE R
are both 45% owned associates of the Group. A RERERFMELOERAFTHEA

REEFEHISNIE 2B ERT]
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44. BEREALIRS ()
(a) Related party transactions (continued) () BREAEALRS (@)
Income/(expense or payments)
WA (BRARXSSE)
Nature of transaction Related party 2008 2007
REME BREATL —EENF —ETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFT ARETT

With CAAC and its affiliates:
HFERAMEARIRMAR]

REMEHE
Civil aviation infrastructure levies paid CAAC (769,849) (781,613)
SNRMEARERES R R4
Aircraft insurance premiums paid CAAC (134,176) (136,875)
through CAAC which entered into FEEMAER

the insurance policies on behalf
of the Group
FBR MBS RERE

With other SOE:

BEHMEA R :

Take-off and landing fee charges State-controlled airports (4,323,382) (4,152,888)

Ttz 2 B

Purchase of aircraft fuel State-controlled fuel suppliers (14,020,301) (11,120,186)

FEE fum B fim L e

Ticket reservation service charges Travel Sky Technology Limited (241,206) (241,161)
for utilisation of computer FRIREMEMABSE AT

reservation system

RN BRI ZERRIRBE




44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44. EBREALR S ()

(@) Related party transactions (continued) (a) BEREEALRS (@)
Income/(expense or payments)
WA (BRARXASE)
Nature of transaction Related party 2008 2007
XEME BREEATL —EENF —EEAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETFT
Interest income on deposits at State-controlled banks 14,778 15,411
an average rates of 0.36% per BB RIT
annum (2006: 0.72% per annum)
RN BWA - F P17 ZX0.36/2
—TTAF  FPHNXR0.722)
Interest expense on loans at State-controlled banks (1,872,553) (1,406,812)
an average rate of 5.96% per B A RIT
annum (2007: 5.47% per annum)
ERUBER - FHX5906E
“TEALF  FHREATE)
Commission expense on air tickets Other PRC airlines (65,832) (70,285)
sold on behalf of the Group at HR B R H At Z2 A A
rates ranging from 3% to 9%
of the value of tickets sold
R EMZEARREREEKE
e HEZHZENZBEI%
Supply of food and beverages Other state-control enterprises (567,071) (511,766)

ERMERHERNER HiBEBHRE
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44. BEREALIRS ()
(b) Balances with related companies (b) BREAE LN FEREE
() Amounts due from related companies () ERBEZERANE
Group Company
&8 AT
Company TEAE 2008 2007 2008 2007

—BBN\F —TTLE —BR\F —TELF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTE ARETL ARBFT ARKTI

SDATC REMZE 9,714 16,378 9,714 16,378
Shanghai Tourism LR (BE)
(HK) Co., Ltd BRAH 4,020 2,914 4,020 2,914
EAIEC RAMZEELN
BRATA 181,788 26,166 181,788 26,166
China Cargo REM - - 1,091,055 1,535,804
CEA Wuhan RATEE - - 208,928 -
Other related companies ~ HE B EEA T 12,767 19,997 22,836 37,070
Total &a&t 208,289 65,455 1,518,341 1,618,332
All the amounts due from related companies are FIERKNEBMEARFIE  2RES
trade in nature, interest free and payable within ME - B K /a\jv" RE SR

normal credit terms given to trade customers. B IEE @ o



44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

44, ERAEALR S (&)

(b) Balances with related companies (continued) (b) BEAE L F&REE ()
(i) Amounts due to related companies (i) EBEEZELAME
Group Company
58 AT
Company ERER 2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE ZTTEF ZETEN\F ZETLF
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT AR®ETR AR®ETT
EAIEC RAME#ERN
BRAR] (241,560)  (470,349)  (182,277)  (401,178)
CEA Holding FEIRMEE (69,497) (40,214) (69,497) (40,214)
Shanghai Eastern Airlines /88 7 fiZe
Catering Co. Ltd. RmABRAT] (46,580) (60,718) (46,580) (60,718)
Yunnan Eastern Air EERSME
Catering Investment BmAERAT
Co., Ltd. (665) (488) (665) (488)
CAASC BRIz
BEBRAA (164) (2,550) (164) (2,550)
CEA Northwest RATFEIL AR - (64,895) - -
Eastern Logistics E3=%7 i - - (134,213) (31,503)
CEA Jiangsu RATLER - - (157,885)  (193,193)
Other related companies ~ E A RE QA (54,660) (32,379)  (104,522) (47,578)
Total a&t (413,126)  (671,593)  (695,803) (777,422

Except for amounts due to EAGF and CEA Holding,
which are reimbursement in nature, all other amounts
due to related companies are trade in nature, interest

free and payable within normal credit terms given

by trade creditors.

FrB RN BREQRFA -
R T AR5 e R BIR
fEBFIEAREBENIN - 2
RESUHE  TEERET
RESEFP —HONERER
Hi o
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44. BEREALIRS ()
(b) Balances with related companies (continued) (b) BEAE LN FEREE (&)
(iii) Short-term deposits and short-term loans with an (i) $BE N BRHENARLE
associate HE
Average interest rate Group Company
w5l 58 2

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“RRNE CTERLF CERNE CTRLE CERNE IERLR
RMB'000  RWB0O0  RMB'000  RWB000  RMB'000  RWB'00
ARBTR ARRTTL ARBTR ARMTL ARETR ARETR

Short-term deposits (included in REER (REERAT
Prepayments, Deposits and Other B REMEYTA)
Receivables) ‘EAGF” RinE 0.4% 07% 1202892 408151 427363 90,793
Short-term loans (included in RHER (REEETR)
Borrowings) “EAGF R 4.3% 53% 295181 260,351 295,181 180,351
(iv) State-controlled banks and other financial (iv) BIBEIRITUR A E FH#E
institutions
Average interest rate Group Company
Rk 3] Aq
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
“EENE CTRHE CEENE CEELF CEENE TRE
RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETTL ARBTL ARBTR AREBTT ARETR ARETR
Bank depostts (included in cash BIER(AERER
and cash equivalents) REZEN) 0.4% 07% 1762245 845719  1601,059 630,783

Long-term bank borrowings REFTER 5.3% 57% 14577150 13,062,353 12,671,832 11,104,676




44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 44. EBREALR S ()

(c) Guarantees by holding company (c) TR TMEHMIER
As at 31 December 2008, bank loans of the Group and RZZEZENF+ZA=+—8 "
the Company with an aggregate amount of RMB357 REERARNNT BT BERMEE
million and Nil respectively (2007: RMB1,008 million and EROBITERE T ARK357
Nil) were guaranteed by CEA Holding (Note 32). BELIEE (CEZLF  AR®

1,008 8 ThE) FFFE32) -

(d) Key management compensation (d) BRITHAEMS
2008 2007
—BENF —ETAF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARETT

Salaries, bonus, allowances and benefits ¥ & + {E4L ~ fBL M AZF 1,614 1,805
45. Ultimate holding company 45, RAER A E
The Directors regard CEA Holding, a state-owned enterprise RARMEB AR R BH R

established in the PRC, as being the ultimate holding company. MEBERARARKIERAR] o
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46. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In 2005, the family members of certain victims in the
aircraft accident (the aircraft was then owned and
operated by China Eastern Air Yunnan Company), which
occurred in Baotou on 21 November 2004, sued the
Company in a U.S. court for compensation. On 5 July
2007, pursuant to several conditions with which the
Company has complied, the Superior Court of the State
of California ordered the action stayed on the grounds of
forum non conveniens for the purpose of permitting
proceedings in the PRC. On 20 February 2008, the plaintiff
filed a motion with the Superior Court of the State of
California to lift the stay, but the motion was rejected by
the court on 6 May 2008. The plaintiff filed a second
motion to to lift the stay on 10 July 2008. On 27 August
2008, the Superior Court of the State of California rejected
the motion of the plaintiff again. After the case entered
the procedures on appeal in the California Court of Appeal,
the Court of Appeal of California issued an option on 26
February 2009, dismissing the appeal of the plaintiff and
affirming the original order. On 16 March 2009, the
Chinese counsel of the plaintiff sued the Company on
behalf of the family members of victims in the Beijing No.
2 Intermediate People’s Court. The case is under the filing
procedure and no official summons from the court has
been received by the Company. The management of the
Group believe that a negative outcome of the case will
not have an adverse effect on the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company. The Group intends
to provide updates to the shareholders regarding the
progress of the litigation. As at 31 December 2008, the
Group was not involved in any other litigation, arbitration

or claim of material importance.

46. HARAE

“ETRF - AEHERFEREGM
EEMAREENF+—AZ+—
HEAERENTHNBHERBT
EBEPTIRBFAMA AT KE - =
TETELFLARA  RBEARBEE
W2 EFHEERRGET - NS
EERER [T HEEE NIRRT
PRI FRERELHE -  —TF
NEZA=+A8  RERAMNESE

Brie B A KBS A R IE | IR AR
T ZmErERER TN NFRAN
HEETRENGK - REEZNR_-F
ZNFLA+HREEE ZRE G
WEE - —TTENFNAZ+LR -
MM EFEERB—REE T REHE
Koo iZEREAZE MM EFFRERA £
FiEFE —TTAF_A=TRX
B - ZEMMN _EFERME =8 H
R BERE LFER - #F—F0
HE  —TTNEF=ZA+<B " RE
FEREZMARBHEERBEILR
FERMAREIZEFA - RAR
FEERREFFR - BHAFIHAKIE
AW EERER - AEERNEIRER
B ZHFDRNARERTTEHAR
BIHYBA TSR R A8 8 S AR A E K A 52
2  REEBRRRIFEES@EZTE
REOER - BHIE-ZTEENEFE+_A=
+—RB  AEBEXRFSREMEMER
HIERFA « SR o
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47. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 47. EEBBERBEEE
On 15 January 2009, CEA Holding (as the principal), Eastern R2009F1 A15H » AR E (EAERK
Air Group Finance Company Limited (the “Finance Company”) 1) ERMEE (ERZTA) - &
(as the trustee) and the Company (as the borrower) entered FHEREEAR ([RMBFBA
into an entrusted loan agreement, pursuant to which, the All) VEAXFH) BT R ERW
Company will obtain a short-term loan of RMB5.55 billion from E o RBHTE - ARFIBRMIABL
CEA Holding through the Finance Company. Details are set AESHRMEERENEHERET
out in the Company’s announcement dated 15 January 2009. ARBS5.5(8TT o sFHABERA2HAR

BIFA2009F1 A15HATYERI RS ©

On 19 January 2009, the Company obtained a two-year credit 200941 8198 * A FE L&A
facility of RMB10 billion from Shanghai Pudong Development RERRITES ARK100ETHM
Bank. FHIREHEE -

On 13 February 2009, the Company obtained a three-year R2009F2F13H » RARIEHREE
credit facility of RMB15 billion from Agricultural Bank of China. HIRTTEBSARKAS0E LA =F 5

B -

On 26 February 2009, the Company convened an 20092 A26H © AN AIFRRF IR
extraordinary general meeting of A and H Share Shareholders ARERABABRARFIRFTELHR
in which the special resolution in relation to the approval of FENFRBEITARRAE NI BEHAR AR M
the non-public issuance of 1,437,375,000 new A Shares at TR RIBZAR - ARAIEREM
subscription price of approximately RMB5,563 million to SESEARBITERNLEMARB LA
China Eastern Air Holding Company and the issuance of % (AR) 1,437,375,0000% * 2EAA
1,437,375,000 new H Share at subscription price of R¥55.6318L : ARMEBEEZET
approximately RMB1,437 million to CES Global Holdings (Hong NA— BB TR (BE) BRAR
Kong) Limited was passed. Details are set out in the Company’s TE[AIIEEEHAY1,437,375,0000% @ #2{E
announcement dated 10 December 2008 and its Notice of RAREA14.37187T - BRAGEFH
Extraordinary General Meeting and Notice of H Shareholders B - 2HARFMR2008F12H10
Class Meeting dated 8 January 2009. AATER RS - LAK200941 A8A AT

TERERIS IR ARG R o

On 16 March 2009, the Company obtained a three-year credit 20094381608 » AR A BHRHZE
facility of RMB11 billion from Construction Bank of China. RIRTTEBARE0ETHN=FH

B -
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31 December 2008 &2 —EZLENF+_-_H=1—HIFE

The following consolidated financial information is extracted from

the consolidated financial statements of the Group, prepared under

PRC Accounting Regulation.

BHRAMB EEREAKRERETHE
APEARB AR A M F R

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT fftEEEEk
(Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Regulations) (HHEANRRAE S ERFZR)
For the year ended 31 December 2008 Bz —ZFENFL+-A=+—HIFE
2008 2007
—EENE ZETLF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREBTT
Revenue =E PN 41,842,361 43,541,228
Less: Cost of operation B B (43,075,888)  (37,649,712)
Taxes and levies EEB S KM (891,064) (1,092,859)
Selling and distribution expenses HEEA (2,522,136) (2,766,379)
General and administrative expense EEEHA (1,524,864) (2,075,732)
Finance income/(expenses), net s (BA) WA - FE (357,410) 106,125
Impairment loss BERMBEREKX (2,022,178) (224,714)
Add: Fair value (loss)/gain m: ARBEEEFEKR) WE  (6,400,992) 83,965
Investment income S E W 105,837 155,180
Operating (loss)/profit (EEBR), EEFH (14,846,334) 77,102
Add: non-operating income RN PN 906,238 676,610
Less: non-operating expenses W EFEINT (45,012) (28,878)
Total (loss)/profit (B4 %E) 7B (13,985,108) 724,834
Less: Income tax B TSR E B (60,795) (96,512)
Net (loss)/profit (BEE)EFE (14,045,903) 628,322
Attribute to: FEfh -
— Equity holders of the Company —ARARERFFEA (13,927,656) 603,955
— Minority interests — DR RS (118,247) 24,367
(14,045,903) 628,322




CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Regulations)

LR eEERER
(B EARHAFE S ERmHR)

For the year ended 31 December 2008 Bz —ZFZENFL+-HA=1+—HILFE
2008 2007
—EENF ZETF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T ARBFIT
Assets BE

Total current assets MENEE 10,401,069 9,690,252
Long-term investment REAARIEIRE 1,373,356 990,758
Fixed assets & construction in progress & & ZE MR TR 58,807,070 53,087,748
Intangible assets & non-current assets BVEERHEMIERBEE 2,524,594 2,632,261
Deferred tax assets RS EE 77,917 103,462
Total assets BEEST 73,184,006 66,504,481

Liabilities & shareholder’s equity BERIEERESR
Current liabilities nRBBE 54,076,709 35,855,447
Non-current liabilities SEmEIAE 30,120,909 27,374,421
Deferred tax Liabilities RIEFETHAE 51,539 51,721
Total Liabilities =A==y 84,249,157 63,281,589
Minority interests DERR R S 534,195 705,142
Total shareholder’s equity FEREREE AR (11,599,346) 2,517,750
Total equity BRER (11,065,151) 3,222,892
Total liabilities & shareholder’s equity EERIEEERET 73,184,006 66,504,481




Supplementary Financial Information

(A) SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN

HEREMERGERAT —TT/\FFH 267

LamlilEpi

> /S
7

§ \>I'
=~

31 December 2008 &2 —EZLENF+_-_H=1—HIFE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRS”) AND PRC ACCOUNTING

REGULATIONS

The Group’s accounting policies, which conform with IFRS,

differ in certain aspects from PRC Accounting Regulations.

Differences between IFRS and PRC Accounting Regulations

XH

-+

S BRI B R 15 R Bl ek B
SHENGEETFHEFEER
BEBREENRTES

(A) BIFR BT8R 5 2 R SR B a5
INEXREER

2!

o
=)

SR

3

which have a significant effect on the consolidated (loss)/profit EBRHWARNDRIERFTEARBEERES
attributable to equity holders and consolidated net assets of (B518) mF| R AEBGE FEERN
the Group are summarised as follows: BEATERENT :
2008 2007
—BEN\E  —ETHE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
T ARBTT ARETT
Consolidated (loss)/profit RARIERSE ARG
attributable to equity SRE (B]|) BR
holders of the Company
As stated in accordance with BEBEPEPEEET
PRC Accounting Regulations ZRIF7R (13,927,656) 603,955
Impact of IFRS and other BIFR B IS s R &
adjustments:
Difference in depreciation and AR AT ERA T E A &
impairment charges for flight FAE R M ER RITME
equipment due to difference MERBEBINER
depreciation lives used previously (a) (134,538) (170,082)
Difference in depreciation and R PN R A 5 A 4 BR A& AK
impairment charges for aircraft oM - HBRITE R
and engines due to different BEBRNER
depreciation lives (b) (383,192) (74,970)
Provision for post-retirement benefits iR 1& 18 F| 94 ) (110,458) (81,445)
Difference in goodwill impairment EERENER (d) (688,311) -
Reversal of additional amortisation B T b5 FAAE AT
due to the revaluation surplus HEEB#HENTE
relating to land use rights (e) 8,420 8,420
Others HAh ) 37,178 (28,819)
Deferred tax adjustments EIETRIE T @) (13,121) 72,749
Minority interests DER R (h) (56,854) 48,760
As stated in accordance with IFRS  ARIZBIFR B4 75 &5 2 RIZI R (15,268,532) 378,568
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(A) SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN (A) EIRREI ISR E ERIEEPE XS
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING EAMNEXRER (B)

STANDARDS (“IFRS”) AND PRC ACCOUNTING
REGULATIONS (continued)

2008 2007
—EEN\E  —BBLF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

i AR®TT ARBETT

Consolidated net assets EATERFEA
attributable to equity EhiaeREE
holders of the Company

As stated in accordance with PRC RIEFREPEEE

Accounting Regulations ZERNZTR (11,599,346) 2,517,750
Impact of IFRS and other adjustments: R RS R E
Difference in depreciation and BRI ATERABTRAEA

impairment charges for flight FRMERRITEE M

equipment due to different ERBERX

depreciation lives used previously rER (@) 129,589 263,764
Difference in depreciation and BN TR AEAER

impairment charges for aircraft IERCTR - BE BN

and engines due to different ERBEEBX

depreciation lives =R (b) 103,311 475,289
Provision for post-retirement benefits iR K& & F| B4 () (1,515,585) (1,405,127)
Difference in goodwill impairment EERENER (d) - 688,311
Reversal of revaluation surplus R T AR IG(E

relating to land use rights (e) (369,046) (877,466)
Others HAb f) 79,393 53,792
Deferred tax adjustments EAET TR B @) (2,020) 11,101
Minority interests DERR R R (h) 76,303 133,157

As stated in accordance with IFRS R IR B B 75 3R 25 2 R IR (13,097,401) 2,360,571
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(A) SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRS”) AND PRC ACCOUNTING
REGULATIONS (continued)

(@) Prior to 15 February 2006, under the PRC Accounting
Regulations, rotables are classified as current assets and
the costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over a
period of 5 years. Under IFRS, rotables are accounted
for as property, plant and equipment and is depreciated
on a straight-line basis to write off the cost or revalued
amount to their residual value over their estimated useful
lives and annual provision for scrap was made. Since 1
January 2007, under the PRC Accounting Regulation,
rotables are classified as property, plant and equipment
and is depreciated over 10 years. Under IFRS, the useful
life of rotables is also changed to 10 years with no further
annual provision for scraps in 2007. This change of
accounting estimate is applied prospectively. Despite the
useful life of rotables is unified under IFRS and the PRC
Accounting Regulation this year, the carrying amounts,
of rotables are different under IFRS and the PRC
Accounting Regulation which still results in differences.
These difference will be reduced progressively in the
coming 3 years, and will be fully eliminated when the

related assets are fully depreciated or disposed.

(A) BT BREENEDEEES T

R EAZE ()
@ BETEAEHEN  R-TTA

F_AtTHBZAE  SEREMH
ERRBEEIR » WASFE
RO T A - RIBEIR I 53R
R SERBHERETE
EIRIEHEINE - TEZEE
TIARR AR At EE - WAR
ORI Al E R F IR =
FRRMMELERE B _FTTLF
—A—BE EhEEER
T SEREMHERETEES
RAIZIOFEHRITE - EERRY
BHRELENT - SEREHFHIT
EFRTNEFER/IOF A
THERIR—RMEERS - AR E
M EFROE N RGEAE
T SEIHERA T RAE R
FERRIE - NS ERE M ETE
EESTELRBERM B RE %
AN ESFBREE S Frkm
BETR HEENEFREER
FEH— BNFEEER -
ZERKEESRIFTE R
Lo WRAEHBEERENRER
PrER T ATERENE -
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(A) SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRS”) AND PRC ACCOUNTING
REGULATIONS (continued)

(b)

Under the PRC Accounting Regulations, on or before 30
June 2001, depreciation of aircraft was calculated to write
off their costs on a straight-line basis over their expected
useful lives of 10 to 15 years to their residual values of
3%. With effect from 1 July 2001, depreciation of aircraft
under the PRC Accounting Regulations is calculated to
write off their costs on a straight-line basis over their
expected useful lives of 15 to 20 years to their residual
values of 5% of costs, the change was applied
prospectively which resulted in the difference in the
carrying amounts under IFRS and the PRC Accounting
Regulation. These differences will be reduced
progressively in the coming years, and will be fully
eliminated when the related assets are fully depreciated

or disposed.

Under the PRC Accounting Regulation, employees’ post-
retirement benefits are recognised upon payment. Under
IFRS, such post-retirement benefits under defined benefit
schemes are required to be recognised over the

employees’ service period.
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(A) SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRS”) AND PRC ACCOUNTING
REGULATIONS (continued)

(d)

The basis of recognising the value of the consideration
payable for acquisitions and the underlying assets and
liabilities is different under IFRS and the PRC Accounting
Regulation. Accordingly the amount and impairment of

goodwill is different.

Under the PRC Accounting Regulation, land use rights
injected by the parent company as capital contribution
are stated at valuation less accumulated amortisation.
Under IFRS, land use rights are recorded as prepaid
operating leases at historical cost which was nil at the

time of listing.

In addition of the above, the application of IFRS differ in
certain other respects from the PRC Accounting

Regulation.

This represents the corresponding deferred tax effects

related to the items above.

This represents the corresponding impact a minority

interest related to the items above.
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DIRECTORS

Liu Shaoyong (Chairman)

Li Jun (Vice Chairman)

Ma Xulun (Director, President)

Luo Chaogeng (Director)

Luo Zhuping (Director, Company Secretary)

Hu Honggao (Independent Non-executive Director)
Peter Lok (Independent Non-executive Director)
Wu Baiwang (Independent Non-executive Director)
Zhou Ruijin (Independent Non-executive Director)

Xie Rong (Independent Non-executive Director)

SUPERVISORS

Liu Jiangbo (Chairman of the Supervisory Committee)
Xu Zhao (Supervisor)

Feng Jinxiong (Supervisor)

Yan Taisheng (Supervisor)

Liu Jiashun (Supervisor)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Zhang Jianzhong (Vice President)

Li Yangmin (Vice President)

Fan Ru (Vice President)

Wu Yongliang (Chief Financial Officer)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Luo Zhuping
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Liu Shaoyong
Luo Zhuping

COMPANY’'S WEBSITE

http://www.ce-air.com

COMPANY’S E-MAIL ADDRESS

ir@ce-air.com
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Certified Public Accountants E15FT
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building BEEFIR
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

5th Floor, McDonald’s Building, 48 Yee Wo Street, Hong Kong

Custodian for Listed Shares with Trading Moratorium

China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited,

Shanghai Branch

CHANGE OF BUSINESS LICENSE REGISTRATION

The Company changed its business license registration due to

the change of the legal representative to Mr. Liu Shaoyong.

Registered capital of the Company is RMB4.86695 billion within
the Reporting Period.

Business License Registration Number of the Corporation
Legal Person: 310000400111686

Tax Registration Number: 310046741602981
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shown below:

Shareholders can obtain a copy of the Company’s annual report for the year 2008 through the Internet addresses

BRRAABBEFZRA TG THAR _ZZ N\ FEREE TR
http://lwww.ce-air.com http://lwww.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinaeast
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